CANGGANG RAILWAY LIMITED
REHEEBR LT
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(NBEEHRETMRINERAT)
Stock code BB 1L5% : 2169

ANNUAL REPORT
F 5

2023




12

18

22

44

84

106

112

113

114

116

118

120

184

Contents

=

Corporate Information

NEER

Definitions and Glossary

BERAR

Chairman’s Statement

EEEXTERE

Management Discussion and Analysis

ERENW R DM

Board of Directors and Senior Management

EEESRONEEE

Corporate Governance Report

TEERRE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B HBREARSE

Report of the Directors

EEERE

Independent Auditor’s Report

B B RD 3R E

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

meBmk

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income

mEERRkREMEZERSEX

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mEEREEK

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

FEBRERER

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 7% 3R 3R B =

Five-year Financial Summary

TFEMBRE



CORPORATE INFORMATION

NG =¥

Board of Directors

Executive Directors
Mr. Liu Yongliang (2|2k %) (Chairman)

Mr. Yi Weiming (TX#£88) (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Xu Zhihua (1R EZ)
Mr. Qin Shaobo (4 )

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Liu Changchun (8| &)

Mr. Zhao Changsong (& & 12)

Ms. Lyu Qinghua (25 %E)

Audit committee

Ms. Lyu Qinghua (& 7&%E) (Chairwoman)
Mr. Xu Zhihua (fR&ZE)

Mr. Liu Changchun (8| %)
Remuneration committee
Mr. Liu Changchun (8| %) (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Zhihua (fR & ZE)

Ms. Lyu Qinghua (& & %)
Nomination committee

Mr. Liu Yongliang (21:k %) (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Zhihua (fR&2E)

Mr. Liu Changchun (B|E%&)

Joint company secretaries

Mr. Li Juncheng (& 2)
Ms. Lam Wing Chi (#k58%)

Authorized Representatives

Mr. Yi Weiming (1<#EBB)
Ms. Lam Wing Chi (fk82)

02 Canggang Railway Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023

EES
HTES

BIkRmiE (BEEELE)
AR K& (7THAH)

FHITES

WY ATES
BRE L
R E
BEELT
BEREEE
2ERL T (ZE)
ARERE
FWEES
B R B S (T

REZES

BRERE

BMEARME
EH20E
MES L+
RENX

RAEREE
MBEZZE



KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

Morgan, Lewis & Bockius
19/F

Edinburgh Tower

The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

Hong Kong
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

The PRC

Bank of Cangzhou, Station Branch

Agricultural Bank of China, Cangzhou Yunhe Branch
Cangzhou Rural Commercial Bank

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman lIslands

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

CORPORATE INFORMATION

NG =¥

EEHEMEBEEA
HESEE

R 15 B 75 BB 3R ) 1% ) 3 R B9
RR T B EET
EBPRIR

EFTE105%

KF KE8HE

EE AR B% 5 Hr R B B 4% A
HiE

ERKEHR155
EES

REXRE

1018

548
PERT (EB)BRAF

N

BINERATE U AT

R RERITAMENZAT
EMBNEERIT

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

ERBPREZZLARDET

&8

E {7

BF KBEHR1835%
EMAEL

17481712-171655 54

RBEEERAT o 2023FFH 03



CORPORATE INFORMATION
[ REF

Registered office
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Cayman lIslands
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in PRC
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Company’s website
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY

In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the
following meanings unless the context requires otherwise:

“AGM”

“Articles of

Association”

“associate(s)”

“Audit Committee”
“Board”
113 BVI”

“Canggang BVI”

“Canggang
Company”

“Canggang HK”

“Canggang
Railway Line”

“Chengyu
Company”

“CG Code”

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on 18 June 2024

the amended and restated articles of
association of the Company adopted on 16
June 2023 and as amended, supplemented
and otherwise modified from time to time

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Listing Rules

the audit committee of the Company
the board of directors of the Company
the British Virgin Islands

Canggang Railway International Company
Limited (RBEKEEMKRERAT), a limited
liability company incorporated under the laws
of the BVI on 29 October 2018 and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company

Cangzhou Canggang Railway Co., Ltd.* (&
MEBEEAR D T) (previously known as
Huanghua Jinghai Logistics Co., Ltd. (EEx
BYIRARATF), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on 22
October 2009 and a wholly-owned subsidiary

of our Company

Canggang Railway (Hong Kong) Limited (878
IR (EB)BR D F), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 5 December
2018 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our
Company

a local freight railway line in Cangzhou,
Hebei Province, which connects Cangzhou
and Bohai New Area which contains Port
Huanghua, from Cangzhou Station (&4Nk) to
Gangkou Station (7 O 3f)

Chengyu Railway Co., Ltd.* (AMHEEFH
BAERSELT), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on
22 November 2004 which is 97.5% indirectly
owned by Mr. Liu Yongliang and 2.5% owned
by Mr. Yi. Weiming

corporate governance code contained in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY
BERLkAR

“China” or “PRC”

“Controlling

Shareholder(s)”

“Company”

“Deed of Non-
competition”

“Director(s)”

“Greenport BVI”

” o«

“Group”, “our

GI’OUp”, “We”

or “us”

“HK$” and “HK
cents”

“Hong Kong”

“Jinghai BVI”

06

Canggang Railway Limited e

the People’s Republic of China excluding
for the purposes of this annual report only,
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China and
Taiwan

has the meaning ascribed to it under
the Listing Rules and unless the context
requires otherwise, refers to the controlling
shareholders of the Company, namely Jinghai
BVI and Mr. Liu Yongliang

Canggang Railway Limited (RB#HEERA
F]) (stock code: 2169), an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability on 19 October 2018

a deed of non-competition dated 16 June,
2020 and entered into by the Controlling
Shareholders in favor of the Company
(for itself and as trustee for each of its
subsidiaries from time to time) regarding the
non-competition undertaking

the director(s) of the Company

Greenport Railway Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated under the laws of the
BVI on 12 October 2018 and wholly owned by
Mr. Yi Weiming

the Company and its subsidiaries from time
to time, or where the context so requires in
respect of the period before the Company
became the holding company of our present
subsidiaries, the entities which carried on the
business of the present Group at the relevant
time

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the
lawful currency of Hong Kong

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of the PRC

Jinghai Group Investment Limited (RiE%&%
EREBRDF), a limited liability company
incorporated under the laws of the BVI on
12 October 2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Liu
Yongliang

Annual Report 2023
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“Jinghai
International”

“Listing”

“Listing Date”

“Listing Rules”

“Main Board”

“Model Code”

“Nomination
Committee”

“Prospectus”

“Puji Global”

“Puji HK”

“Reporting Period”

“Remuneration
Committee”

“RMB”

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY

Hebei Jinghai International Logistics
Development Co., Ltd.* (At ZBEMRYR
BREAEMRAT), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on
20 July 2017 which is owned as to 51% by
our Company and 49% by Tianjin Xinlian
International Shipping Agency Co., Ltd.* (kK
REHEREENREBMRATE), an Independent
Third Party

the Shares were listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange

23 October 2020, since which the Shares of
the Company have been listed on the Stock
Exchange

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

the stock exchange (excluding the option
market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operated in
parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

the model code for securities transactions
by directors of listed issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules

the nomination committee of the Company

the prospectus of the Company dated 12
October 2020

Puji Global Limited (BBRERBRAT), a
limited liability company incorporated under
the laws of the BVI on 18 October 2018 which
is wholly-owned by the Company

sz

Puji Railway Global Holdings Limited (&
EEEIRKIZERERAE), a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong on 28
December 2018 which is wholly-owned by Puji
Global

the year ended 31 December 2023

the remuneration committee of the Company

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

rRsEE) i
L] 5
rEwmAml
LT =
E2d I
rEESR] i
eeEA®E] i
RRER]
EARR]
rEAEE] i
ECE i
Mz i
[ARH] 5
RERBERAR

BERAR

4 FUS BB YR
RERQIT  —BER
2017 7H20H R &
FEEERINER
EELE THEARD
AIEEES1% KRB
B = RIBEHE R
EEREERADE
B49%

B AR B R E 4R
i

2020F10H238 -
AARRBEZAR
REER P £

BERFTERFEZ LT
gl

BRXAEBNESR
SR (TBERESR
B) BRI
GEMEEE 2 3 1T &8 1E

L 7iv 35 By Y 5 C3 PR
MEmBRITAESE
TREXZNEREST
2l

ARAREBEESE

AR 7 HHIA20205F
10B12HBRER

LTERRERLT
— B H20185F10A
18HRBRBE LB
ErEFMRINE
RATE - WHAARD T
>EHE

TEERIRIRIERE
RAT » —ER2018
F12H28HEE B
MRIVERAR
WHEERREERE
B

B £2023F12A31
BIEFE

ARBRHFHEES

ARY  REIREE

o 2023FF R 07



DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY
BERAR

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)”

“Stock Exchange”

“subsidiary(ies)”

“TCFD”

“WFOE”

u%u

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.0025 each in the
share capital of the Company

the shareholder(s) of the Company

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

has the meaning ascribed to it in sections 15
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong)

Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures

A guidance for companies to disclose the
information on the financial implications of
climate-related risks and opportunities so that
these issues could be integrated into business
and investment decisions

Cangzhou Railway Logistics Services
Company Limited* (EMEZEYRERAHE), a
limited liability company established under he
laws of the PRC on 14 February 2019 which is
wholly owned by Canggang HK

per cent

08 Canggang Railway Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023

[ ]

[BRER ]
B8 32 R J

[ EE 2 A ]

[ .1 18 B B 7%
EERE
T4 ]

[(HEEE
2]

[% ]

RATRAFEREA
{80.00258 T E &
B&

ZANSES
BEBBMERSMAR

A

BB & BEAH F622
B AERG)) B 150%
BB T2 R E

RIREBEIMKEER
ETEA

B B W SRR AR
2, B T #4519 B 7% 52
ZEREMRES N
BRZERENANE
BRERERK

BMNEBMHRERLD
7 — B R20195F2
B148 1R &/ E 3%
ERINBREMEL
Ao HAREBEES
=g/ %]

Bt



Liu Yongliang
BIx=
Chairman

BEFETE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the annual report of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The year of 2023 was an important year for the Group to start
a new journey after its Listing and stride towards its objectives.
Throughout the year, the management of the Company adhered
to a market-oriented approach with efficiency as the core,
deepening reforms as the means, and innovative development as
the driving force. It adopted a three-pronged approach that centred
around market development, deepening reforms, and strategic
development. It held fast to the principle of overseas expansion,
conducted extensive investigation and research, and vigorously
implemented the “Railway+” strategy. It actively expanded its
markets, strictly monitored safety management, implemented
contracting system reforms, tapped into potential and enhanced
efficiency, and actively promoted project construction. As such,
a generally stable level of rail freight transportation volume was
maintained despite difficult market conditions, with which we
achieved relatively stable operating results.

The year of 2023 was a challenging year for the Group. Railway
operation was negatively affected by the severe economic downturn
of certain industries both at home and abroad in the post-
pandemic era, and by a diminishing demand for coal as a result
of a cyclical fluctuation of market demand for conventional energy
sources. The management of the Company adhered to a market-
oriented approach that centred on three main principles of market
development, deepening reforms and strategic development. It
held fast to the principle of overseas expansion, maintained a close
connection with upstream and downstream customers, vigorously
implemented the “Railway+” strategy, by which it expanded new
markets, tapped into potential and enhanced efficiency, and actively
promoted project construction, thereby maintaining a generally
stable level of transportation volume despite difficult market
conditions.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEEITRBE

During the Reporting Period, we completed rail freight
transportation of 7.0 million tonnes of coal, representing a year-
on-year decrease of 25.5% or 2.4 million tonnes. We completed
rail freight transportation of 1.6 million tonnes of gravel during the
Reporting Period, representing a year-on-year increase of 233.6%
or 1.1 million tonnes; completed rail freight transportation of 1.9
million tonnes of coke during the Reporting Period, representing
a year-on-year increase of 23.8% or 0.4 million tonnes; and
completed rail freight transportation of a total of 1.5 million
tonnes of oil products and chemicals during the Reporting Period,
representing a year-on-year increase of 63.2% or 0.6 million tonnes.
We secured a larger market share by providing outstanding services
to our customers.

We continue to execute our strategic plan and are working closely
with our stakeholders to enhance our transportation services
in Cangzhou. We stick to the Announcement on Adjusting
Transportation Structure in Three Years (BI#Fx¥i N EERIRENZHE
EEHEBEE=F1TE51212018-202089BAl) issued by the State
Council, for the purpose of protecting the environment, to increase
the volume of bulk cargo transported by rail freight and by sea. Our
unique position in rail transportation is more important under such

policy.

We continue to capitalize on different opportunities in the market
and managed to achieve admirable results. Our management team’s
extensive experience and deep knowledge in the transportation
and logistics industry has helped us identify and secure business
opportunities in the rail freight transportation market and is essential
to the sustainable development of our business.

Please refer to the “BUSINESS REVIEW” section of this annual
report for the details of the Group’s performance and market
initiatives in 2023.

Rail freight transportation as our core business has recorded a
relatively stable performance during the Reporting Period. We have
completed transportation of 15.9 million tonnes of cargo for the
Reporting Period comparing to 17.2 million tonnes of cargo for
the year ended 31 December 2022 with a decrease of 7.4% or 1.3
million tonnes.

During the course of 2023, all employees of the Company
worked together to achieve the Company’s business objectives
and responded effectively to various risks and challenges. The
Company’s marketing team paid multiple visits to upstream markets
such as Inner Mongolia and Shaanxi to reach out to key customers,
listen to their opinion, and attend to their needs to secure supply of
goods. We strengthened our service awareness by implementing a
customer manager system, through which specific personnel were
assigned to key customers with a view to attracting and securing
customers by the provision of high quality services. Through our
efforts, we completed rail freight transportation of 1.6 million tonnes
of gravel during the Reporting Period, representing a year-on-year
increase of 233.6% or 1.1 million tonnes; completed rail freight
transportation of 1.9 million tonnes of coke during the Reporting
Period, representing a year-on-year increase of 23.8% or 0.4 million
tonnes; and completed rail freight transportation of a total of 1.5
million tonnes of oil products and chemicals during the Reporting
Period, representing a year-on-year increase of 63.2% or 0.6 million
tonnes. During the Reporting Period, we completed rail freight
transportation of 7.0 million tonnes of coal, representing a year-
on-year decrease of 25.5% or 2.4 million tonnes. Such decrease
in the transportation volume of coal was substantially offset by the
increase in the transportation volume of gravel, coke, oil products
and chemicals. During the Reporting Period, we completed rail
freight transportation of cargo of 15.9 million tonnes, representing a
decrease of 7.4% or 1.3 million tonnes from 17.2 million tonnes for
the year ended 31 December 2022.
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For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a total revenue of
RMB349.0 million, representing an increase of 4.7% from RMB333.4
million for 2022. Our revenue from rail freight transportation
service decreased to RMB243.5 million as compared to RMB268.8
million for 2022; and revenue from ancillary services increased
from RMBG64.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
RMB105.5 million for the Reporting Period, which was due to
the more significant growth in the revenue from construction,
maintenance and repair as compared to last year. The Group’s net
profit for the year amounted to RMB58.6 million, representing a
decrease of 13.7% as compared to the year ended 31 December
2022, which was primarily due to a decrease in the profit of rail
freight transportation for the year and a 10% withholding income tax
rate applicable to the dividends received by overseas enterprises
from domestic enterprises in accordance with the provisions of the
relevant laws in China.

As a token of the Group’s gratitude for the support of our
Shareholders, the Board recommended the payment of a final
dividend of RMBO0.6 cent per share for the Reporting Period
(2022: RMB2.8 cents per share). Subject to the approval of the
Shareholders in the AGM, the final dividend will be payable on or
around Tuesday, 9 July 2024 to Shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Thursday, 27 June
2024.

We will keep our promise during the global offering of the Shares
to strengthen our market position by construction of additional
branch lines and new Special Service Lines connecting directly
to the factories and premises; and improving our technology for
more efficiency and safety transportation. | believe our business
strategies will unswervingly lead the Company to ride out the haze
of the outbreak. At the same time, | have great confidence that our
people will maintain their professionalism to perform our services to
keep our Company moving forward.

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincerest appreciation
to the management team and all fellow colleagues for their
extraordinary commitment and cohesive teamwork. They are one of
our most valuable assets contributing to our success.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my deepest gratitude to all of our Shareholders, customers
and other valued stakeholders for their unwavering support. We are
fully committed to upholding our position in Cangzhou as one of the
top enterprises and we aspire to strive for excellence and create
value for our stakeholders.

Liu Yongliang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEETERE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWmE D

The Group is an established and expanding local railway operator
based in Hebei Province. With our Canggang Railway Line, we have
continued to provide our customers with comprehensive services
and one-stop solutions of our freight transportation, extended our
leading position in rail freight transportation business and continued
to maintain our leading market position in Hebei Province. We are
preparing to further expand our railway to enhance our services to
our existing customers and to seek potential customers.

The year of 2023 was a challenging year for the Group. Railway
operation was negatively affected by the severe economic downturn
of certain industries both at home and abroad in the post-pandemic
era, and by a diminishing demand for coal as a result of a cyclical
fluctuation of market demand for conventional energy sources.

The year of 2023 was an important year for the Group to start
a new journey after its Listing and stride towards its objectives.
Throughout the year, the management of the Company adhered to
a market-oriented approach with efficiency as the core, deepening
reforms as the means, and innovative development as the driving
force. It adopted a three-pronged approach that centred on market
development, deepening reforms, and strategic development.
It held fast to the principle of overseas expansion, conducted
extensive investigation and research, and vigorously implemented
the “Railway+” strategy. It actively expanded its markets, strictly
monitored safety management, implemented contracting system
reforms, tapped into potential and enhanced efficiency, and actively
promoted project construction. As such, a generally stable level of
rail freight transportation volume was maintained despite difficult
market conditions.

During the course of 2023, all employees of the Company
worked together to achieve the Company’s business objectives
and responded effectively to various risks and challenges. The
Company’s marketing team paid multiple visits to upstream markets
such as Inner Mongolia and Shaanxi to reach out to key customers,
listen to their opinion, and attend to their needs to secure supply of
goods. We strengthened our service awareness by implementing a
customer manager system, through which specific personnel were
assigned to key customers with a view to attracting and securing
customers by the provision of high quality services. Through our
efforts, we completed rail freight transportation of 1.6 million tonnes
of gravel during the Reporting Period, representing a year-on-year
increase of 233.6% or 1.1 million tonnes; completed rail freight
transportation of 1.9 million tonnes of coke during the Reporting
Period, representing a year-on-year increase of 23.8% or 0.4 million
tonnes; and completed rail freight transportation of a total of 1.5
million tonnes of oil products and chemicals during the Reporting
Period, representing a year-on-year increase of 63.2% or 0.6 million
tonnes. During the Reporting Period, we completed rail freight
transportation of 7.0 million tonnes of coal, representing a year-
on-year decrease of 25.5% or 2.4 million tonnes. Such decrease
in the transportation volume of coal was substantially offset by the
increase in the transportation volume of gravel, coke, oil products
and chemicals. During the Reporting Period, we completed rail
freight transportation of cargo of 15.9 million tonnes, representing a
decrease of 7.4% or 1.3 million tonnes from 17.2 million tonnes for
the year ended 31 December 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2023, we operated one local railway, the
Canggang Railway Line. One of our business strategies is to
construct an additional branch line to expand our business scale,
including the expansion of our geographic presence and business
to the Comprehensive Industrial Park in Bohai New Area. The new
branch line has obtained the approval from the Development and
Reform Commission of Hebei Province on 18 January 2024, and the
application for land acquisition and related procedures are currently
in progress. The Directors are expecting to begin the construction of
the new branch line in the second half of 2024.

We are also in the process of upgrading and renovating the relevant
infrastructure of our Canggang Railway Line to enhance the safety
and increase the overall capacity of our railway operation.
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Revenue U %5
For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB in thousands, other than percentages
AR T BZHES
Rail freight transportation B EE 243,523 69.8% 268,754 80.6%
Ancillary services B AR %
Loading and unloading 2 25,748 7.4% 41,098 12.3%
Road freight transportation BREEE 5,462 1.5% 11,464 3.5%
Construction, maintenance and ERCREBER
repair H1g 70,209 20.1% 9,343 2.8%
Others Hith 4,106 1.2% 2,771 0.8%
Subtotal Nt 105,525 30.2% 64,676 19.4%
Total Mt 349,048 100% 333,430 100%

Our revenue increased by 4.7% or RMB15.6 million from RMB333.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB349.0 million
for the Reporting Period. The increase was primarily due to the
increase in revenue from ancillary businesses of RMB40.8 million,
which not only offset the impact of the decrease in revenue from
rail freight transportation of RMB25.2 million, but also resulted in an
increase in total revenue of RMB15.6 million as compared with the
corresponding period last year.

Our revenue from rail freight transportation decreased by 9.4%
or RMB25.2 million from RMB268.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to RMB243.5 million for the Reporting Period,
mainly due to the reduction in the transportation of coal resulting
from a decrease in market demand for coal in 2023, but the impact
of the reduction in the transportation of coal was partially offset by
the higher degree of growth of the transportation of gravel, coke, oil
products and chemicals.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWmE D

Our revenue from ancillary businesses increased by 63.2% or RMB40.8
million from RMB64.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to RMB105.5 million for the Reporting Period. Such increase in the
revenue from ancillary businesses was primarily attributable to a higher
year-on-year increase in the revenue from construction, maintenance
and repair during the Reporting Period, which was mainly because
we undertook the construction of a new special railway line for our
customer during the Reporting Period.

Operating expenses

Our operating expenses include staff costs, outsourcing service
charges and other labor costs, cargo logistics, depreciation,
fuel used, repairs and maintenance, general and administration
expenses, impairment loss on trade receivables and other
expenses. The operating expenses increased by 2.2% or RMB5.4
million from RMB238.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to RMB244.3 million for the Reporting Period. The increase
in operating expenses was primarily because we undertook the
construction of a special railway line for our customers during the
Reporting Period, which resulted in an increase in other expenses
and outsourcing service charges and other labor costs of RMB31.1
million. However, during the Reporting Period, our total expenses,
excluding such other expenses and outsourcing service charges
and other labor costs, decreased by RMB25.7 million, which was
attributable to the reduction in rail freight transportation and the
implementation of initiatives to reduce manpower, expenditure and
consumption and enhance efficiency by the Company, and such
impacts were offset accordingly.

In order to improve the Company’s liquidity, we seek to maintain
strict control over outstanding receivables and our senior
management regularly reviews overdue balance to mitigate our
credit risk. As a result of our efforts, the recovery of our trade
receivables was satisfactory. Our trade and bills receivables
decreased by 14.4% or RMB12.0 million from RMB83.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB71.4 million for the
Reporting Period.

Other income

Our other income decreased by 78.1% or RMB17.1 million from
RMB21.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB4.8
million for the Reporting Period, primarily due to the reduction
in revenue generated from trading business and decrease in
compensation income during the Reporting Period as compared
with the corresponding period last year.

Segment result and segment margin

For our rail freight transportation, the segment result was RMB116.6
million and RMB105.7 million and the segment margin was 43.4%
and 43.4%, for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023,
respectively. The decrease in segment result was primarily due to
the reduction in rail freight transportation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For our ancillary businesses, the segment result amounted to
RMB-10.7 million and RMB10.9 million and the segment margin
amounted to -16.5% and 10.3%, for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2023, respectively. The increase in segment result
and segment margin was primarily because we undertook the
construction of a new special railway line for our customers during
the Reporting Period.

Finance costs

Our finance costs increased by 1.9% or RMBO0.5 million from
RMB24.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB24.9
million for the Reporting Period, which remained relatively stable.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense increased by 12.5% or RMB2.9 million
from RMB23.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
RMB26.1 million for the Reporting Period. Our effective tax rate
increased by 5.3% from 25.5% for the year ended 31 December
2022 to 30.8% for the Reporting Period, which was mainly because
the dividends received by overseas enterprises from domestic
enterprises were subject to a 10% withholding income tax rate in
accordance with the provisions of the relevant laws in China during
the Reporting Period.

Profit for the year and net profit margin

As a result of the foregoing, our profit for the year decreased by
13.8% or RMB9.3 million from RMB67.9 million for year ended 31
December 2022 to RMB58.6 million for the Reporting Period. Our
net profit margin decreased from 20.4% for the year ended 31
December 2022 to 16.8% for the Reporting Period. The decrease in
our profit for the year and net profit margin for 2023 as compared to
2022 was mainly due to the lower profit of rail freight transportation
for the year and a 10% withholding income tax rate applicable
to the dividends received by overseas enterprises from domestic
enterprises in accordance with the provisions of the relevant laws in
China for 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current assets of
approximately RMB82.3 million (2022: net current assets of
approximately RMB87.6 million). The Group continued to maintain a
strong financial position. During the Reporting Period, our cash and
cash equivalent decreased by RMB81.4 million to RMB112.4 million
as at 31 December 2023 from RMB193.8 million as at 31 December
2022, which was mainly due to our investment in upgrading and
renovating the relevant infrastructure of our Canggang Railway Line
in accordance with our expansion plan as stated in the Prospectus
to enhance the safety and increase the overall capacity of railway
operation. With our steady cash generated from operations and the
banking facilities available to the Group, we have adequate financial
resources to meet our working capital needs as well as to fund our
budgeted construction and upgrade plans in 2024 and 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWmE D

As at 31 December 2023, our interest-bearing borrowings amounted
to RMB492.8 million, of which RMB290.7 million was long-term
borrowing. We had unutilized and unrestricted banking facilities of
RMB3.0 million.

The gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing total debt
(being bank and other loans) by total equity as at the end date
of the respective year and multiplying the result by 100%, was
approximately 63.6% as at 31 December 2023 (2022: 58.0%). The
increase was mainly attributable to the increase in the closing
balance of bank and other loans.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2023, RMB7.3 million property, plant and
equipment (2022: RMB7.6 million) were pledged for our bank
deposits. Also, our property, plant and equipment with carrying
amount of approximately RMB127.9 million (2022: RMB177.6
million) were pledged for our other loans.

As at 31 December 2023, a certain portion of our right-of-use assets
with carrying amount of approximately RMB112.4 million (2022:
RMB114.9 million) were pledged for our bank loans, and no right-of-
use assets (2022: RMB6.8 million) were pledged for our other loans.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the transactions
denominated and settled in RMB. It is expected that the Group will
not be subject to any material adverse effects arising from exchange
rate fluctuation except for a few listing compliance transactions
as well as the settlement of dividend and demand deposits in
Hong Kong dollars. The Group currently does not have any foreign
currency hedging policies. Nevertheless, the Group will continue to
monitor foreign exchange risk exposure and will take appropriate
action when needed.

Capital Expenditure

During the Reporting Period, we have invested RMB56.0 million for
our capital expenditure which were mainly related to upgrading and
renovating the relevant infrastructure of our Canggang Railway Line.
We financed our capital expenditure through the proceeds from the
global offering of the Company, cash generated from operations and
banking facilities.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2023, our outstanding capital commitments
in respect of property, plant and equipment amounted to
approximately RMB2.1 million (2022: RMB3.8 million). Save as
disclosed in this report, we did not have any other material capital
commitment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Save as disclosed in this report and the Prospectus, there were
no significant investments held by the Group during the Reporting
Period, nor was there any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture during the Reporting
Period. Save as disclosed in this report and the Prospectus, there
was no other plan for significant investments or additions of capital
assets as at 31 December 2023.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.

Share Subdivision

On 19 January 2024, the Shareholders at the EGM have approved
the proposed Share Subdivision, in which each issued and
unissued Share with a par value of HK$0.01 each be subdivided
into four (4) Subdivided Shares with a par value of HK$0.0025 each
and such Share Subdivision was effective on 23 January 2024.
Upon the Share Subdivision becoming effective, 4,000,000,000
Subdivided Shares are in issue and fully paid or credited as fully
paid. The authorised share capital of the Company has become
HK$100,000,000 divided into 40,000,000,000 Subdivided Shares of
par value of HK$0.0025 each. Details are set out in the Company’s
circular dated 3 January 2024 (the “Circular”). Capitalized terms
shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Circular.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other material
subsequent event after the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this report.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 666 employees (2022: 759
employees) (including two executive Directors but excluding three
independent non-executive Directors).

The Group offers attractive remuneration package to the employees
as the Directors believe the consistency and quality of our staff is
the key to success. In order to retain our staff and motivate them
for better performance, the remuneration package, including basic
salary and other employee benefits such as bonus, is reviewed
annually according to employee individual performance. We are
also committed to provide a caring environment to retain our staff
and to enable better performance. We provided sufficient trainings
and persuaded our staffs to attend other courses to maintain their
professionalism and qualifications.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EESEREGREEE

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Yongliang (217k %), aged 57

Executive Director and Chairman

Mr. Liu, the founder of our Group, was appointed as a Director
on 19 October 2018 and designated as an executive Director on
20 September 2019. He was appointed as the chairman of the
Board on 25 September 2019 and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 23 October 2020. Mr. Liu is currently
the director of each of our Company’s subsidiaries (except Jinghai
International), namely, Canggang BVI, Puji Global, Canggang
HK, Puji HK, Canggang Company and WFOE. He has been the
chairman of the board of directors of Canggang Company since
October 2009 and he is responsible for overall management and
strategic development of our Group. Mr. Liu has more than 16
years of experience in transportation services. Prior to founding our
Group in 2009, Mr. Liu also invested in various industries including
coal trading, industrial property investment and storage and
transportation.

Mr. Liu graduated from Naval Engineering University, Tianjin
Campus* (BEIRKEBXRERE) (formerly known as People’s
Liberation Army Navy, Logistics College* (FTEIARBHESE
%EEPR)) in Tianjin, the PRC in July 1991 where he completed
his tertiary education in financial management. He obtained his
bachelor’s degree in economic management from the Open College
of Central Communist Party School* (FRHHREREKFER) in
Beijing, the PRC in December 1995. He graduated from Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences* (FEI*t&RIZ%) in Beijing, the PRC
in October 1999 where he completed his postgraduate education
in finance. Mr. Liu attended the Post Executive Master of Business
Administration courses at Peking University in Beijing, the PRC from
April 2012 to January 2014.

Mr. Yi Weiming (X # #5), aged 59

Executive Director, chief executive officer and chief financial officer
Mr. Yi was appointed as an executive Director, chief executive
officer and chief financial officer of our Company on 20 September
2019, 25 September 2019 and 18 October 2021, respectively. Mr. Yi
has more than 14 years of experience in transportation services
and 12 years of experience in investment management. He has
been a director and a general manager of Canggang Company
since October 2009 and is responsible for the overall operation
and management of the Group; and the chief financial officer since
October 2021.

Mr. Yi obtained his bachelor degree in science and economics from
Nankai University (FaBAKE8) in Tianjin, the PRC in July 1987. Mr. Yi
also obtained his master’s degree and doctoral degree in economics
from Nankai University (B8B83 AE) in Tianjin, the PRC in June 1990
and June 1995, respectively.

Mr. Yi served at Department of International Economics at Nankai
University (FEBIAREE) from September 1990 to June 1998 and was
appointed as the deputy professor in 1996, primarily teaching courses
such as international economics and responsible for relevant academic
research. He was then engaged in the financial industry between June
1998 and November 2007 where he was primarily engaged in business
of investment management in the PRC.

18

Canggang Railway Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023

BITES
B KkZRE  BTH
HITEFREFETE

B L BAREBRIPA 0 BR2018F10819H
EEZFAES  WH2019F98208FAFAH
TES - HHR2019F9A2HELZTAESE
EE 0 LR E2020F108 23 BIEFIREEE
SXIF - HLLEBRRALNTZHMBLAT (R
SRR BNAEBYI s BB ABE
B EEBEEB RABLATRIIEEELE)N
EE o H2009F 108 H—HIEMTRELT
EEEXFE EEREENERETER KRR
RBAEEEARK I EEESBBI6FENE
B o BIEEM2009F AN AEB A NG RE
REZETE BRERES TEYERER
FEIEEES -

BEEMINF7TREEERPRAXREMEBETL
BEREBXERE FIBAETBEARBRESE
BHER)  NERTZRIKEESSHE -
HR1995F 12 A R Rl At A H A RER IR
ERESKESEETEN - WHN1999F10A
EERPEILETHIETEREMR  THEH
MREHE - B EEER2012F48 £20145F
1A ERPELELETIRAAREEZHMNT
EEEELTEERRE-

RHERPKSE » 598%

BITEE  (THEARFYFHEE

%4 2019598208 ~ 2019598250 &
2021108 18E D BB ZEAAR R IHIITE
ECTHEARRUBEE - RELEER145F
ERRELBRI2EREEELR - 52009
F10AR  BF—EETABLAAMNESTREAL
B EEREEPNEEEENRERE - 520215
108 B REGIFHEE -

KELERI987TF7TANEBEHRRAXRETHEAKE
REREERELT B o RAELETDBIN19905
6B % 1995%F 6 A BUS AR E K £ R KB LK
ErEgRELE -

K5 £ 199098 19986 A T K &2
B EmAE L 0 M990 FEE T ARIHE -
TEEEHBEERLTREERRE  WASHE
BT ZE » I E % MA199856 8 E2007F 118
RESHAE  FEAEFERERETEER -



BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xu Zhihua (2% %) (with former name as Xu Zhihua (& & %)),
aged 72

Mr. Xu was appointed as a non-executive Director of our Company
on 20 September 2019 and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 23 October 2020. Mr. Xu has more
than 15 years of experience in railway transportation and logistics
services. Mr. Xu has been an executive director of Chengyu
Company since November 2007. He is responsible for providing
opinion and judgment to our Board.

Mr. Xu graduated from Jilin University (ZF#X£8) in Jilin Province,
the PRC with a junior college degree in political science in October
1988. Mr. Xu was awarded as the ‘“‘Labor Model of the Logistics
Industry in China (ZREI¥)/RITH% ENEE)” by Human Resources
and Social Security Department (A NERMEERESEL) and China
Federation of Logistics & Purchasing (FEIYIRERBHESE) in
December 2011.

Mr. Qin Shaobo (£418), aged 41

Mr. Qin was appointed as a non-executive Director of our Company
on 20 September 2019. Mr. Qin has more than 10 years of
experience in investment management. Mr. Qin has been a director
of Canggang Company since May 2016. He is responsible for
providing opinion and judgment to our Board.

Mr. Qin graduated from China University of Political Science and
Law* (FEIBUEKE) in Beijing, the PRC with a master’s degree
in law in June 2007. Mr. Qin obtained his legal professional
qualification certificate* (ZEB£E K E E) issued by China Ministry
of Justice of the PRC in February 2009.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Changchun (2R %) (“Mr. CC Liu”), aged 65

Mr. CC Liu was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of our Company on 20 September 2019 and the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from
23 October 2020. Mr. CC Liu has more than 24 years experiences
in energy industry. He is responsible for overseeing management
independently and providing independent advice to our Board.

Mr. CC Liu graduated from the Harbin Normal University* (%45
SEEMSIARE) in Heilongjiang Province, the PRC with a bachelor’s
degree in Chinese language and literature education in December
1999 (through long distance learning). Mr. CC Liu completed
a postgraduate course in corporate management from Capital
University of Economics and Business (B ##& & & 5 K£) in Beijing,
the PRC in November 2002. Mr. CC Liu received the certificate of
senior economist in February 2004 from the General Equipment
Department of the People’s Liberation Army (FEIARBHREARE
KHEED).
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EESEREGREEE

Mr. Zhao Changsong (i K #2), aged 58

Mr. Zhao was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of our Company on 20 September 2019. Mr. Zhao has more than
32 years experiences in legal services and he is responsible for
overseeing management independently and providing independent
advice to our Board.

Mr. Zhao graduated from Hebei University* (ATt X&) in Hebei
Province, the PRC with a bachelor’s degree in law in July 1986.
Mr. Zhao completed his master’s course in economic management
from Hebei Party School of China Communist Party* (FA&SAdt&
ZER) in Hebei Province, the PRC in December 2001. Mr. Zhao
obtained his lawyer qualification certificate (ZEIEHKFZE) from
Hebei Provincial Department of Justice (AIdt#& T]5%E8) in April 19809.

Ms. Lyu Qinghua (2 5%), aged 49

Ms. Lyu was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of our Company on 20 September 2019 and the chairwoman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
with effect from 23 October 2020. Ms. Lyu has more than 28 years
experiences in accounting and auditing. She is responsible for
overseeing management independently and providing independent
advice to our Board.

Ms. Lyu graduated from the Hebei Economic and Trade College*
(b &ZE #Ez) in Hebei Province, the PRC where she completed
a tertiary course in finance and accounting in July 1994. Ms. Lyu
obtained the accounting qualification (intermediate level) (FHRE
&F) from the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in May 2002 and the
certificate of Certified Public Accountant from Hebei Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in June 2009.

20 Canggang Railway Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023

HEMEE » 585
HEER2019F9420 R EZEEEERATBY
FEHMITES - AL EERB HEEE RS2
FEB HEEBUEEBEERRNEESIRME
BAUER -

HEER1986F7 A RER P TIL &t K
B EEEEELEN o BT ER2001F12A8
RPETLER AT EZEREREEEE
HEAERE - PA1989F 48 » HAEER TS
AL EMERES -

BiEEL T 495

2 #Z+HR2019F9820 EEEARAT B
EHITEE » UKEEH20205F 10823 A EIEEE
BREESTERFNEZEERE Bt RE
AREBHFEEERSELER - RESBIE
BEERRNEESREBIZER -

BXTEXRPEDTLETEEESRR R
1994 F 7B HEZREMMBEREFTSEHE °
AL LTR2002F5 AP BB ESHRE
st E & K R200996 A #6574t & & i & 5t &0
SRSEMEFMESE -



BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Juncheng (£ £) (with former name as Li Shuhai (=
'H)), aged 42

Mr. Li was appointed as our joint company secretary on 25
September 2019.

Mr. Li joined the Group in December 2014 as the deputy director
of the finance department of Canggang Company. He was then
promoted as the director of equity investment department in July
2019. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Li was employed by Chengyu
Company from February 2008 to December 2014, and last occupied
the position of deputy head of the finance department. Mr. Li
graduated from Hebei University (At X&) in Hebei Province, the
PRC with a bachelor’s degree in law in June 2007; and graduated
from Yanka Kupala State University of Grodno, Belarus with a
master’s degree in economics in October 2022.

Mr. Li Juncheng (& £) (with former name as Li Shuhai (Zi§))
Mr. Li is our joint company secretary. Please refer to “BOARD OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT - SENIOR MANAGEMENT”
for his biographical details.

Ms. Lam Wing Chi (#85)
Ms. Lam was appointed as our joint company secretary on 18
October 2021.

Ms. Lam is currently a senior manager of Corporate Services
Division of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional services
provider specializing in integrated business, corporate and investor
services. Ms. Lam has over 10 years of experience in the corporate
secretarial field and has been providing professional corporate
services to Hong Kong listed companies as well as multinational,
private and offshore companies. Ms. Lam is a Chartered Secretary,
a Chartered Governance Professional and an associate of both The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered
Governance Institute.
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ERERRE

Since the Listing of our Shares on the Stock Exchange on 23
October 2020, the Company has been committed to maintaining
high standard of corporate governance. The Board believes that
good corporate governance is the basis in ensuring the proper
management in the interest of all our shareholders and other
stakeholders. Improvement of the corporate governance is a long
and systematic project, which requires strong commitment and
perseverance. As it always has, the Company will continuously
improve the risk assessment and monitoring procedures, internal
control policy, enhancing our transparency and disclosures
quality to our shareholders to promote the sustainable and
robust development of the Company in light of evolving business
and regulatory environment and to meet the expectations of
stakeholders.

The Group is an established and expanding local railway operator
based in Hebei Province. With our Canggang Railway Line, we
continue to provide our customers with comprehensive services
and one-stop solutions of our freight transportation. As a listed
company, we are committed to providing high-quality and
reliable services, creating value through sustainable growth and
development.

The Group has set out the following values to provide guidance
on employees’ conduct and behaviours as well as the business
activities, and to ensure they are embedded throughout the
Company’s vision, mission, and business strategies:

(a) Objective - Serving local economy, building a century-old
railway

(b) Vision - Creating value for customers, fostering well-being
for employees, generating benefits for the Company, creating
wealth for society

(c) Philosophy - Operating in compliance with laws, upholding
integrity, prioritising safety, putting service first
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(d) Spirit - Pursuing truth, pragmatism, and excellence, working
together for development

(e) Core value - Rooted in safety, people-oriented,
virtuous conduct and professionalism

integrity first,

The Group will continuously review and adjust, if necessary,
its business strategies and keep track of the changing market
conditions to ensure prompt and proactive measures will be taken
to respond to the changes and meet the market needs to foster the
sustainability of the Group.

This report possess the corporate governance best practices that
the Company has adopted and highlights how the Company has
applied the principles of the code provisions set out in the CG Code
to the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all
the applicable code provisions under the CG Code as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made to all the
Directors, all the Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in Model Code during the
Reporting Period.
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Overall Management

Our Board is responsible for and has general power over the
management and conduct of our business. The powers and duties
of our Board are conferred by our Articles of Association. The Board
has delegated the day-to-day management and operations of the
Company’s business to the management, and focuses its attention
on matters affecting the Company’s overall strategic policies,
corporate governance, finances and shareholders. These include
review of the annual financial budgets, financial statements and
the significant changes in accounting policy, corporate governance
functions, dividend policy, risk management and internal control
systems and draw up strategies for future growth and major
investments.

The Board has delegated the responsibilities as set out in the
respective terms of reference to the three Board committees,
namely the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Composition of the Board

A list of directors and their roles and functions is available on the
respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Board currently consists of seven Directors with the following
composition:

INEDs, 3
B IERAT
E% 3%

Executive Directors (“ED”)
Mr. Liu Yongliang

(Chairmen of the Board and Nomination Committee)
Mr. Yi Weiming (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors (“NED”)
Mr. Xu Zhihua
Mr. Qin Shaobo

Independent non-executive Directors (“INED”)

Mr. Liu Changchun (Chairman of Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Zhao Changsong

Ms. Lyu Qinghua (Chairwoman of Audit Committee)
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The Board currently has seven members, made up of three INEDs,
two NEDs and two EDs. As shown in the above chart, the number of
INEDs currently comprises more than one-third of the Board, which
is above the Listing Rules 3.10A requirement. During the Reporting
Period, the Board has met at all times the requirements under rules
3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive directors with at least
one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Biographical details of the Directors are
set out in the chapter headed “Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report. None of the Board members have financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each
other Board members. In addition, none of the Board member holds
seven (or more) directorships in listed companies (including the
Company) or holds any cross directorships during the Reporting
Period.

There is a diverse business and professional backgrounds for the
Board, whose members actively bring their experience for promoting
the best interest of the Company and its Shareholders. The INEDs
also ensure the Board considered the interest of the Shareholder
in considering the business objective of the Company and a high
standard of regulatory reporting. During the Reporting Period, the
Board at all time has met the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs and one of whom
possess of appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The composition
of the Board emphasis the decisions reached are balance and
independent.

For the Reporting Period, the Company has reviewed the
independence of each of the INEDs in light of the requirements
under the Listing Rule. The Nomination Committee assessed the
independence of the INEDs and considered each of them to be
independent.

Board meetings

The Company plans four Board meetings at approximately quarterly
intervals to discuss the Company’s operations. Additional meetings
will be arranged if and when required. Each Board member ensures
that he/she can give sufficient time and attention to the Company’s
development and contribute to the Company’s strategies and
financial performance through constructive comments.

The Joint Company Secretaries (as defined below) ensure the
procedures for holding the Board meetings are complied with all
applicable rules and regulations and they keep the Board minutes
for Directors’ inspection with unrestricted access rights, and have
the liberty to seek external professional advice upon reasonable
request.
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The attendance record of the Members of the Board at meetings
The attendance records of the Directors at the Board meetings,
Board committee meetings and general meetings held during the
Reporting Period are set out below:

ESERENTHLFETHR
ESRBEHATERITESSER  EEEE
SERNRRASNEFELEEIINT

Attendance/Number of meetings

e/ eERH
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee meeting
Ezgss ENZES yMzES REZ88 L
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Liu Yongliang YxREE 4/4 - - 11 11
Mr. Yi Weiming RAEREE 4/4 - - - 11
Non-executive Directors FUTEE
Mr. Xu Zhihua BEERE 4/4 212 11 1/ 17
Mr. Qin Shaobo ROBEE 4/4 - - - 111
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTEES
Mr. Liu Changchun ARERE 4/4 2/2 11 11 11
Mr. Zhao Changsong BROLEE 4/4 - - - 111
Ms. Lyu Qinghua BEERL 4/4 2/2 11 - 111

Apart from regular Board meetings, the chairman also held a
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors during the Reporting Period.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The positions of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer are distinct and separate.

Mr. Liu Yongliang is the chairman of the Board who is responsible
for chairing and managing the operations of the Board, ensuring
adequate information is provided to the Board on a timely basis,
encouraging members of the Board to make effective contribution
in the Board meetings, monitoring the performance of the chief
executive officer and establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures.

Mr. Yi Weiming is the chief executive officer of our Company
who is responsible for the overall administrative and operational
management of the Company, implementation of annual business
plans, investment proposal of the Company and responsible for
performing a bridging function between the Board and the senior
management.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company has established a board
independence evaluation mechanism which sets out the processes
and procedures to ensure a strong independent element on the
Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises independent
judgment to better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement
or further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what
actions of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve
the Board performance, for instance, addressing individual training
and development needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the board independence evaluation mechanism, the
board will conduct annual review on its independence. The board
independence evaluation report will be presented to the Board
which will collectively discuss the results and the action plan for
improvement, if appropriate.

During the Reporting Period, all Directors has completed the
independence evaluation in the form of a questionnaire individually.
The Board independence evaluation report was presented to the
Board and the evaluation results were satisfactory.

During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism
and the results were satisfactory.

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the objective and approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board. The Board Diversity Policy provides that
the Company should endeavor to ensure that the Board members
have the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives that are required to support the execution of the
Company’s business strategy. Pursuant to the Board Diversity
Policy, selection of candidates for Directors will be based in a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to professional
experience, gender, age, culture, independence, educational
background, knowledge, expertise and length of service. The
ultimate decision of the appointment will be based on merit and
the contribution which the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Board believes that such merit-based appointments
will best enable the Company to serve the Shareholders and other
stakeholders going forward.
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For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the AZEZEEEZt{tBE  THUHE2EER
following measurable objectives were adopted: b

(A) at least one of members of the Board shall be female; A EL—RESEHREERLMNE

(B) at least 25% of the members of the Board shall be non- (B) EA25%EEEREAREHTES ;
executive Directors;

The Board is committed to improving the diversity of the Board and EZE@HHUREHZ TILIER @ W EERK L
has achieved the above objectives. BiZ o

An analysis of the Board’s current composition based on the RIEAFTEEEHESSHREBAXBRETH

measurable objectives is set out below: DWESANT :
GENDER DESIGNATION AGE GROUP
4 Bl B 487 FHsE R

B Male m Female B INED = NED B Below 50 W 60-64
el egid BAUERITES FEMITES 50BRA T 60-647%
H ED W 50-54 65 or above
QiTE=E 50-547% 6558 A F
B 55-59
55-597%
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Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group.
The following table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of the
Group, including the Board and senior management as at the date
of this annual report:

TRERRE

R Z i
RABRERAEBZHAROMERZ T - TX
B AKRERAFHRAB2ETER (BREE
EERSREER) MR

Female Male

i B

Board EE A 14% (1) 86% (6)
Senior Management SNEERE 0% (0) 100% (1)
Other employees Hifgg 7% (46) 93% (612)
Overall workforce HEESTEX 7% (47) 93% (619)

The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least
14% (1) of female Director and 7% (54) of female employees of
the Group. For senior management, as the Group has only one
member in senior management (who is a male), diversity in gender is
currently not applicable. The Group considers that the above current
gender diversity is satisfactory.

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant data
can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
on pages 44 to 83 of this annual report.

The Board will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity
at all levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board
and the senior management levels. While the gender diversity
at the Board level can be improved given the majority of the
Directors are male, the Board will continue to apply the principle of
appointments based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity
Policy as a whole. The Board would also ensure that appropriate
balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference to investors’
expectation, and international and local recommended best
practices.

EESCERZEEL14% (1R) ZHESR
%(54%)#&1&&3’3@?%‘%%?& EEm

CHRAEESREEEEE —BHE (K
3%?31'_{) B BEKEMR Z Tt B AT A E
B AEERB/LAENMERZTEER TS
A8 o

EBEFREEMALLANFREUREEEE &
SHANFERFEI4IZEIENIRE - EREARR

& o

EXSREERNERAEERADASHR
(BREETRRESERSREERE) EHM
AZt BEHRAZHESILBSUMS
%E‘%Erﬁi IZr e T EBFRE - BREM
CESENAEEERIAAETNEER
E'J ERSEESS ST LEE EFETH
BEBREBEREENHEUARBEBRE RS 2R R
TERBRMBZ TN EEFH -
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The Board reviews the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis
to ensure its continued effectiveness. The Board believes that the
current composition of the Board is in line with the Board Diversity
Policy and the Board Diversity Policy is appropriate.

Our Nomination Committee will: (1) report annually, in the Corporate
Governance Report contained in our annual report, on the Board’s
composition under diversified perspectives, and monitor the
implementation of our Board Diversity Policy; and (2) review our
Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure effectiveness of
the policy and discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee include, among other things, reviewing
and supervising our financial reporting process and internal
control system of the Group, overseeing the audit process, risk
management process and external audit functions. The Audit
Committee consists of three members, namely, Ms. Lyu Qinghua,
Mr. Xu Zhihua and Mr. CC Liu. The chairwoman of the Audit
Committee is Ms. Lyu Qinghua. None of the Audit Committee
members are employed by or otherwise affiliated with the auditor of
the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings.
During the meetings, the Audit Committee completed the following:

Internal Audit and Governance
- Reviewed the Group’s Internal Audit Charter

— Reviewed the Group’s internal audit plan

— Reviewed the efficient and effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems and its internal audit
functions

External Auditor and Financial Reporting
— Reviewed and approved KPMG’s fee proposal for the annual
audit

- Reviewed the Company’s annual results for the year ended 31
December 2022 and interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2023

- Reviewed changes in accounting principles and practices
proposed by management

- Reviewed, with both the external auditor and management, the
audit approach and methodology applied, in particular to the
Key Audit Matters, for 2023 annual audit

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the annual results of the
Company for the Reporting Period. The Audit Committee was
satisfied with KPMG’s work, its independence, and its objectivity,
and therefore recommended the re-appointment of KPMG (which
has indicated its willingness to continue in office) as the Company’s
external auditor for 2024 for Shareholders’ approval at the AGM.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee include, among other things,
making recommendations to the Board on our Company’s policy
and structure concerning the remuneration of our Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy, reviewing
and approving performance based remuneration by reference to
their duties and responsibilities, performance, corporate goals and
objectives, to determine the terms of the specific remuneration
package of each executive Director and senior management and
to ensure none of our Directors determine their own remuneration.
The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely
Ms. Lyu Qinghua, Mr. CC Liu and Mr. Xu Zhihua. The chairman of
the Remuneration Committee is Mr. CC Liu.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held 1
meeting. During the meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed
the remuneration packages of the EDs, NEDs and INEDs with
reference to their responsibilities, workload and performance of the
Company.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme (as defined in
the Report of the Directors) and 2022 Share Award Scheme. During
the Reporting Period, there were no material matters relating to the
Share Option Scheme and 2022 Share Award Scheme that require
the review and approval by the Remuneration Committee.

The remuneration of the senior management of the Company (other
than Directors) during the Reporting Period, by band is set out
below:

FNEE

Remuneration Band
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AABCRABRETS (ERRESERE)
K2022F R KRBT - RI|EH R - LR
fEERE IR ST B 2022 F R0 SR BT BB RE MY
EXASRFEFHNEESEERME -

BEMARRASREZEREE B 2 893N
}HWT -

Number of individuals

AE

Nil to RMB1,000,000 ZFz A E#1,000,0007T

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of
the Nomination Committee include, among other things, reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board and our Board
Diversity Policy and making recommendations to our Board on the
appointment of members of the Board. The Nomination Committee
consists of three members, namely, Mr. Liu Yongliang, Mr. Xu
Zhihua and Mr. CC Liu. The chairman of the Nomination Committee
is Mr. Liu Yongliang.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held 1
meeting. During the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed
the independence of the INEDs and has also conducted an annual
review of the current structure, size, skillset and composition of
the Board and considered remaining the same composition is
appropriate in light of the Company’s strategy.

BERESRAEELERSHMA T HMAE
—SHRENGE M B RRMFT8R -

REEBES

ARBERIREEES  URBEEXERT
EHEARESE REZEENITERES
B UERRRN) RN ESSHRE - ABRAR
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The Nomination Committee concluded the Board currently
possesses of a balanced skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives and is appropriate for continuing to support the
execution of the Company’s business strategies in an efficient and
effective manner.

The nomination policy of the Company document the procedures
and practices approved by the Board applicable to both new
appointments and re-appointment in accordance with the Articles
of Association. The Board has delegated the authority to the
Nomination Committee to identify and assess potential candidates
who are eligible to become a member of the Board. To identify the
suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee will consider the
Company’s strategy; the structure, size, composition and needs
of the Board; the required skills, qualification and experience of
the candidates; and the independence of the candidate who is
proposed to be the INED of the Board. The Nomination Committee
is vested with discretion to take into account such other factors that
it may consider appropriate.

In relation to the appointments of the Directors, the Nomination
Committee will first identify the biographical information and other
information of the candidate. The Nomination Committee will review
the information obtained from the candidate and seek clarification.
Then, the Nomination Committee, at its discretion, invite the
candidate to meet with the Nomination Committee members for the
proposed nomination. The Nomination Committee will submit the
nomination proposal to the Board for consideration and further to
the shareholders for approval.

For the re-appointment of the members of the Board, the
Nomination Committee will review the profile of the members
who have offered themselves for re-election to ensure their
suitability every year. Then, the Nomination Committee will make
recommendation to the Board for consideration and the Board will,
at its discretion, make recommendations to the Shareholders.

The Nomination Committee will conduct the review on the member
of the Board on a regular basis, at least annually, to ensure the
Board possess a combination of expertise and diversity for the
business of the Company.

Mr. Li Juncheng, a full-time employee of the Company, and Ms. Lam
Wing Chi, a senior manager of Tricor Services Limited, an external
service provider, have been appointed as the joint company
secretaries of the Company (“Joint Company Secretaries”) to handle
compliance and company secretarial works of the Company. The
role of Joint Company Secretaries includes:

- providing advice to the Board members;
- ensuring the Board procedures are followed;
— advising the Board on all corporate governance matters; and

- recommending and arranging the Board members to attend
relevant seminars and courses.
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The Joint Company Secretaries assisted the Company to cope
with the changing regulatory environment and to suit different
commercial needs. All Directors have access to the advice from the
Joint Company Secretaries on corporate governance and Board
practices and matters.

Mr. Li has been designated as the primary contact person at the
Company which would work and communicate with Ms. Lam on the
Company’s corporate governance and secretarial matters.

During the Reporting Period, each of Mr. Li and Ms. Lam had
undertaken over 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The Company engages KPMG as its external auditor. There’s
no non-audit services engaged with KPMG. In order to maintain
KPMG'’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the
audit process in accordance with applicable standards, the Audit
Committee, reviewed and discussed with KPMG on their scope and
nature of the audit and reporting.

For maintaining integrity and objectivity as the external auditor
of the Company, KPMG implements policies and procedures
that are consistent with the requirements of the Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants and other applicable rules. These
requirements place limits on the number of years that partners in
certain roles may provide audit services to the Group, followed by
a “time-out” period during which these partners may not participate
in that audit or in any way influence the outcome of the audit, lead
or coordinate other professional services delivered to the client,
oversee the relationship of the firm with the client, or have other
significant or frequent interaction with senior management of those
charge with governance.

For the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid or payable to
KPMG in respect of audit services amounted to approximately
RMB1.30 million. There was no disagreement between the Board
and the Audit Committee on the selection and appointment of the
external auditor during the year under review.
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The rail freight and road freight transportation businesses are
inherently dangerous and there are accidents which may result
in fatalities and other serious bodily harm to our employees and
others. To uphold our reputation of being one of the best company
locally and in order to help ensure that the Company is responsible
to the crises in an organised and effective manner, the Company
has established the security department to manage the crisis. The
security department comprises of the senior management and is
closely monitored by the Chief Executive Officer. The operation of
the security department is also aided by the Company’s information
system to keep track of the latest crisis situation, issues and
strategic actions. The duties of the security department include the
followings:

(i) organize various safety activities and regular training sessions
to enhance safety awareness and relevant work skills of our
staff;

(i) strictly forbid staff who have not passed safety training and
assessment to work on our freight transportation;

(iif) arrange inspection of our freight transportation monthly to allow
each department to report any potential/existing deficiencies
during the operation of our business;

(iv) perform inspection of freight vehicles and facilities monthly to
identify and eliminate any defects which may result in safety
issues;

(v) arrange the freight transportation of flammable, explosive or
otherwise hazardous materials according to specified policies;

(vi) perform key inspection of dangerous goods and properly
document all such inspections; and

(vii) closely monitor flammable goods.

In order to manage the impacts on our businesses arising from the
crisis, the Company will set up a safety production committee to
take overall responsibility for safety production management, with
placing the safety of our staff and the public as the top priority. In
response to the outbreak of COVID-19 in January 2020, the security
department was activated to manage its potential impacts on the
Company’s operations.

According to the CG Code, all the Directors shall participate in
continuous professional development to update and refresh their
knowledge and skill to ensure their contribution to the Board
keep abreast of current trends and issues facing the Company.
Upon appointment to the Board, every Directors has received
a comprehensive induction training to ensure appropriate
understanding of the Company’s business and operations as well as
their role and responsibilities.
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To assist the Board members in continuing their professional
development, the Joint Company Secretaries recommend them to
attend relevant seminars and courses at the cost of the Company.
The Joint Company Secretaries also developed a comprehensive
and tailored training programme for the senior executive. The
programme consists of a series of seminars which are organised on
an on-going basis.

Each of the Directors has provided to the Company a record of
the training he/she has received during the Reporting Period. The
records are maintained by the Joint Company Secretaries for
annual review by the Nomination Committee and the Board. The
table below summarises the participation of each of the Directors in
continuous professional development during the Reporting Period:

TRERRE

AHBESENERFERIEXRR BELQ
ANETARSEZS MERMIERRE
ERBHARREE BEAAMETIERAEHR
TBRAEHEZERSHEMKROEIEE
BRETAEE -RIFEERNTNE -
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Reading Legal
and Regulatory
Updates and
Other Reference

Materials

Attending BIESRHFZEER

training session ERUREA

Name of Directors EE=E HEZIRE 2E&EH
Mr. Liu Yongliang B k= EE v 4
Mr. Yi Weiming AR EE v "4
Mr. Xu Zhihua HMEERE v v
Mr. Qin Shaobo EOEEE v v
Mr. Liu Changchun AREFRE v v/
Mr. Zhao Changsong HERMAEE v v
Ms. Lyu Qinghua BEERZL v v

The Company adopts a dividend policy to reward the Shareholders.
In determining the dividend, the Company reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a strong capital environment for
business operation at the same time considering the returns of
Shareholder. The Board shall take into account the followings in
considering the dividend amount:

expected capital requirements;

—  expected profit level;

—  projected operating cash flows;

—  projected capital expenditures and investment projects; and

—  future business prospect and other financial conditions.
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The Directors recognize the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to
achieve effective accountability. The Company will comply with CG
Code and the associated Listing Rules.

The Board conducts the corporate governance function annually.
Below is a summary of works during the Reporting Period:

e developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board;

e reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management
of the Company;

e reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Company; and

e reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code from
time to time adopted by the Company and the disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report to be contained in the
Company’s annual report.

The Board considers the Company’s corporate governance
functions are adequate and appropriate for the Company’s current
business strategy. The Board will continue to review the changes of
legal and regulatory environment and the business environment.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and
made reasonable judgements, estimates and assumptions based
on historical experiences and various other factors, consistently
with previous financial periods, as disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis and give a true
and fair view. The responsibilities of the independent auditor of the
Company are set out on pages 106 to 111 of this annual report.

In supporting above, the finance division prepared the consolidated
financial statements for clearing with the external auditor and then
the Audit Committee. Before adoption of any new accounting
policy and accounting standards by the Board, the possible impact
of amendments will be discussed and approved at the Audit
Committee.
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The Company has in place the Anti-Corruption Policy to safeguard
against corruption and bribery within the Company. The Company
has an internal reporting channel that is open and available for
employees of the Company to report any suspected corruption
and bribery. Employees can also make anonymous reports to the
internal audit function, which is responsible for investigating the
reported incidents and taking appropriate measures. The Company
continues to carry out anti-corruption and anti-bribery activities to
cultivate a culture of integrity, and actively organizes anti-corruption
training and inspections to ensure the effectiveness of anti-
corruption and anti-bribery.

The Company has also in place the Whistleblowing Policy as set
out in the Anti-Corruption Policy for employees of the Company and
those who deal with the Company to raise concerns, in confidence
and anonymity, with the Audit Committee and the Board about
possible improprieties in any matters related to the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held an anti-corruption
training and briefing for all employees. There were no non-
compliance cases in relation to bribery and corruption.

The Company has developed a policy to handle and dissemination
of inside information, which includes:

(i) the internal process for identifying and assessing inside
information to the Board;

(i) the senior management has to preserve the confidentiality
of inside information. They need to report to the Board
for any potential threat and bring down the message and
responsibilities to all employees; and

(iiiy the process for disclosure of inside information.

The Company will publish any inside information as soon as
practicable. If the Board believes that the Company cannot
maintain the confidentiality, the Board would immediately
disclose the information. The Board is committed to ensure all the
announcements are not false nor misleading. The Board considers
the Company’s policy and measures are effective and appropriate to
provide assurance on the obligations over the inside information.

TRERRE

RRAREHERSAESERGIE - UBHALQE
NEHEBEESREEITH - RARARABRE
WRE  HALTAREEBEMNARNESR
Z2BTH BETTEAMBEABEFHES
Hif . AEBMNEERATERIRLRIEE
it e AARBEBERMARE SR RERET -
BITREX  UEBZHRESHEIRA
B BARRESRRBEIFEORN -

NAB IR B R REBR (AL 8 55 52 B 4
E) #AQREERERATDEERNHAL
EREZEENBERT  ABELEEERESS
REOBBRAARQXANENEEPEETRETS
HYEE ©

RBEEHMA ARFECREBEEZHIAR
BESHIIRER - BEXEABBRRESH
EREMH -

ARAFREHERERBRMABHEENEER &
&

i)y PEEERIEFEAEEENRNITE

5

(il SREEBEASANEHEERR -BEEM
BEEEREIMBERE  YRMEET
EEABEAENSEE R

(i) REHEWERRF -

ARTHRODEATTHER TEREMEMTA
BHE -MESEMEARAEEIRE ESF
ERNEREEEEN - EES R OBRRAE
DNEVEEBRRRERD - EESRARAEQH
WBERREEASNBEEREERMREMS
BEUKREE -

REHBERAT o 2023FFEH 37



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERRE

The Board believe that by communicating the Company’s business
strategies and future outlook to investors in a clear and transparent
manner proactively could help to enhances the Shareholders’
value. As such, the Company promotes a business culture that
respect the Shareholders and accountable to them. The Board
focuses to maintain a smooth and transparent communication
with shareholders to facilitate their understanding of the Group’s
performance and strategies.

The Company uses the annual general meeting as the principal
channels of communication with its Shareholders. It provides an
opportunity for Shareholders to listen to the Directors about the
Company’s performance and operations directly. It has been the
practice for the chief executive officer, the Chairman of the Board
and the external auditor of the Company to attend annual general
meeting to answer shareholders’ questions. The AGM has been
scheduled on 18 June 2024 and the Company is committed to
make notice and available meeting facilities, not less than 21 days
before the date of AGM, to enable all eligible attendees to be able to
participate in the AGM.

The Company has in place the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy. The policy aims at promoting effective communication with
Shareholders and other stakeholders, encouraging Shareholders
to engage actively with the Company and enabling Shareholders
to exercise their rights as Shareholders effectively. The Board
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’
Communication Policy and the results were satisfactory.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining
an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as follows:

(a) Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing Rules
refers to any document issued or to be issued by the Company
for the information or action of holders of any of its securities,
including but not limited to the following documents of the
Company: (a) the directors’ report, annual accounts together
with a copy of the auditor’s report and, where applicable, its
summary financial report; (b) the interim report and, where
applicable, its summary interim report; (c) a notice of meeting;
(d) a listing document; (e) a circular; and (f) a proxy form. The
Corporate Communication of the Company will be published
on the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkex.com.hk) in a
timely manner as required by the Listing Rules. Corporate
Communication will be provided to Shareholders and non-
registered holders of the Company’s securities in both English
and Chinese versions or where permitted, in a single language,
in a timely manner as required by the Listing Rules.

38 Canggang Railway Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023

EEERE EWEBRN S XDREERG
BERNANEBREARRESEPRAR
REE At ARAREEERRIEH KRR
BMEMNLEYL ESEITEERRRIGEE
MZEARESE  LERRTHAKENRITM
RBE o

ARATUBRFBEASEAHERR BN E
EEBRRE -HERREUSEBESHEET
BAPNTWREREE - HAQATTHAR
EESXIERNEREHEERRBERS U
EZRREBD—EME - REBEXRECLT
A2024F6 B18HET  MARAEHINK
RBAFASEHPH AL N2 BBEEN - W2
HEEREUBMEAEREERSHA L
WSERRBEKRE o

RRFEHERRBABR o ZBK S EIRE
BERRE AT ENEREN  SBRRE
RRATRBEE - WERRENERITEEE
ARRNER EEEERERRBABERNE
BRHAR  ERTAWE -

AR CRKRBEVETHRRRFSELHFNR

B ARWT

(a) EBEH
RELTRANESZ  [EEBMIBERLD
AAEAMNESFNEEAREERIK
BITEImMEMRGEERHNEAXH &
FEERRR) RXABNTIXH : (a)F
EERE FERBERZEMBER R
RWER EMBEREHE )P HR
ER(WBER EFHRERE 0KE
BE (LTI )BR ROKKE
ERE - RNAFNEEBABZRBLETR
BIMIRE » & W72 5 32 BT 48 3 (www.hkex.
com.hk) L3 o DEBAFZBETR
BIMRE  REORRARKNATFSFWIHE
BRFEEARHPERAHEATHE
MTRUEE-—FSHRAE -



(b)

(c)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the
Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.) and other
documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of Association) on
the Stock Exchange’s website in a timely manner in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on
the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on the
Company’s website (http://www.czcgtl.com). Other corporate
information about the Company’s business developments and
corporate governance will also be available on the Company’s
website.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the
Company are primary forum for communication between the
Company and its Shareholders. The Company shall provide
Shareholders with relevant information on the resolutions(s)
proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The information provided
shall be reasonably necessary to enable Shareholders to
make an informed decision on the proposed resolution(s).
Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings
or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for
and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings.
Where appropriate or required, the Chairman of the Board and
other Board members, the chairmen of board committees or
their delegates, and the external auditors should attend general
meetings of the Company to answer Shareholders’ questions
(if any). The chairman of the independent board committee
(if any) should also be available to answer questions at any
general meeting to approve a connected transaction or any
other transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’
approval.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Enquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, call its hotline at (852)2862-8555, or go in person to
its public counter at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters to be
put to the Board and the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. Shareholders may send any enquiries to the Joint
Company Secretaries by email: canggangtielu@126.com or by
post to 5/F, Manulife Place, 348 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. Shareholders may call the Company at (86)0317-
7610979 for any assistance.
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Shareholders to convene an Extraordinary General Meeting
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holdings not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting in the general meetings,
on a one vote per share basis, shall have the right to convene an
extraordinary general meeting by sending a written requisition to the
Board or the Joint Company Secretaries to the principal place of
business in Hong Kong. The request must state the reason and the
details of the business to be transacted in the meeting. When the
requisition is found to be proper, the Joint Company Secretaries or
the Board will call the meeting within two months after the deposit
of the requisition.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders shall mail a written inquiry to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong (Address: 5/F, Manulife Place, 348
Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong) stating that the recipient to
the Joint Company Secretaries.

Procedures for shareholders putting forward proposals
Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general
meetings may achieve so by means of convening an extraordinary
general meeting following the procedures as set out in the
paragraph above.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director

Pursuant to the Article of Association, if a Shareholder wishes to
propose a person for election as a Director at an annual general
meeting, he/she should pass a written notice of the nomination to
the Joint Company Secretaries at the principal place of business
in Hong Kong within seven days period commencing the day after
the despatch of the notice of the meeting. The Shareholder must
pass a written notice of his/her nomination and a notice signed by
the nominated candidate with his/her willingness to be appointed
as a Director to the Joint Company Secretaries. The notice should
include the candidate’s information as required to be disclosed
under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and a letter of consent to
public his/her personal’s information.

Upon the Joint Company Secretaries received a valid nomination,
they will prepare a supplemental circular with the information
about the nominated candidate to the Shareholders as soon
as practicable. The Nomination Committee will assess whether
the nominated candidate is competence and consider the
composition and needs of the Board, please refer to section headed
“NOMINATION POLICY” in this Corporate Governance Report.

Voting by poll

The Company proposed separate resolutions for each substantially
separate issue in the general meeting. All the separate resolutions
will be voted by poll except the chairman, in good faith, decides
to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or
administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands. The
Company will announce the results of the poll in the manner
prescribed under the Listing Rules.
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The Board is responsible to maintain an effective and efficient
internal control system and risk management system and setting
appropriate policies in order to safeguard the Company’s assets
and the Shareholders’ interest. The internal control system and risk
management system are designed to manage (rather than eliminate)
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and provide
reasonable assurance, but not absolute assurance, against material
misstatement or loss.

The Company has established an Internal Audit Department (“IAD”)
which provides independent, objective assurance and consulting
services designed to add value and improve the Company’s
operations. The IAD establish a risk-based audit plan to prioritise
the internal audit activity to ensure the high risks business activities
are reviewed. IAD is responsible for conducting independent reviews
of the adequacy and effectiveness of our risk management and
internal control systems. IAD provides assurance that governance,
risk management and internal control (“GRC”) structure and key
control procedures are designed properly and are operating
effectively. IAD also identifies and offers recommendations for
GRC structures and processes; and is responsible to establish
procedures that ensure the management’s response to the
recommendations.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems
have been developed with the following principles, features and
processes:

In compliance with the requirement of CG Code, the Company has
established relevant risk management and internal control systems,
covering corporate governance and system, business and financial
processes. The systems served as a reasonable guarantee of the
legal compliance of the operation and management of the Company,
its asset security and truthfulness and completeness of its financial
reports and relevant information and increased the operational
efficiency and performance of the Company, which provided strong
guarantee for the implementation of the Company’s development
strategies.

TRERRE

ETSREEFARRSRNRABEHRGR
REEEERAS  WHESBREUAREARQF
EERRRERZ ANEHAGREBREER
mIBEE (MIFBER) REEKEKERNE
PamaR R EARERFAFIBREH-SEN
FBEHRE °

RABE MM AEBEE R ([RER ) BB
EERBNBARE > DABENZTZEALQE
EEMR - WEDFE AR SER VT
g UHPIRIMBFFBNESRTF - RS
REEEBEDESEERN - ABHEEHRERRE
ERAMEERGNREERBERMETENL
mE - NEMURES - AREERAIBEG
(TGRC B RBEREHEFDIEZERTRE
MEBERMRE - AFIPTFEBIGRCEBAR
RITREEZE TERESRUBFURREERE
CEEREEE -

ARABNABEERABPEFHRZAFETIR
B BHREFTL

ARFEREEEATAER - REEERM
Ao ERHEYBAESERZEBERRE
BHABEHAS  SERBLXEEEES
EER BEERE  MBBRERMEBEEEEER
TE BALALANEERRRRR  HER
AERBREBERBIRE -

REBEBRARAT o 2023FFIH 41



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERRE

In order to further regulate the internal control management of
the Company and effectively prevent internal risks, an internal
management and control system was established according to
the relevant regulatory requirements of the Stock Exchange and
the actual management situation of the Company. The internal
control system of the Company regulates the internal management
procedure of the Company by controlling aspects, namely
organisational structure, fund management, financial reporting,
procuring business, outsourcing business, sales business,
research and development management, project management,
contract management, information system, human resources,
budget management, financing management, equity investment
management and fixed assets management. It identifies the
risks in the internal management of the Company and provides
relevant control measures to prevent the risks. The Company
performs annual reviews on these systems in order to monitor its
operational situation in a timely manner, and revises or abolishes
some regulations in accordance with relevant national laws and
regulations and actual conditions of the Company.

All departments conducted internal control assessment regularly to
identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group and
various aspects including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security. Self-evaluation has
been conducted annually to ensure that control policies are properly
complied with by each department.

The Company has set up departments dedicated to daily
examination and supervision of internal control, and designated
internal control examination and supervision personnel according
to the relevant requirements and conditions of the Company to
inspect and monitor the regular test on internal control procedures
of all functional departments of the Company and all subsidiaries.
The Company mainly reviews the compliance of internal control
procedures that have higher risk, such as setting up of project,
tendering, project budget review and procurement to ensure
the compliance of business activities. The Company makes
improvement recommendations in respect of audit’s findings and
requests the relevant management of the Company to confirm
the rectification plan, methods and the timing. The Company
regularly follows up the status of the implementation of the audit
recommendations to ensure the execution of such improvement
plans. At the same time, the Company reviews and assesses the
truthfulness, accuracy, compliance and effectiveness of the project
financial activities of the Company and information of financial
expenses as well as the Company’s funds, management and usage
of assets, and strictly monitors the annual budget and expenditure.
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The management of the Company provides enough resources for
the accounting, internal review and financial reporting functions,
hires financial personnel with sufficient qualifications and provides
various financial control and project risk control training to the
staff. The management, in coordination with all department heads,
assesses the likelihood of risk occurrence and provides response
plans, and monitors the risk management procedures, and reports
to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the
effectiveness of the system. Internal legal and audit department
is responsible for reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of
risk management and internal control system independently,
investigates key matters related to accounting practice and all
significant control issues, and reports its finding and suggestions for
improvement to the Audit Committee.

On the basis of its established internal control system, the Company
regularly reviewed and sorted out the overall operation of the
internal control system in accordance with the Basic Standard for
Enterprise Internal Control and supporting guidelines, its Internal
Control Management Handbook and relevant rules, and compiled
the Internal Control System Evaluation Report. The Company
identified and sorted out risks and deficiencies during the operation
of the internal control system in a timely manner through ways
such as individual interviews, system reviews, data inspections,
and walk-through tests and put forward corresponding rectification
suggestions. It formulated the Internal Control System Evaluation
Results and Rectification Plan, and followed up and supervised
related divisions’ rectifications.

The Audit Committee bears the primary responsibility for
governance and serves as the focal point for all governance
activities. The Audit Committee reviews the internal controls and risk
management that are significant to the Company on an on-going
basis and considers the adequacy of resources, competence of
staff of the Company’s finance division, as well as their continuous
development. The Audit Committee approves the internal audit plan
and the internal audit charter to direct in setting strategic objectives,
establishing risk appetite and effective control systems. The Audit
Committee also reviews the works and the results prepared by the
IAD and the Internal Control Consultant.

According to the report from the Internal Control Consultant,
the Company’s key control procedures over GRC structure are
adequacy and effective. The Board is satisfied that the internal
control and risk management systems are in place and effective.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has adopted the second
amended and restated articles of association of the Company by
way of a special resolution passed on 16 June 2023 and effective
on the same date, in order to update with the latest changes in the
Listing Rules. Details of the amendments are set out in the circular
dated 21 April 2023 to the Shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company during
year ended 31 December 2023. The amended and restated
memorandum of association and second amended and restated
articles of association of the Company are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange, respectively.
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The Management Statement

This past year we’ve faced significant global challenges, including
economic instability, the ongoing impact of climate change, and
geopolitical turmoil. Despite these hurdles and their ripple effects,
our commitment to promoting the sustainability of humanity and the
planet has not wavered.

In light of mounting concerns regarding environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) issues and climate change, we acknowledge
the critical importance of integrating ESG considerations to maintain
the Group’s reputation and ensure long-term viability. Therefore,
we continually strengthen our sustainability strategy, drawing on
our collective talents and expertise to foster a better community for
everyone.

The recent trials, particularly those presented by the pandemic,
have highlighted the co-equal importance of the economy,
environment, and society. We understand that overlooking
any of these spheres can compromise our long-term success.
Consequently, we are mindful of their interdependence. In response,
we integrate ESG considerations into our decision-making process
while striving to honor our corporate responsibilities. With ESG
factors increasingly influencing corporate progression and involving
various emerging issues, our Board of Directors (the “Board”)
acknowledges the need for careful deliberation in corporate
development and accepts a greater role in ESG oversight. We
have formed an ESG Working Group (“ESG Working Group”) to
coordinate our governance efforts. This team maintains close
communication with the Board, annually presents peer examples for
guidance, stays current with ESG market trends to inform the Board,
and ensures the Group remains updated on ESG initiatives. We have
established precise sustainability vision targets for the short and
long term, committed to China’s goal of carbon neutrality by 2060.
Our reduction targets and corresponding strategies are intertwined
with our strategic planning and decision-making processes. The
Board regularly examines the effectiveness of our approach,
including evaluating our environmental, social, and governance
performances and amending action plans as needed. Furthermore,
the Board is actively engaged in the issuer’s operations, staying
well-informed and pursuing any identified irregularities.

As a conscientious corporate, we endeavour to meet high ethical
standards and persistently introduce and implement sustainable
innovations within our operations. The welfare of our workforce
is of utmost importance. As an employer, we prioritize the safety
and health of all employees, enforcing exhaustive safety measures
to protect their welfare. Our goal is to unlock the potential of our
workforce, utilizing their growth to drive our expansion and guide
the Group forward.
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Looking forward, as we move past the disruptions and constraints
brought on by the pandemic, we are excited about the opportunities
that lie ahead in this promising year. We will uphold a culture
of “compliance, integrity, professionalism, and stability” with
development propelled by capital, operational mechanisms, human
resources, risk management, and technology. We will also broaden
our impact in the realm of sustainable development, actively work
towards China’s “2060 carbon neutrality” objective, ensure tangible
and intangible returns for our shareholders, employees, society and
contribute to the evolution of a regulated, transparent and vibrant.
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RE HERERBRE

This is the fourth ESG Report of Canggang Railway Limited (the
“Company”, “Canggang Company”, the “Group” or “we”). Based on
the principles of openness and transparency, Canggang Company
reports to all stakeholders on the Group’s ESG performance in 2023
(“Reporting Period”) in a comprehensive and objective manner.
For corporate governance, please refer to the chapter headed
“CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” of the annual report.

Reporting Standard

This Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) in
Appendix C2 enclosed in the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Main Board (the “Main Board Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The Group has complied with all the “comply or explain”
requirements set out in the ESG Guide. We also prepare the Report
in strict accordance with the following four reporting principles
illustrated in this ESG Guide:

° “Materiality” — The materiality assessment was conducted
to identify material issues, thereby adopting the confirmed
material issues as the focus for the preparation of the ESG
Report. The materiality of issues was reviewed and confirmed
by the Board and various departments. Please refer to the
section headed “ldentification of Material Topics” for further
details;

e  “Quantitative” — Supplementary notes are added along with
quantitative data disclosed in the ESG Report to explain
any standards, methodologies, and sources of conversion
factors used during the calculation of emissions and energy
consumption;

e “Balance” - The Report impartially describes the Group’s
performance during the Reporting Period, to avoid selections,
omissions, or presentation formats that may inappropriately
influence a decision or judgment by the report reader; and

e  “Consistency” — The preparation approach of this ESG Report
was substantially consistent with the previous year, and
explanations were provided regarding data with changes in the
scope of disclosure and calculation methodologies.

Report Approval and Access

This report has been reviewed and approved by the ESG Working
Group and the Board of Directors on March 27, 2024. This report
is available in both Chinese and English, and has been published
on the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company’s website (www.czcgtl.com). In case of any discrepancy
between the two versions, the English version shall prevail.
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Reporting Period and Boundary

The Reporting Period is the fiscal year from 1 January to 31
December 2023. Unless otherwise specified, this report covers rail
freight and ancillary operations of the local railway operator based in
Hebei Province.

Sources of Information

All materials and data referred in this report are sourced from
our official documents, statistical reports and financial reports,
which have been collected, summarized and reviewed by relevant
departments. Unless otherwise stated, the reporting currency herein
is Renminbi (RMB).

Stakeholders’ Feedback

We value greatly on stakeholders’ opinions, and welcome your
feedback which can help us to further improve, via mail at our
principal place of business in Hong Kong: 5/F, Manulife Place, 348
Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Disclaimer

Parts of this report are forward-looking subject to uncertainties,
which could cause actual results to differ materially from those
presented. The Company undertakes no obligation to update any
forward-looking statements provided in this report.

Sustainability is the goal of our Group. Combining the concept of
sustainability and the Group’s development strategy, we manage
and supervise sustainability-related matters through multi-
department collaboration.

The Group conducts a top-down management approach concerning
its ESG issues. The Board has the ultimate responsibility of
overseeing and setting out ESG management approach and
strategy for our Group with the assistance of various departments.
The sustainability-related matters of Canggang Company are
handled by functional departments, including business operations,
logistics support, the office, the vehicle management team, etc.
The performance of each department is reported to the Board on a
regular basis, and the Board continuously monitors sustainability-
related information, such as energy consumption. The functional
departments also review Canggang Company’s ESG performance
through key performance indicators (“KPIs”) from various ESG
aspects to review progress made against ESG-related goals and
targets. By conducting regular materiality assessments, they assist
the Board to evaluate, prioritize and manage material ESG- related
issues. In the future, we will continue to improve the sustainability
management structure of the Group.

Board oversight of ESG

The Board of Directors, as the highest governing body of the
Company, takes a leadership role in steering the Group towards
sustainability. Specifically, the Board formulates ESG strategies
and policies while closely monitoring their execution. The Board is
also obligated to strengthen the Group’s ESG risk management to
enhance resilience and secure long-term development.
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RE HERERBRE

Under the authority of the Board, the ESG Working Group is
responsible for formulating the Company’s ESG, climate change
and responsible investment policies, strategies and objectives;
supervising the Company’s performance and effectiveness in
implementing measures regarding ESG, climate change and
responsible investment; identifying and evaluating material topics
of ESG and climate change and their priority that are relevant to
our operations and/or our stakeholders; and reporting to the Board
on relevant matters. The ESG Working Group is also tasked with
reviewing our ESG report and providing suggestions to the Board.
The Board is responsible for overseeing the ESG Working Group’s
tasks and reporting, as well as reviewing and approving the ESG
report.

Canggang Company aims to improve its effectiveness in identifying
and responding to ESG issues through the ESG Working Group and
would look forward to consolidating the mechanism through more
board engagement in the future. The Board has reviewed significant
ESG issues and will manage and monitor these issues, taking them
into account when establishing the Company’s business direction
and strategy.

For the identified ESG risks, the ESG Working Group would evaluate
their importance to Canggang Company’s business from the
following perspectives:

—  Global financial risks;

- Natural disasters that may lead to the interruption of
transportation;

—  Loss of human capital; and

— Network and information security of clients.

The ESG Working Group are responsible to:

— Develop annual targets based on the Company’s sustainability
vision;

—  Supervise ESG performance of subordinate units;

- Research, discuss and decide on specific ESG and
sustainability issues;

—  Monitor the Company’s overall sustainability performance and
risks concerning different material issues;

—  Formulate annual ESG work schedule and action plan;
—  Organize the preparation of this ESG report;

- Report to and advise the Board on the above matters; and

— Report to the Board on any major cases in which the Company
may potentially violate ESG-related laws and regulations.
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Identification of Material Topics

In order to understand the concerns of various stakeholders of our
Group and identify material topics that have a significant impact on
its operations, our Group has complied with the “ESG Reporting
Guide” of the Stock Exchange to conduct an online survey to
identify material topics through four steps, namely “identification,
prioritization, verification and review”. The five material topics are
“Environment Protection, Energy Saving and Emission Reduction”,
“Transportation Safety”, “Human Capital”, “Supply Chain
Management” and “Community Investment”, were found closely
linked with the Group’s operations.
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¢ Identification
Commissioned a third-party
independent consultancy to conduct
materiality assessment of the Group
by referring to the guidelines issued
by the Stock Exchange.
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* Review
Reviewed possible improvements
in the materiality assessment
process, and identify areas for
improvement.
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* Prioritization )
Invited stakeholders and the management of
the Group to participate in an online survey

to gauge their views on the significance of
potential material topics. Prioritized and
confirmed the material topics based on

two dimensions, namely “significance

of economic, environmental and social
impacts” and “influence on stakeholders’
assessments and decision making”.
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e Verification
The management of the Group
closely monitored and confirmed
the assessment results of material
topics, and they will be disclosed in
this report.
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We actively responded to the concerns of stakeholders, disclosed
the Group’s performance and impact on material topics in
detail, and took corresponding measures to further improve the
sustainability management during the Reporting Period.

RMEEEESGENHEEE  SAREA
SEAMEABENRERYE  YRMEH
RIREAB S — S S TS ERREET
o

RBBBEERAT o 20235FH 49



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R - dERERKRSE

Canggang Company remains steadfast in its commitment to BBAT—HENBHEDIHLESRBEES -
fostering societal progress. By consistently interacting with our HK{FHEBHEIEHEZETS  BRENIERE
stakeholders, we aim to grasp their needs and perspectives, which ZHEREEHDZ > RMAAHSHRMIERD
we consider crucial to our achievements. The table below illustrates ZEEE - THRHMBMERZETHERENS

our obligations to various stakeholders and the methods through

which we maintain communication with them:

Key stakeholders

FEROE RMAED

Our mission

Our action

BEMWITE

B UAREMARRSRITBENS A

Communication channels

Government Cooperate with Strictly abide by the Regular oral and written
B the government requirements under relevant communication regarding
and follow rules and regulations our long-term strategic
relevant rules and  B1&E FHEEEAR B ARG B4R E development
regulations for EHRBEMOR B RET
the good of ESG Continue to develop our NEMEARRXR
development business in line with President
BB a1 - BFHM XiJinping Thought on Socialism  Provide swift response
R BI MBI - LA¥E  with Chinese Characteristics for  to any enquiries from the
EIRE - L ERER aNewEra Government upon request
R BEBREBLVTEFENFERPES AREERFRENEAESR
BHEETERRBEETER
Regularly attend meetings
Actively participate in EHHESR
government-hosted forums and
seminars such as the Local
Railway Safety Supervision Work
Research Forum
BB MBFERNRENHATE
mihFEE L2 EE TR RmE
Customers To provide Regularly maintain and update Regularly communicate with
=2F them with solid, our system of Railway service customers to update them

50

sustainable and EHHEENENERRBE RS

high-quality

services that

Conduct seminars to seek

on the market conditions
and review our cooperative
relationship by contracts

meet the safety opinions that could improve our EHHEZEFER REFRMET
standards service MHRFEE  LEBERER

AEFRENERZE BRANE  BEJEETRENZ
8

EERRE -

A

RULH & EREE

MESEENR®E Email and customer service
Continue to develop our ancillary hotline
businesses that could bring our ~ E&HME IR 2 4R

Canggang Railway Limited

customers a more well-rounded

experience Business meetings
EERRETUUARFFRERZE BBER
ERNEEL

Annual Report 2023

Company’s website
AN
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RE - #HBRERRE

Key stakeholders  Our mission Our action Communication channels

FERFOGE B ED BMHNITE BIERE

Community Implement our Volunteering services Regular visits, events,

(tE culture and spirit 75 58 BR 7% and activities to allow the
into the community community to have a better
with different Published the annual report for understanding of our services
collaboration and  the year ended 31 December EHEFNSEIERTED &
promotion events 2023 HEHKMANREEERAT#
BRTENEENE BHMBE2023F12A31BLFEN
BIEE  BERMI F® Announcement for major
ftMBREEELR business updates

MEBRTNEREHHHQE

Company’s website

2N
Public services
DR
Employees Promote Provide a healthy and safe Monthly seminars and
EE diversity with our working environment with briefings are held
recruitment and sufficient support and facilities BARTHFIENERSE
promotion policies REHEBEMZEMNIERE @ B2HE
BREEMOVBENE ANIHNRE Employees survey to
AHERREES T understand their needs
Fair promotion mechanism ETEERECUTHREEME
Ensure that safety 2 03 F # )
is the first priority Informal meetings if needed
BRZE2RE—ZEHK Regular training sessions, DERBTHREXSE
workshops and seminars
EHEBPEIIRE - BERUNATE
Supplier/partners Ensure that our Fair tender invitation for needed Business meetings
HER, SR transactions and products’/services [EE=k
relationship with HEEERRISETLFIBE
our partners are Email and telephone
open and fair, Regular inspection and communication
and keep partners  supervision BEHNEBFER
informed of our EHREMEE
policies and goals Company’s website
BREMESIEZMH Hold briefing sessions and AN

HWRZMERED seminars for the quality of

B DF - ESEE services

HTHBREMAVBEEN ARBFESENRERSNHAITS
B
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R - dERERKRSE

Our Group has carried out an investigation among stakeholders.
Our Group’s management selected highly affected and dependent
stakeholders to answer a questionnaire. They put forward views
and suggestions on environmental and social topics involved in the
operation of the Group. This Environmental, Social and Governance
Report covers various important topics and describes what our
Group has done in these respects. Our Group will pay heed to these
issues during its long-term operation by developing corresponding
strategic guidelines, improving policies, and setting long term goals.

A materiality assessment of different ESG issues has been
demonstrated through the materiality matrix below. We have
identified the key issues from different stakeholders and have
conducted an internal assessment to evaluate their importance
to our business. The X-Axis of the matrix represents our internal
evaluation, which we believe those on the right-hand side are more
important; the Y-Axis represents the external expectation of the
importance of the issues from high to low. In short, those issues at
the top right quadrant are considered to be more important, while
those at the bottom left quadrant are least important.

We believe that the issues of climate change, pollution control
and sustainable products and services are the most crucial to our
business after our internal assessment, which has been reflected
by the policies and works that we have done as mentioned in this
Report.

AEECABNERBAS - AREEEREK
ERIABALERRBEEERSHEHES N

BEHE HERAEEXBLEET S RHR
BERHERERHERARER - NRKR -1 E
REARERETREARE  WHAAEH
BHEZERENTHE - REBKEBHIRTHEE
KL RERERHEREER  EER
HEERRPERZERME -

TRRE HEREABRENEEZEMTEECE
BUTHEEMEERET - RS ERTEN
O EWTERERE  WHETHIITME - MUFTF
HHBEBNEERM - EEAXBARKMN
WEBRFE - AAFPIEERESEE  YER RS
RUNEFEEZMMNEAY  KS=2EHEH -
EmEz WRAELASKRNEEBEER
MUBETASKRNEEERTER -

RIE AL - AR - RIRE L - FRE
FURAFEERMNBRBEEEHXBERHEH
2 E-HCEBBAREPRERROBEMT
EEEIRER -

EEMRHE

Materiality Assessment

RERZZ

Health and Safety
E-he -]
Labour Slandards\

HEEEE
Supply Chain Management \o
RES
Anti-Corruption

~

HERA

ShRHEE
External Expectat

AEBRHE

Internal Assessment

Community Investment

FARE

RARR
Climate Change \

RERRRER
The Environment and Natural Resources

HRER
Use of Resources

SRR
Development and Training

G\ [
Employment G\

EREE

Product Responsibility
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Environmental Protection, Energy Saving and Emission
Reduction

The Group strives to protect the environment through the
implementation of control activities and monitoring measures in our
business activities and workplace. We are committed to promoting a
green environment by introducing environmentally friendly business
practices, educating our employees to raise their awareness
on environmental protection and complying with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations.

In order to strengthen our environmental governance practices
and mitigate the environmental impacts, we have adopted
and implemented relevant environmental policies and have
communicated to our employees staff to communicate these
policies. These policies adopt the concept of “reducing electricity,
paper and water use”, the principle of economical management,
as well as the principle of reducing emissions, aims to minimize
adverse impacts on the environment. During the Reporting Period,
the Group established an environmental protection leadership
group mainly responsible for studying national environmental
protection laws and regulations, provide supervision and inspection
in operation sites, and if issues are found in the inspection and
assessment process, the “Environmental Inspection Punishment”
form is filled out and verified by both the inspector and the party
concerned. Confirmed matters will be punished according to the
Company’s guidelines.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with environmental related laws and
regulations in relation to exhaust gas and greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emissions, water and land discharge, and the generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste that would have a significant
impact on the Group. Such laws and regulations include but
are not limited to the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC,
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention, Control of
Water Pollution, Energy Conservation Law of the PRC and the
Environmental Protection Tax Law of the PRC.
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R - dERERKRSE

Target

Acknowledging the collective nature of the fight against climate
change, we engage in industry collaborations to exchange
best practices and encourage widespread action to lower GHG
emissions. Our approach is one of openness to pioneering solutions
and novel technologies that may significantly lessen our ecological
impact. We have established reduction targets for greenhouse gas
emissions, waste management, energy consumption and water
consumption intensity relative to the fiscal year 2022. Diligent
monitoring ensures that we stay aligned with these targets and
make progress on our sustainability journey.

Our target (2022 as a base year)

EMHE R (2022F R EEF)

B&

BARANFEBLEL D - HeeHhRREL
HEEMSETESE  IRREFSR 5B
REEZTE  BOBREREHER - LR
MR E 5 A B R £ B BB Rl MR
RFRMEHEM - RFCHBEREI -
BERYEE - BEFUEAE LR AKERE B E S
R2022FBBFENRHFER - BENEER
FREMEBELEERE B LEAFERE
MBS EEISER °

Our action

RFI9ITE

GHG emissions
intensity

BERE IR
Waste management
waste intensity

BERUEE H A B FER20255F AR B = BEEY)

By 2025, we aim to reduce the GHG emissions

EMEER202FRIHP BEREHREE
By 2025, we aim to reduce the non-hazardous

B
i

In progress

EITH

During the Reporting Period,
we achieved a substantial
reduction in paper usage,
approximately 78%, as we
are committed to promoting
minimal paper use among our
employees.

R|ERR > RAFHREEET
B fE AR R 0 3 AR ) KR R A
REN78% °

Energy consumption

REIROH A%

Water consumption

By 2025, we aim to reduce the total energy
consumption intensity

EMEEN2025FBIR D REFEEREE

By 2025, we aim to reduce the water

In progress

EAT

In progress

consumption intensity

AKX HMEER2025F AR D AKEE
By setting ambitious yet achievable GHG reduction targets, we
demonstrate our commitment to continuous improvement. We are
dedicated to both short-term actions and long-term strategies
aimed at decarbonizing our operations, contributing to a low-carbon
economy and mitigating the adverse effects of climate change.
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Rail freight operations

Air Emissions

Our Group has implemented comprehensive environmental
policies and plans to minimize the impact of our daily operation
on the environment and natural resources, and to encourage the
efficient use of energy, water and other resources. With the fact
that transportation services, which rely on energy and resource
consumption, are the core business of our Group, consequently, the
air pollutant is mainly generated by our trains and other vehicles.

The group is committed to following practices to minimize air
emissions:

e Conduct regular checking for our equipment to ensure their
emission standard are up with the level as stated by the
Government;

e Continue to educate our employees to turn off engines when
idling and purchase clean fuel that complies with the country’s
emission standard;

e  Strengthen the exhaust treatment of fuel-powered machinery
and equipment, increase vehicles maintenance frequency,
conduct annual exhaust emission monitoring regularly;

° Provide regular training for vehicle operators to improve energy

efficiency and reduce carbon emissions; and

e  Conduct regular vehicle maintenance to ensure optimal engine
performance and fuel use.
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We also invested in facilities that could help reduce pollution and
the wasting of resources. Coal unloading from our trains would
only be done in the designated unloading area equipped with dust
removal facilities, ensuring that dust pollution is always at the
lowest level.

During the Reporting Period, there was a marginal fluctuation in the
Group’s air emissions. We are committed to ongoing monitoring of
the air emissions produced by the Group. The Group’s air emissions
performance was as follows:

Types of air emissions

BEMTFRENREBEBRD FRMERRENR
i o fE 5= £ ED T R % B9 3 R T FE B A BR EE
RENEEHNERET  BRRESREKE
REREKF o

RIBEHR  AEEHOERFEREEHRE -
EMABOIRBEERASEMEENERH
B AEBBBERFRERDT :

P E B EE SRS B

Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) ALY tonne W§
Sulphur Oxides (SO,) mEty tonne W§
Particulate Matter (PM) LER L) tonne M§

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions pose a critical challenge for the
global environment. As part of our commitment to sustainability,
this chapter outlines our approach to managing and reducing GHG
emissions within our operations. We strive to align our practices
in accordance with the latest standards, ensuring our actions
contribute positively towards the global effort to mitigate climate
change. The major sources of the Group’s GHG emissions are
generated from petrol consumed by the trains and other vehicles
(Scope 1) and purchased electricity (Scope 2).

The Group is committed to following practices to reduce GHG
emissions during operation:

e Enhance train cargo spraying to reduce air pollution. Our coal-
loaded trains require a large dose of water spray to humidify all
vehicles using coal spraying equipment, After the train arrives
at the coal unloading line at the station, the coal unloader
unloads the coal and cleans up the coal and the scattered coal
around the vehicle, then the dump truck transports the coal to
the stacking area in and then transports it to the customer’s
destination according to the customer’s instruction;

e Arrange regular examination for trains and other vehicles on
exhaust gas emissions; and

e  Electricity conservation measures are described in the section
headed “USE OF RESOURCES”.
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During the Reporting Period, the GHG emissions are as follows:

Indicator’ Unit

R By

Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions tCO.e
HEN-HERERBHMR WS tREE
Scope 2 — Indirect GHG emissions tCO.e

FHE2 - FEERERBHK —HftmES
Total GHG emissions tCO.e
RERBEBERE W —E L EE
Total GHG emissions intensity? tCO,e/km

(operating mileage)
B/RE

ﬁFE&IWh&|§2 M:§1t "E

(BEER)

BERE

1.  GHG emission data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent
and are based on, but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World
Resources Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock
Exchange “Global Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC Sixth
Assessment Report and 2021 Baseline Emission Factors for Regional
Power Grids in China published by the Ministry of Ecology and
Environment of the People’s Republic of China. As the calculation
method have been updated, it may not be possible to directly compare
this year’s data with the previous year’s.

2.  Environmental data density = environmental data/operating mileage (as
at 31 December 2023, the total operating distance is 1,234,129 km.
by our railway services). The data is also used for calculating other
intensity data.

3. The data was restated after verification.

Sewage Discharge

The Group does not consume a significant volume of water through
its business activities, and therefore does not generate a material
portion of discharge into water. As the sewage discharged by the
Group is treated by the specific wastewater treatment facilities,
the amount of sewage discharge is considered the same as the
amount of water consumed. Description of water consumption and
corresponding water-saving initiative are described in the section
headed “Water Resource”.

Waste Management

Hazardous Waste

The Group’s hazardous waste management primarily involves used
engine oil from machinery maintenance. For waste minimization,
oil from our production processes is recycled for lubricating
equipment. Any non-recyclable oil is responsibly returned to its
originators for recycling or disposed of by accredited third parties
in strict conformance with national regulations. Due to the nature of
our business, the Group does not directly produce any hazardous
waste in its operations. In order to ensure the compliance with
relevant national and local laws and to minimise the negative
impact on the environment, we established “Materials Management
System” to ensure our waste are properly sorted before disposal
and we urge our employees to conduct recycling measures
actively. Also, strengthen the management and control of solid
waste pollution, strictly implement the requirements of the new
“People’s Republic of China Solid Waste Pollution Prevention and
Control Law”, identify the Company’s solid waste categories and
standardize the collection, storage and disposal.

R - HERERRSE

RBEHR BEREBHEHRBEROT :
2023 2022
20234 20224
8,409.22 8,438.26
8,409.22 8,438.26
2,333.96 3,088.94
2,333.96 3,088.94
10,743.18 11,527.20
10,743.18 11,527.20
0.01 0.013
0.01 0.013
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Non-hazardous Waste
The Group’s major non-hazardous waste generated is solid waste
produced by employees in the course of ordinary business.

To reduce paper consumption, we encourage our employees to:

° Use double side printing; and
e  Adopt electronic filing, and electronic meeting.

The Group’s non-hazardous wastes disposal performances were as
follows:

Waste category

EEZ YR
Hazardous wastes EEEEY)

By

BZERY
FEEELENTIEEZERYDBEENRAERE
BHREENERERY -

?ﬁié\/ﬁ%ﬁlﬂﬁ CERMEBEERRTIE
o

o EAZEER R
- RASTERREFEE-
AEBEERTERWOERNT :

2023
20234

2022
20224

Engine oil #5h tonnes M§ 29.9 28.40
Hazardous wastes intensity tonnes/km (operating mileage) 0.00002 0.00002
BEBERNEE Wi AR (EEER)

Non-hazardous wastes £ EEEZE Y]

Paper # & tonnes M# 0.43 1.93
Non-hazardous wastes intensity tonnes/km (operating mileage) 0.0000003 0.000002
BERREYEE mE AR (EEER)

The Group is committed to optimising the use of resources in
our business operations. Therefore, we have taken initiatives to
introduce resource efficiency and eco-friendly measures to the
Group’s operations on a continuous basis.

Energy reduction

Energy consumption within the Group predominantly arises from
operational electricity use and petrol for transportation. Canggang
Company has made significant investments in natural gas-powered
eco-friendly trucks, initiating a gradual transition from the older
diesel fleet. The plan is to replace the existing vehicles as they
become unsuitable for operations.

In the Reporting Period, a total of 29.9 tonnes of petroleum was
used for the regular maintenance of equipment. Concurrently,
energy efficiency directives are reinforced within our offices.
Employees are encouraged to conserve electricity by turning off
unessential lights, air-conditioning units, and other electronic
devices. To optimize usage, our air conditioners are set to a
standard temperature of 22 degrees Celsius.

During the winter, our heating equipment usage complies with local
government regulations, operating only within specified timeframes
to enhance efficiency. Adhering to recent environmental regulations,
we have transitioned from coal to electric heating, which, coupled
with the milder winter of 2023, led to a notable 27% reduction in
energy dependence on devices like electric heaters and hot plates
during the Reporting Period.
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Furthermore, our commitment to reducing costs and the
consumption footprint has led to the consolidation and closure of
several offices, dormitories, and facilities with elevated electricity
requirements. These concentrated efforts have played a crucial role
in curbing our overall energy consumption.

The Group has implemented various measures to mitigate the
consumption regarding the use of energy as below:

e  Strengthening daily maintenance of trains and other vehicles,
and improving resource utilization efficiency; and

e Encourage employees to turn off idling equipment, computers
and lightings when not in use or after working hours.

The Group’s energy consumption performances were as follows:

Energy types

R - HERERRSE

BE - R R A AR RO R R
B EBAGMEETASERRENRAE -
R R o BERBENHRMOERER
ERPE RETEHBENER -

AEBECERAT AREEEURDEREER
o MEHIBERHEMEBHAEHEE  ES
BRAAME R

e TREIENEARE  ERRBHRL
BRETLFHREBHARERE -

REENERERWT -

BERER

Direct energy consumption

HERERER

Petrol kWh
b FTERE
Diesel kWh
£ FTERE
Indirect energy consumption

BERRE

Electricity kWh
A% TRE
Total energy consumption kWh
RERHERE T FLBF
Total energy consumption intensity kWh/km

RERERAEE

(operating mileage)

TERE QB

371,287.75
371,287.75
33,708,744.57
33,708,744.57

2,402,677.37
2,402,677.37
36,482,709.68
36,482,709.68
29.56

29.56

409,197.11
409,197.11
33,785,274.14
33,785,274.14

3,279,473.00
3,279,473.00
37,473,944.25
37,473,944.25
29.36

29.36

(@EER)

Water Resource

The wastewater generated by the Group is mainly domestic sewage,
they are treated by specific wastewater treatment facilities to ensure
there is no water pollution. The Company has not encountered any
issues in sourcing water during the Reporting Period.

The Group has implemented initiatives to control water consumption
as follows:

° Promote the concept of water consumption among employees
and strengthens the maintenance, inspection and management
of water-consuming equipment for water conservation.

In terms of wastewater treatment, we invested RMB2.08 million in
the construction of an underground integrated wastewater treatment
facility and the wastewater is then used for spraying the coal field
after precipitation in the storage tank according to the “Water usage
standard for dust removal in Port Coal Operations” procedure.
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The Group’s water consumption performances was as follows:

Water consumption

REBHBKERMOT

AKE

Water consumption tonne
ke U

Water consumption intensity tonne/km

(operating mileage)

W, AE
(EEER)

RKZE

Use of Packaging Material
Due to the business nature of the reported segment, we do not consume
significant amount of packaging materials for product packaging.

As cargo volumes grow, it is anticipated that resource consumption
will also rise. To address this, the Group is committed to
implementing a comprehensive suite of energy-saving initiatives.
These measures are designed to curb the escalation of resource use
and enhance the efficiency of various energy sources.

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, its daily business
operations posed no significant adverse impact on the environment
directly. However, the indirect greenhouse gas emissions would
aggravate the phenomenon of global warming. The Group
strives to reduce the indirect impact caused by greenhouse gas
emissions through various measures mentioned in the sections
“ENVIRONMENTAL” and “USE OF RESOURCES”.

The Group endeavors to comply with the applicable environmental
laws and regulations and has adopted effective measures to reduce
wastage. Our employees are fully aware that it is important for the
operation of the Group to minimize the impact on the environment
and natural resources. Our management also closely monitors the
utilities consumption in different offices and encourages employees
to work together to reduce utilities consumption.

Indoor Air Quality

The Group is committed to providing employees with a pleasing
working environment to enhance work efficiency. Due to the
nature of the Group’s business, its employees spend most of their
working time in the office, implying that indoor air quality in the
workplace is of paramount importance. Therefore, indoor air quality
is constantly monitored and improved by the utilisation of several
measures. Such measures include installing air purifiers, cleaning
air-conditioning systems regularly and choosing products with low
or zero volatile organic compounds where applicable. By adopting
these measures, indoor air quality of office was maintained.

We understand that climate change is one of, if not the biggest
challenge for mankind in the 21st century, and low-carbon
production of transportation services is an indispensable solution
to climate risks. As a leading comprehensive transportation
service provider in China, we endeavour to improve governance
performance on climate-related issues and strive to make
substantiate contributions to China’s 14th Five-Year Plan and the
ultimate goal of “carbon neutrality”.
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The Group recognises the importance of the identification and
mitigation of significant climate-related issues, therefore closely
monitors the potential impact of climate change on our business
and operations. In accordance with the reporting framework
developed by the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (“TCFD”), there are two major categories of climate-
related risks, physical and transition risks. During the Reporting
Period, climate-related risks have been embedded into the Group’s
risk register of existing risk management system, and relevant
mitigation measures have also been formulated. The working group
is expected to evaluate different situations and coordinate relevant
environmental measures between different departments, as well as
to report regularly to the Board.

Physical risk

The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather events
such as typhoons, storms, heavy rains, and extreme cold or heat
pose acute and chronic physical risks to the Group’s business.

To minimise the potential risks and hazards, the continuous upgrade
of our monitoring system by adopting the train dispatch and
command system (“TDCS”) allows us to monitor the possible impact
caused by extreme weather events on our facilities and services,
which means Canggang Company would be able to act swiftly and
solve different incidents.

Canggang Company has designed precautionary measures to
handle any potential incidents and risks from climate change. If
an extremely high temperature circumstance occurs, we would
consider shortening the outdoor working hours for the safety of
our employees. Certain amendments in our budget will be made
to make sure items and equipment that are needed to prevent
heat stroke are available. Canggang Company would also conduct
simulation sessions in case of extreme weather every season to
ensure both the employees and the Board are well-prepared for
these potential emergency incidents.

Transition Risks

To achieve the global vision on carbon neutrality, the Group expects
evolution of the regulatory, technological and market landscape due
to climate change, including the tightening of national policies and
listing rules and the emergence of environmentally related taxes.
Stricter environmental laws and regulations may expose enterprises
to higher risks of claims and lawsuits, which might incur additional
compliance costs and affect the reputation of the Group.

In response to the policy and legal risks as well as the reputation
risks, the Group constantly monitors any changes in laws or
regulations and global trends on climate change to avoid cost
increments, non-compliance fines or reputational risks due to
delayed response. In addition, the Group has taken comprehensive
environmental protection measures, including GHG reduction
measures, and has set targets to gradually reduce the Group’s
energy consumption and GHG emissions in the future, in order to
mitigate the impact of such risks.
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Employment

Employees are the fundamentals of the Group and the management
of human capital is a crucial part of Canggang Company. We
implement clear and concise policies are formally documented in
the “Employee Onboarding and Leaving Management Measures”
covering employment, recruitment, dismissal, remuneration, benefits
and development. We review and update the relevant policies
regularly in accordance with the latest laws and regulations.

Canggang Company’s employees comply with national policies,
laws, and regulations for our human resources management and
anti-corruption arrangement, strictly implement the Company’s
safety production management on “Driving Management Rules”,
“Production Section Management Rules” and other related
regulations. We expect a high level of labour discipline from them
and would like them to take care of public properties, including the
eagerness to learn and master the required business knowledge
and skills for their jobs, and the sense of unity and cooperation to
complete different tasks.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group. Such
laws and regulations include but are not limited to the Labour Law
and the Labour Contract Law of the PRC.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

The Group seeks to build an elite workforce by recruiting
outstanding employees. We adhere to the principles of transparent
and fairness to adopt a robust recruitment process based on merit
selection against the job criteria applied. Recruitment of individuals
are based on their suitability for the positions and potential to
fulfil the Group’s current and future needs, regardless of their
race, gender, religion, physical disability, marital status, sexual
orientation, etc.

The Group established “Management Measures for Regularizing,
Transferring, and Promoting Employees” to offers promotion and
development opportunities for outperforming employees through an
open and fair assessment system so as to explore their capability,
assist them on career development and contribute to the Group’s
sustainable growth. Staff performance reviews are carried out
regularly to assess employees’ work performance based on the
principle of meritocracy, talents and competitiveness on an open
and fair basis.
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As of 31 December, 2023, the Group had a total of 666 full-time 2023128310 » ~AEEHLIEE666% 25
employees. The percentage breakdown of the employees was as {EE - {EEBDLLBHMAMT :

follows:

Employees by gender Employees by employment type Employees by age group
REBIESHEED M RERERESHEED M RERERESHEED M
0%

34.23%

7%

26.28%

100% 19.22%

93%
20.27%
H Male W Female B Full Time W Part Time B Below 30 W 31-40
Efid fogk3 3 il 30FA T 312405%
W 41-50 W Above 50
41Z505% 50B%A £
Employees by location Employees by education level
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Employee’s remuneration and benefits

We continue to offer competitive salary package to our employees
based on an open, fair and just salary distribution policy that closely
monitors economic and individual performance. The salary package
is closely linked to the employee’s duties, responsibilities and
performances. We adopt an appraisal system to assess employees’
performances which are seen as the basis of our decisions in
relation to salary adjustments, bonuses and promotions.

We strive to create a warm and caring working environment for
our employees, in which we provide different facilities to help
maintain such an environment. We provide shuttle bus service for
our employees to commute between their homes and the office.
Our Group would also regularly check and replace air-conditioners
and heaters to ensure they are in a suitable condition. Meanwhile,
we make sure that our employees would not be working under
any threats, violence or illegal restrictions on personal freedom.
Our employees could also refuse working engagements if they are
required to work under dangerous operations which could threaten
their lives.

Recruitment process

Our recruitment process follows a standard protocol to make sure
that we provide a fair and equal opportunity for every candidate.
Every department has to submit a recruitment plan for the Board to
review and approve. The Human Resource Department should be
the only department to manage recruitment-related issues, other
departments are only allowed to recommend candidates but are
prohibited to conduct the recruitment process by themselves.

Recruiting through campus, the internet and the open market are
the three predominant ways of our recruitment strategy. Potential
candidates would first have to pass a first-round interview and
would need to provide information such as identification to prove
no criminal conviction, health condition report, and certificates
to demonstrate they are able to fulfill the requirement for certain
technical positions. A background check would be done to ensure
there is no fraudulent information.

All new employees would be provided with sufficient training
sessions to allow them to understand and embrace our standards,
goals and company culture. During their probation period, despite
certain discounted performance bonus, all other treatments are the
same as regular employees.
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Diversity, Equal Opportunity and Anti-discrimination

The Group is committed to creating and maintaining an inclusive
and collaborative workplace culture in which all can thrive. The
Group was dedicated to provide equal opportunities in all aspects of
employment and maintaining workplace that are free from any forms
of discrimination and harassment against any individual on the basis
of race, religion, colour, gender, physical or mental disability, and
age, place of origin, marital status, and sexual orientation.

The Group also has zero tolerance in any forms of sexual
harassment or abuse at workplace. Any employee who is
intimidated, humiliated, bullied or harassed (including sexual
harassment) may report to the employee’s representative, or file
complaints directly to the management representative or the general
manager, and we will take serious approaches to resolve these
issues upon receiving the said complaints.

Dismissal process

Employees that going to leave their posts include: (1) those who
reach the national legal retirement age; (2) those who retire due to
sickness; (3) those who proposed to resign; and (4) those who are
dismissed by our Group. Those who violate any law or regulations
and cause any losses to our Group would have to compensate our
group for the loss. While other employees are going to resign and
retire, a Resignation Notice will be issued and all the procedures
would follow the guideline sets in the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s overall employee turnover
rate was approximately 5.85%*. Figures below present details:

By Gender BB
Male B
Female g3

By Age group 12 G R 48 B
30 years old or below 30 AT
31-40 years old 315k £405%
41-50 years old 4155 2505%
51 years old or above 513 LA £
By Region &t E
Cangzhou M
Others Hty

Notes:

4. Overall turnover rate is calculated by applying the following formula:

Total no. of employee left during the Reporting Period

x 100%
(Total no. of employee at the beginning + Total no. of employee
at the end of the Reporting Period)/2

5. Turnover rate by each specific category is calculated by applying the
following formula:

Total no. of employee left in the specific category during the Reporting Period
x 100%

(Total no. of employee in the specific category at the beginning
+ Total no. of employee in the specific category at the end of the Reporting Period)/2
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On top of a comfortable working environment which we are keen
to establish, a safe working environment is also key for us as we
commit to protecting the safety and occupational health of our
employees.

As mentioned, safety training which includes our safety
management policy, on-site safety measures and emergency
arrangements would be regularly conducted for our employees. We
also adopt several measures to ensure the safety of our working
environment is up to the standard, these include:

—  The monitoring of flammable goods;

—  The establishment of a safety production committee to oversee
the safety production management;

— Organize regular safety activities and training;

-  Ensure staffs have passed safety training and assessment
before they are involved in our freight transportation business;

—  Monthly inspection of our freight transportation;
—  Monthly inspection of freight vehicles and facilities;

- Arrange freight transportation of dangerous materials in
accordance to specified policies; and

—  Documents and perform key inspection of dangerous goods.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with health and safety related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group. Such
laws and regulations include but are not limited to the Labour Law
of the PRC and Production Safety Law of the PRC. Also, no work-
related fatalities or loss of working hours under work injury have
been reported during the Reporting Period. The Group has achieved
zero work-related fatalities in the past three years, including the
Reporting Period.
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We focus on employees’ growth and development as we believe
they are the cornerstone of our daily operation and the key to our
future. We provide different resources with systematic on-the-job
training to support the development of their skills. We hope these
resources would be beneficial for our employees to have sustainable
career development and could improve their work quality, and
hence achieve the developmental goals between Canggang
Company and the employees.
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Safety and the improvement of job skills are the main themes of our
training, we would like our employees to understand the guiding
principle of “safe production” as well as the safety production
guidelines, policies and regulations of different departments. We
also incorporate our analysis of previous and typical accidents or
emergency rescue cases in our training program to prevent these
incidents to happen again. The training program is led by the safety
supervision office with the assistance of the human resources
department.

Furthermore, we provide job skills training to our employees at
different stages to match their work content, which enables them to
understand the culture, history and structure of the Company.
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Administrative management system, business work system and
ethical code of conduct are the predominant topics that we would
like our employees to learn. A wide range of programs has been
offered for these topics, including “Business Ethics Training”,
“Compliance Training” and “International Reporting Financial
Standards Training”.
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During the Reporting Period, we have enhanced our training
programs with the goal of achieving comprehensive participation
among all production staff. This initiative has successfully increased
the proportion of trained personnel. In total, 651 employees
have benefited from this training, which represents 98% of
our workforce. We remain committed to promoting continuous
professional development for our employees by consistently offering
such opportunities. The training records also encompass those
employees who have resigned during the Reporting Period.

employees trained

By Gender &4 Bl
Male B
Female zZ i

By Employee Category ZEEER
Management EEE
Other employees Hinfg g

Notes:

6. The percentage of trained employees by category was calculated by
applying the following formula:

Total no. of employees in the specified category

who took part in training during the Reporting Period X 100%

(Total no. of employee in the specified category at the end of the Reporting Period)

7. Ther average training hours by category was calculated by applying the
following formula:

Total no. of training hours for employees in the specified category

during the Reporting Period
9 poring x 100%

(Total no. of employees in the specified category who took part in training
during the year)

During the Reporting Year, we have organised both internal and
external training courses for employees. Such training courses
cover topics including but not limited to industrial updates and
management ability improvement, compliance matters, occupational
health and safety, etc.

OUR WORKFORCE

During the Reporting Period, it was with great pride that we received
the distinction as the “Excellent Service Brand of Transportation
Enterprises in Hebei Province,” an accolade awarded by the Hebei
Provincial Transportation Association. This prestigious recognition
is a testament to the dedication and superior performance of our
exceptional staff. Such achievements inspire us to uphold and
elevate our service standards, ensuring that we consistently provide
outstanding experiences for our customers.
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Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

We strongly resist the use of any child and forced labour and would
ensure our employment system has no loopholes on this issue. The
Group strictly complies with local laws and prohibits any child and
forced labour employment.

An “Entry Registration Form” would be required for all our newly
employed staff and the personnel department would review their
identity cards and health certificates.

The department would then check whether the content filled is
consistent with the submitted certificates. If any discrepancies are
found, they would be rectified accordingly. In the event that child
labour is found to have been negligently employed, the child worker
would first be suspended immediately. Health checks would then
be arranged as soon as possible when he/she is returned to his/
her parents or guardian. Furthermore, employees of the Group work
overtime only on a voluntary basis to prevent any breaches of labour
standards.

In compliance with the above laws and regulations, we make sure
our Group have established a strict and sound employment system
that would not tolerate any forms of illegal employment, child labour
and forced labour. Thus, during the Reporting Period, and in the
future, we would not use any child labour or forced labour. During
the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with any material noncompliance with child and forced
labour-related laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group. Such laws and regulations include but are
not limited to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Minors,
the Labour Dispute Mediation and Arbitration Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests, the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Disabled Persons, and other
relevant rules and regulations with reference to employment.
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We have maintained a cooperative relationship with a total of 46
suppliers and subcontractors in the Reporting Period. The scope
of their services includes but is not limited to the supply of fuel,
raw materials for infrastructure, telecommunications equipment,
and personal protective gear. Canggang Company would prioritize
suppliers that provide materials that are manufactured within the
Cangzhou region to minimize the environmental impact and carbon
emission due to transportation.
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We share our ESG goals and targets with our suppliers and expect
them to have a high standard for environmental protection as
well. We would ask our suppliers to have environmental protection
measures in their production process, which is one of the indicators
for Canggang Company’s committee to evaluate and choose the
appropriate supplier. We select the suppliers based on the following
criteria:

—  The supplier or subcontractor should be the leading enterprise
in their respective industries, and do not have a conviction
record in terms of violating any environmental requirement as
requested by the authority;

— The products or services that the supplier or subcontractor
provides should be energy-efficient and environmentally
friendly;

—  Suppliers that directly offers product or service would be
preferable to retailer to improve efficiency;

— National enterprises would be more preferred than private
enterprises; and

—  Local enterprises from the Cangzhou region would be preferred
given the circumstance that their efficiency and expected profit
are the same as other enterprises.
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Transportation safety is an issue that our Group always value
as we understand our business of rail freight and road freight
transportation are fundamentally dangerous. We have complied with
relevant laws and regulations by setting up a safety management
organization and engaging safety management personnel. Over the
past three years, encompassing the Reporting Period, there have
been no safety incidents resulting in property damage, nor have
there been any truck-related incidents.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with railway transportation safety related
laws and regulations that would have a significant impact on the
Group. Such laws and regulations include but are not limited to
the Regulation of Railway Safety Management and Implementation
Measures on Administrative Punishment for Violation of the
Regulation on Railway Safety Management. Meanwhile, the
Company had not received any complaints relating to our services.
If we receive any complaints regarding our service, we will address
them as soon as possible and review our procedures to make sure
our customers are satisfied and that their safety is ensured.

We will provide an annual transportation report that documents
our transportation business, voluntary transportation services,
transportation safety conditions and status of other relevant
conditions for the license to the National Railway Administration
before the 31st of March each year.

Safety infrastructure

We continue to upgrade our TDCS with optical communication
cables that directly link with our internal monitoring system,
monitoring systems at different stations, and our servers for
dispatch and command purposes. Through the combination of using
TDCS, GPS, security cameras and radios, we could monitor the
real-time location of trains and centralize the process of dispatch,
loading, and unloading of trains. The system improves the accuracy
of our service and allows Canggang Company to take immediate
action if unfortunate accidents happen.

We have also conducted some upgrade to the fundamentals of
our railway, including our railway track, nearby facilities and the
construction of the culvert, the details of such upgrade are as
follow:

1. Adopt the usage of materials of higher quality in upgrading the
railway track and roadbed, in order to improve the reliability of
the track and stability of transportation.

2. Automatize our blocking system which is previously controlled
by telephones. Such a change could raise the effectiveness of
our operation by shortening the cycle time of operation.

3. Automatize the monitoring system of railway crossings to
ensure the safety of these crossings and to allow our trains to
operate at their highest speed.
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Prevention of Bribery, Extortion, Fraud, and Money Laundering
Over the past years, the Group has always attached great
importance to the prevention and punishment of corrupt behaviours.
Upholding integrity and committed to clean business practices,
we believe that a corruption-free company culture is the key to
the Group’s continuous success. Therefore, we highly value our
anti-corruption work and the creation of a clean system. The
anti-corruption work of the Group mainly adheres to preventive
measures, and advocates a corporate culture of integrity and
honesty, for we strive to create a clean business environment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has strictly complied with
all applicable laws and regulations. The Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with related laws and regulations of
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering that would have a
significant impact on the Group. Such laws and regulations include
but are not limited to the Criminal Law of the PRC, Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the PRC and the Company Law of the PRC.

To improve corporate governance and internal control, and to
promote a clean business culture, we have stipulated a code of
conduct for employees in the “Employee Handbook” that provides
guidelines on acceptable behaviours in the course of business
activities. We adopt a zero tolerance approach against any kind of
illegal behaviour, such as fraud and unjust enrichment, committed
by our staff and third parties for their own gain and at the expense
of the Company. The “Employee Handbook” guides directs our staff
to adhere to business ethics and the principle of integrity.

During the Reporting Period, the Directors and our senior
management staff have received training of business ethics training
in relation to the conflict of interest, common misconduct and
corrupt practices to promote sound corporate governance of the
companies and ensure effective internal controls as well as the
guardian role of company secretaries and related professionals in
safeguarding the interests of different stakeholders. Moreover, we
conducted targeted training focused on reinforcing the principles
of party discipline and integrity for 125 employees during the
Reporting Period. This three-hour session was designed to heighten
their awareness of anti-corruption practices.

Whistle-blowing policy

Our group set up confidential channels to encourage employees to
raise their concerns regarding any suspected conflict of interest,
misconduct and corrupt practice. All reported cases would be
promptly and thoroughly investigated by our independent internal
audit department. They would then be reported to the Board and
the Audit Committee if there is sufficient evidence. Canggang
Company’s confidential channels will keep the reporter anonymous.

If such report represents any criminal offences, Canggang Company
will consult with our legal advisor and report to relevant authorities if
needed.
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We have fostered a robust company culture through internal events
that engage our employees, thereby enhancing their cohesion and
sense of belonging. Canggang Company has vigorously pursued
skill research and development, yielding positive outcomes that
have enabled the enhancement of our railway services and the
automation of road safety monitoring systems. In alignment with our
strategic development goals, the Group is committed to bolstering
societal stability and fostering social welfare consciousness among
its team members.

To this end, Canggang Company has formulated pertinent corporate
social responsibility policies aimed at deepening the understanding
and execution of social responsibility across our workforce. These
policies highlight the Group’s community investment priorities,
particularly in social welfare and environmental protection. We
actively encourage our employees to partake in voluntary service
and fundraising activities, contributing to the betterment of the
community. We believe that participation in charitable initiatives and
volunteerism can significantly mitigate social challenges. During the
Reporting Period, our employees exemplified this spirit of charity
by donating a total of RMB18,870 to the Pok Oi one-day donation
event, which was organised by The Red Cross.

We are also going to start construction projects to build additional
branch lines that extend to Port Huanghua and the northern
Shandong area, as well as new Special Service Lines that allow
Canggang Company to connect extensively with factories, our
existing customers, and any future customers. The construction of
these additional railway lines would intensify our connection with
the community as they would raise more exchange opportunities
within these geographic areas. The advantage of rail freight
transportation in terms of its cost-efficiency, particularly compared
to road transportation, would also drive the development of
these areas. Meanwhile, we would gradually increase the range
of our services as we plan to include more types of cargo in our
transportation service. By transporting cargoes such as coal, ore,
bauxite and chemicals, we could bring positive impacts on the
community’s local development, the building of infrastructure, and
the manufacturing industries.

We will continue to invest in our community and strengthen
our position as a leading and mature enterprise in the railway
transportation market in the Hebei Province.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE
CONTENT INDEX

BRE #HERERBEESIARTRS

Corresponding

Disclosure Description of the disclosure report section
BREER BREERABRHEHL HEREED®
Governance A statement from the Board containing the following BOARD STATEMENT,
structure elements: THE ESG GOVERNANCE
BB STRUCTURE
() a disclosure of the Board’s oversight of ESG issues; EEZ2EMH - RE 4R
EREERE

(i) the Board’s ESG management approach and
strategy, including the process used to evaluate,
prioritize and manage material ESG-related issues
(including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and

(iii) how the Board reviews progress made against
ESG-related goals and targets with an explanation
of how they relate to the issuer’s businesses.

HESSRHNER  EFHETIAE:

() REESSYHRE HERELRSENEE

(i) EBENRE - HERELAEEFHRRE - SFF
fh BRBIIREBEEENRE HERELEES
H(BRERTAERNEAR) WBRE &

(i) ESSNARFNERE  HEREL[ERE RNEE
WiFEZE B RERITARKAER -
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Disclosure

Description of the disclosure

Corresponding

report section

BEEH
Reporting
Principles

&R A

Reporting
Boundary
HEEE

BEENABHL
A description of, or an explanation on, the application of

the following Reporting Principles in the preparation of
the ESG report:

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose:

(i) the process to identify and the criteria for the
selection of material ESG factors;

(i) if a stakeholder engagement is conducted, a
description of significant stakeholders identified,
and the process and results of the issuer’s
stakeholder engagement.

Quantitative: Information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools
used, and source of conversion factors used, for the
reporting of emissions/energy consumption (where
applicable) should be disclosed.

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG
report any changes to the methods or KPIs used,

or any other relevant factors affecting a meaningful
comparison.

B RRERRRR HERELABREKUNMEATI®RE
JRA

EEN RS HBREAREERE

(i) g%%%%%\&Q&E%@%mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ
=R A

(i) WBTACDETENESH CREAINEZEHEN
HIRBITABNESHNBARRER -

Bt FHBSHNE RRER (MER) FANEE 7
o BERR/RFAETANER - URAEANERERERIR
FRIET A E -

— M BTARERE HEREARSTREST HER
ARENERNEMNSESEMEMLEAERLRNEE
ESE

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the
ESG report and describing the process used to identify
which entities or operations are included in the ESG
report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer
should explain the difference and reason for the change.
REBRE HEREARENBREHE  REMLERIER
ARE - HEREARENERIEBNBRE - HREH
EEREE BTABEEBETE2ERSBREE -
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Disclosure
BHEER

A. Environmental
A. RIE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B EE .

Description of the disclosure

Aspect A1: Emissions

BHEA1 : BEY

General
Disclosure

— R =

KPI A1.1
8 8 45 IR A1 A

KPI A1.2
B AN IERAL2

KPI A1.3
BRAMERAL3

KPI A1.4
BRAMIERAL4

KPI A1.5

BRAMERALS

KPI A1.6
BRANIEIRALE

Information on:
(a)
(b)

the policies; and

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BHEERBREREHR  AARIHBHHES BERE
EERYNELD

(@) X K
(b) BTHBTABEARENHEBEIERANNESR -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

BmER R BEEREIE -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

B (SE1) RegREE (E2) RERBHM (LN E)
REE(HER) (WUBESE N BERETEH) °

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,

where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

FELEEEERYAE (UMAE) REE (HER) (1
BEEEN BERRAE) °

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

FFEEEEEEYLAS (UMt8E) REE (HEA) (205
BEESEN BEREAE) °

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

B AR ET AR B B B R T EREGERE B B RA1T8 -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

W RIS B REE RN S L R T AT LAV REE B
BURFERNESEBRBEZENTE -

REBEBRARAR o

HERER®RE

Corresponding
report section

HERE R

ENVIRONMENTAL -
Environmental Protection,
Energy Saving and Emission
Reduction

RERR - BB B

ENVIRONMENTAL - Air
Emissions

RE—BERFEN

ENVIRONMENTAL -
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
RIEREREHERK

ENVIRONMENTAL - Waste
Management
RIR—BREYER

ENVIRONMENTAL - Waste
Management
RE—ERYEE

ENVIRONMENTAL -
Target, Air Emissions

RE—HR BERIER

ENVIRONMENTAL -

Target, Waste Management
RE—BR BEYER
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Corresponding
Disclosure Description of the disclosure report section

HEEFR REERARHEML HERE R

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 : £AER

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including USE OF RESOURCES

Disclosure energy, water and other raw materials. FERER

—RIKE BRERAER (BFEER - KREMESE) BER -

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in USE OF RESOURCES -

BREMISEA2.1  total and intensity. Energy reduction
REAIASNWEER REEEREAKERTE - ERER MR

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. USE OF RESOURCES -

BIREMIEEA22 HBEKERRE - Water Resource

FERER—IKER

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and USE OF RESOURCES -

BASRAEMIEMRA2.3 steps taken to achieve them. _ Target, Energy reduction
?ﬁ%ﬁﬁ‘ﬂ_\i MEREARZEERFARNENEBREEN FRAERBE HIOHEEE
78 -

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing USE OF RESOURCES -

RSB MISEA2.4  water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s). Target, Water Resource

BAMSEAKREIREEMBE  URAKRZEER . FEREFR-BK  KER

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in Use of Packaging Material
AR EMIEZA2.5 tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit (Not applicable — Explained)
produced. FEREEMH
%J@éﬁf‘nﬁﬁﬁﬁ’@i@fﬂ%@é (LW E) REEEEVEE (8 (FTER—EFEHR)
[&] o

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBHEA3 : RERRXRRAER

General Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts THE ENVIRONMENT AND

Disclosure on the environment and natural resources. NATURAL RESOURCES

—RIKE WEBRTABRERARERERERNLENICR - RIERRAER

KPI AS3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on THE ENVIRONMENT AND

B EMIEZA3.1  the environment and natural resources and the actions ~ NATURAL RESOURCES
taken to manage them. RIBERARER

L EBEBHRERRARERNEAZER RN ERE
BB ENTE -
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Disclosure

B EE .

Description of the disclosure

Aspect A4: Climate Change
EEA4 : RIZZ1L

General
Disclosure

—REE

KPI A4.1
B SR AE I 12EAL .1

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.
BAIREHERERAEEHBRITAEELENERRIEHE
BEENEGR -

Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
WAERRARSEHRTAERESENEAREHEESE
REHTE -

B. Social Employment and Labour Practices
B.HEEBREIER

Aspect B1: Employment

EmEB1 : EfE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

HERER®RE

Corresponding
report section

HERE R

CLIMATE CHANGE
RIREZ L

CLIMATE CHANGE -
Physical Risks, Transition
Risks

R C—VERE -
3B = b

General
Disclosure

—REE

KPI B1.1
A 82 4E 5 1EB1 .1

KPI B1.2
B AN IE1EB1.2

Information on:
(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

RSN EE - BEREAN - TESE - BRHA - FTER
gt RERURHEMSERERNN :

(@) BZE R
(b) BFEHRTABEASENHBEERBINESR -

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for
example, full or part-time), age group and geographical
region.

ZHR - BREEE (MERERE) FRANRTEES D
WEEE AR -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

TR FRANRBEZH S WEERKE -

RBEBRARDT -

EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES
— Recruitment, Promotion
and Dismissal
BERERER—BE -BHK

R e

EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES
— Recruitment, Promotion
and Dismissal
EBEER—HBE -BAK

% &

EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES
— Dismissal process

BEESA—MERT
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Description of the disclosure

Disclosure

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
BEB2: RERZ2

General Information on:

Disclosure

—RIBE (a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

ERREZE2IFRERREEERRREMELEN :
(@) BE &
(b) BIFEBTABEAZEWHEBEEZERAHNNESR -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in
each of the past three years including the Reporting
Period.

BE=F (BRBEH BFRITHWARKLR-

KPI B2.1
B A MIEEB2.1

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
BREMESEB22 EIGBAIFAH-
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures

A E M I51EB2.3 adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁm MBERERZ 2R UREABHTRES

Aspect B3: Development and Training

fEEBS3 : 3R R

Corresponding
report section

HERE R

HEALTH AND SAFETY
BERZZ

HEALTH AND SAFETY
RERZE

HEALTH AND SAFETY
BERZZ

HEALTH AND SAFETY,
DEVELOPMENT AND
TRAINING

RERZZ - BRRE

General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills
Disclosure for discharging duties at work. Description of training
—RIEE activities.
FRRAREET IFEBENANBRRENBUER - fliiE
FES o
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and

A& WISEB3.1  employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).
RUEFNRESERN (MSREEE PREEEB)EINZ

JEEBDL °

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

BURIREEENE D  BEEETHZIN T -

KPI B3.2
B AAMIE1EB3.2
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Corresponding
Disclosure Description of the disclosure report section

HEEFR REERARHEL HERE R

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : & T2A|

General Information on: OUR WORKFORCE -
Disclosure Prevention of Child and
—RIFE (@) the policies; and Forced Labour

BMWEI - MLEETIRRE
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that 45 &}
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BEBLEIREHE M :
(@ B3R &
(b) BFHBTATEAZENHEBEERAGINESR -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices OUR WORKFORCE -
AR E M IE1ZEB4.1  to avoid child and forced labour. Prevention of Child and
Bl EEEANERAREETIREEEE - Forced Labour
BPMWEI-MHLEEIR®RA
&8
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices OUR WORKFORCE -
B EMISEB4.2  when discovered. Prevention of Child and
R ERRERBREEREEB R KBNS R - Forced Labour
BMHWEI-BLEEIREHE
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEBS : ftEEER
General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of ~ SUPPLY CHAIN
Disclosure the supply chain. MANAGEMENT
—RIKE FREEHBENREREERAMBOBR g EE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. SUPPLY CHAIN
BRENIEEBS.1 RUMBESHWHEBHE - MANAGEMENT
i EE
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, SUPPLY CHAIN
BAE & MIEEB5.2  number of suppliers where the practices are being MANAGEMENT
implemented, and how they are implemented and HEEEE
monitored.
WAERZREHEEENES BTEANHERHE - U
REBHITRERLE -
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental SUPPLY CHAIN
B EMIEEB5.3  and social risks along the supply chain, and how they MANAGEMENT
are implemented and monitored. g EE
AR A EEEAIRIE R TSR NIES - AR AEE
HITRERGE-
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Disclosure

Description of the disclosure

Corresponding

report section

BEES
KPI B5.4
BASEE M5 1EB5.4

BREERABTHL

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

I E B MR EES ARRER R REHNESH
URHEBHITRERGE -

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

RS R

SUPPLY CHAIN
MANAGEMENT
HEREE

EEB6: EmEE

General Disclosure

— R E

KPI B6.1
8 2 48 M5 1EB6.1

KPI B6.2
BB A M 15 15B6.2
KPI B6.3
Bl & 1A W 15 15B6.3

KPI B6.4
8 2 45 WIS 1ZB6.4

KPI B6.5
B A I 12B6.5
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Information on:
(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling

and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.
FRFREERAIRBNRERZ2 - BS  EBRALE
EEURERFED

(@) BZE R
(b) BFHBRTABEASENHBE LERRINESR -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
EESCEXEMARTEZHRREAMARKNE

il = A

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

EEBERERRBRBENVIRFHE UREHTE -

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual rights.

HHREERRENBEERBNED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

HIEERTRERERDWER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy

policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.

ﬁﬁiﬁ%%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ&ﬂ&%ﬁ% AR BB AT R BB
% o
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TRANSPORTATION SAFETY
- Safety infrastructure
Ehzr-22EHE

Explanation: not suitable due
to the characteristics of the
service the Group provides.
mEER  ERAEERHEN
R4 REA -

TRANSPORTATION
SAFETY
Emzz

Explanation: not suitable due
to the characteristics of the
service the Group provides.
mEaEs ENAEEREEN
RGN FER -

TRANSPORTATION
SAFETY - Safety
infrastructure

BRzr-22EE

Explanation: not suitable due
to the characteristics of the
service the Group provides.
mEER  ERAEERHEN
BRI  REA -
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Disclosure Description of the disclosure
BHEEHR BEERRIHL

Aspect B7: Anticorruption

EBHEB7 : RES

General
Disclosure

—RIEE (a)

Information on:
the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

BERABTIEEREE - R  MFER A REMN
(@) BE &
(b) BFEBTABEAZEWHEBEEZERBAHNNESR -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the Reporting Period and the outcomes of the
cases.
RESHAUBRTARHEEERHYCEENE THRAR
BB RFARER -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

WA EEE R BREF  URBBEATRERTE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.
WROEERETIRENREFTEI -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

KPI B7.1
B S A IS RBT A

KPI B7.2
AR E N IEIEBT.2

KPI B7.3
B8 82 45 WIS 1EB7.3

EHEBS : #E&RA

HERER®RE

Corresponding
report section

HERE R

ANTI-CORRUPTION

ANTI-CORRUPTION -
Prevention of bribery,
extortion, fraud, and money
Laundering

RES - B LLBARE ~ BHAF ~ B
FFRERE

ANTI-CORRUPTION -
Whistle-blowing policy
REF—RBBUR

ANTI-CORRUPTION

General Policies on community engagement to understand the

Disclosure needs of the communities where the issuer operates

—RIEE and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
FREULEBEZERTBBETALEMELENETENRK
HEBZHERLEERZABR

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,

RAEEWIEEB8.1  environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,
sport).

EIEREHE(NHE REFE - SIER RBE X
it-8B8) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus
area.

EEIHEMBAER (WEENKE) -

KPI B8.2
B AMIEEBS.2

REBEBRARAR o

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
HERA

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
HERA

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
HERA
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESTHE

The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023.

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of rail freight
transportation and related ancillary services by operating freight
railway and railway yards.

The Group’s revenue is substantially generated from provision of rail
freight transportation and related ancillary services in the PRC. The
principal assets of the Group are also located in PRC. Accordingly,
no geographical segment information is presented.

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties faced by the Group and an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business, as required by
Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, can be found
in the chapters headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, respectively. This
discussion forms part of this directors’ report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Major customers and suppliers

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the financial year is as follows:

EEGHRE

TEEFRHES
FEMBFENAEETERFREHEEK
HEFRGRBENENNT :

Percentage of
the Group’s total

EAREEAEEI L
Sales Purchases
HERH 2 £
The largest customer BAEF 17.9%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFEGT 56.0%
The largest supplier BRAMER 11.8%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate T REEELES 41.7%

At no time during the Reporting Period have the Directors, their
associates or any Shareholder of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the number of
issued shares of the Company) had any interest in these major
customers and suppliers.

Key Risks and Uncertainties
The following highlights some of the key risks that affect our
business:

Type of risk Description of risk

[ B S A J2R B i 3t

REBESHAEAFEREES - WENBEA
FARXAEMRR (BESHAREFEL LA
BRTROBESNULE) RZETERFR
HEBTEEEMES -

FERRETRERR
UTREEARAEBNETIERARBE

Internal control measures

A BB 1 e

Competition risk Our Canggang Railway Line is directly

55 3 B b extended from the Cangzhou Station
to the Port Huanghua. During the
Reporting Period and up to the date
of this annual report, there are no
alternative routes for air and sea
transportation. Furthermore, due to
pre-existing differentiation by the
function of each railway, there’'s no
direct competition from Shuo-Huang
Railway Line and the Han-Huang
Railway Line within the Cangzhou-
Port Huanghua area. Our Canggang
Railway Line is a local railway operator
with a high degree of exclusivity and
insulation from competition.
AABMABRIDEZERRMNELEHRESR
BB - RBEHARBEAFHRBE > I
EUENRNMERBERLR - It AR
FHRERLFEEZE  WERMNER
BERBERNTFERBPESRBESRN
HERT RABEREESEHMMEAT
THEPFEENL LT EREER o

The Company is operating under the
theme of “Changing ideas, improving
services and opening up markets” since
2020, and established 18 improvement
measures, such as actively coordinating
with local party committees, governments,
the NRA, and the Shuohuang Railway;
actively striving for policy and business
cooperation and support; and further
expanding our ancillary services including
road transportation, freight agency, filtering,
and other new service businesses in the
logistics chain.

BH2020F £ - ADBEN [RBEE - RAR
% BEmE ] WESKEER  WHIE181E
BUERHE - PIME T ER - BT - BIXRER
B RAEEE BB  BBFEBRNZER
BEESE  WE—SREQRNEHBRE -
BIEERER HERE BERYREFH
o3 ELAR A5 75 o
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EEGHRE

Type of risk
[ B R A

Description of risk
L B 4 ot

Internal control measures

A B2l 4 B

Investment risk

RERR

86
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However, in the future development,
such pre-existing differentiation by
function is not legally binding and
there exists certain competition risks
on the Company's business. Since we
rely heavily on the coal transportation
business which accounts for over
60% of our revenue from rail freight
transportation. Therefore, the potential
competitors may harm the Company’s
competitive advantage.

A FEARRBRT - WWHEBI BB
EMWEERORD  BAQAHER])
FE—ENHFERE o ARALD BB K
REAXSR (AEASESREEREE

B60%) - ALEERFHFRIHFEA
DNEWHFED -

In the absence of reliable and relevant
information and feasibility analysis, any
decrease of value or underperformance
of these financial assets may adversely
affect our financial condition or
business prospects.

R A ERABENERM AT TH
BRT  ZEERMEENEETH®RNRE
TMES AT REH RPN I AR R N EH AT R
EETHEE -

In the past few years, we invested
in short-term wealth management
products issued by licensed
commercial banks in China, which
mainly included investment portfolios
covering debentures, asset backed
securities, interbank loans, reverse
purchases and bank deposits.

RBEHF  RMPEREAPEGEEHRE
IRITHITHNENENER  TEBR/RE
BER  EERFES RITEER R
MBERRITERNIREES -
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The Company adopted and implemented an
enhanced internal policy since August 2019
which provides guidelines, requirements
and an approval process with respect to our
treasury investment activities.

RAT H20195F8 B BER 4 K B & R K A
BER  ZBRRHFH A QA ERRETHRM
T3l » REMAERE -

We are only allowed to invest in wealth
management products with low risk as
ranked by the issuing institutions. No
investments can be made on unsecured
debentures, non-principal protected
products based on derivative assets and
products issued by institutions without valid
operating licenses.
RABEAFREBTHREIDABBENE
BEmM  FARENERFGEESR - FRADT
LEEEMURHERNEXH ROBBERT
MEm °
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Internal control measures

A BB 4 B

Business
development risk

EBBREAR

When developing a new business/
route, if the Company fails to
conduct research and analysis on
the service content, site selection or
land acquisition of the new business/
route, the Company may fail to meet
expectations due to insufficient
preliminary planning.
RERIFTERK BEK > MAQXRREYH
HERBENBRBAR - BuSRBihE
ITHER DM AAT A REE E AT HRE
TRMEEEZNFRREE -

Prior to our purchase of any wealth
management products, our securities
investment department is required to
compile a due diligence report providing
the information such as the feasibility of the
investment and an economic analysis of the
investment.

RARBBEEMEMERZAH  ARFHE
ZREVBUARE—DERFAERS » UREH
MRETATHEMNBRELEINEER -

Any investment exceeding RMB20.0 million,
such investment must also be reviewed and
approved by our Board.
SHEEBARB20.0BETHNRENELBE
ESERRIE -

Our securities investment department is
responsible for monitoring the performance
of the invested wealth management
products and ensuring the relevant
contracts are not breached. Any significant
or adverse fluctuation in the invested wealth
management products shall be reported to
our management and appropriate mitigation
actions shall be taken immediately.
BHERENEEEEMREEMNEMNRE
WHEREESOAURERER - REBUER
WHBEFNERRAFKE - BEQAQTE
BRERE - YV RAREUEE WA ERERE o

The Company has continuous communication
with the government and the project leader
to follow up and monitor the progress of the
project.
AABEHBEEABTMEEEEABE - UR
ENEEEANER -

The Company will continue to monitor and
analyze the impact of changes in customer
demand on business/route development,
and reconsider whether the expansion plan
can bring the Company’s expected profit
and customer volume in the original plan
under the condition of changes in customer
demand increase.
RABBFEBEIMD N ETEFREICHER
/B BERNSE  URERFERENNER
T ENZREESIEEALTDATERERET
RPN TESABNEFE -
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Type of risk
[ B R A

Description of risk
L B 4 ot

Internal control measures

A B2l 4 B

Environmental
protection risk
RIR AR

Natural disasters
(including climate

risks)
BARKE
(BRERERR)

88

Canggang Railway Limited e

Any pollutants emission during the
business process, the failure to comply
with the requirements of environmental
protection laws and regulations,
or the activities that endanger the
environment, would increase the risk
of legal liabilities, such as physical
injury to others, property damage,
and punitive damages derived from
violation.

WARBERL RIS E BIZ P HE AR AY )5 1Y)
RERREENERNER  SRBLRE
RIBHES - IR IREEEEENER
B BB ANERASEE - BER
Ko URREBRTAMELZSMLREE -

Natural disasters (such as typhoons,
flooding and earthquakes), epidemics,
acts of war, terrorist attacks, political
unrest and other events, many of which
are beyond our control, may lead to
global or regional economic instability,
which may in turn materially and
adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
BRKE (MR - KERHMZE) ~ RIT
o BFE > RNEE  BURBERHMS
f (S EEERMpreciesl) g8
IR ELBE AR - 1WAl se I HAAI
%E\Mﬁ%ﬁ&@%%%%ﬁik$ﬂ
E’ o

B
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The Company has established “Environmental
and Safety Work Matters”, which has a
number of environmental management
measures related to business.
AABEHE [BRIREZ2TIFSBE] - BF
HAEZHEXBKABNRIRERERR -

The Company uses those fuels that meet
national regulations. Locomotives will also
be regularly repaired and maintained to
ensure that the emissions meet national
regulations.
ARARFFANRRHEFEERRE - RAAT
?E%ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%%$7uﬁﬁmmﬁéﬂ§
FHE °

Dust removal spray equipment is installed
in the station and warehouses; and the coal
stack area is equipped with thatches to
control dust pollution.
RABERBUNMBEERNREREEZRE
WHHERBRHEFEUIZEFHESREER

The Company has established the “Incident
Management System” and “Emergency
Plan”, and has a complete emergency
system and process to guide various
departments to respond to emergency
accidents and disaster relief work on rainy,
snowy roads and severe cold weather.
ARBEHE [BHREEFNE]| kK [E2F
gl > UREAZENESHENRRE  BE&
HFAEBRERAMTERERREEXRTER
THESSZHMPLTE -

The Company conducts safety drills every
season to strengthen the resilience of
employees.

RARBEYSETREERUMNBE THE
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Environmental Policies and Performance

We are subject to PRC national and local laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection, prevention and control of
pollution, and incident reporting. We have obtained all pollutant
discharge permits necessary from the relevant local environmental
protection authority.

We regard environmental protection as an important corporate
responsibility and are dedicated to implementing a comprehensive
environmental protection management system in our daily
operations. Our safety supervision office is responsible for
developing and implementing internal rules and regulations on
environmental protection. We have adopted regulations in respect
of working procedure at various locations including railways and
freight yards to ensure compliance with environmental protection
laws and regulations.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group is subject to various laws and regulations including,
among others, Local Railway Transportation License, Regulations on
Road Transportation, Regulations on Railway Safety Measurement,
Production Safety Law of the PRC, etc, for our industry in PRC.
The Listing Rules also apply to the Company since the Listing
Date. The Group executes control activities and follows the internal
compliance procedures to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations in particular, those bring significant impact
to the Company. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and
regulations will timely be brought to the attention of the relevant
employees and departments.

During the Reporting Period, to the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief on the date of this annual report,
the Company has complied in material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Company.

Relationship with Key Stakeholders

Customers, suppliers, sub-contractors and employees are the key
to our business sustainability and stable growth. We are committed
to establishing a close relationship with our employees, providing
quality services to our customers and enhancing cooperation with
our suppliers and sub-contractors.

Employees

Employees are one of our most important assets. The Group
has been endeavouring to provide our employees with a fair and
harmonious workplace, such that, we maintain a good working
relationship with our employees. The Group grants share options to
those employees to recognise and reward the employees who have
contributed to the Group’s development. We also provide internal
and external training programs to our employees to continuously
improve their skills and knowledge and enhance their understanding
of production safety.
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Customers

We believe that intimating and safety are always the core values
in providing our services to the customers. We are committed
in building strong business relationships with our customers.
We have constructed Special Service Lines owned by such
customers stretching directly into the factories or premises of
these customers from our main railway line, facilitating easier rail
fright transportation. We also offer ancillary services with one-stop
solution in terms of freight transportation to make us more attractive
to new rail freight transportation customers.

Suppliers and subcontractors

We developed a strong working relationship with our suppliers
and subcontractors for our operations. We select suppliers based
on a number of factors, including, among others, history of our
relationship with them, product quality, supply capacity, price
and delivery time. To avoid reliance on any single supplier, we
conduct thorough market research and interview numerous market
participants before actually making any procurement.

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of this annual report.

Operating Segment Information

The Group is principally engaged in provision of services. The
information reported to the Group’s management for the purposes
of resources allocation and performance assessment focuses on the
following two reportable segments.

— Rail freight transportation: this segment provides rail freight
transportation in the PRC.

— Ancillary services: this segment provides freight loading and
unloading services, road freight transportation and other
services in the PRC.

Final Dividend
The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMBO0.6
cent per Share for the year ended 31 December 2023.

As at the date of this report, the Board is not aware of any
arrangement under which a shareholder has waived or agreed to
waive any dividends.
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Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 23(c) to the financial
statements.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the aggregate amount of
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated under the provisions of the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, was RMB554,642,000 (2022:
RMB530,266,000).

The AGM will be held on Tuesday, 18 June, 2024. A notice
convening the AGM will be published and despatched to the
Shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules in due course.

For Determining the Eligibility to Attend and Vote at the AGM

To determine the entitlement of the Shareholder to attend and vote
at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Thursday, 13 June, 2024 to Tuesday, 18 June, 2024 (both
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
all transfer share documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s
branch registrar share in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 12 June, 2024.

For Determining the Eligibility to the Proposed Final Dividend
To determine the entitlement of the Shareholder to receive the
proposed final dividend, subject to the Shareholders’ approval on
the proposed final dividend at the AGM, the register of members
of the Company will also be closed from Monday, 24 June, 2024 to
Thursday, 27 June, 2024 (both days inclusive), during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to
receive the proposed final dividend, all transfer share documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Friday, 21 June, 2024.
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The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Liu Yongliang (Chairman)
Mr. Yi Weiming (CEO)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Xu Zhihua
Mr. Qin Shaobo

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Liu Changchun

Mr. Zhao Changsong

Ms. Lyu Qinghua

Each of executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date and will continue thereafter until terminated by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party
on the other, which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term,
or terminated by payment in lieu of notice.

Each of non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by the non-executive Director to the Company, or with
immediate effect following the notice in writing served by the
Company to the non-executive Director or if there is any breach by
the non-executive Director that has actual or existing impact on the
Company.

Each of independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial fixed term of
three years commencing from the Listing Date and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by the independent non-executive Director to the
Company, or with immediate effect following the notice in writing
served by the Company to the independent non-executive Director
or if there is any breach by the independent non-executive Director
that has actual or existing impact on the Company.
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In accordance with article 84 of the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years. Any Director appointed by the Board pursuant to article 83(3)
of the Articles of Association shall not be taken into account in
determining which particular Directors or the number of Directors
who are to retire by the rotation. Accordingly Mr. Liu Yongliang,
Mr. Yi Weiming and Mr. Qin Shaobo shall retire by rotation, and
being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election as Directors
at the AGM.

Details of the retiring Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set
out in the circular will be sent to the Shareholders in due course.

No Director, including those proposed for re-election at the AGM,
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) which is conditionally approved by a resolution of the
then Shareholders of our Company passed on 16 June 2020. The
terms of the Share Option Scheme are in compliance with the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules effective as of the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.
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The Share Option Scheme is to provide an incentive or reward for
the Grantees (as defined below) for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to give the Eligible
Persons (as defined below) an opportunity to have a personal stake
in our Company and help motivate them to optimize their future
contributions to our Group and/or to reward them for their past
contributions, to attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going
relationships with such eligible persons (“Eligible Persons”) who are
significant to and/or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to
the performance, growth or success of our Group, and additionally
in the case of Executives (as defined below), to enable our Group
to attract and retain individuals with experience and ability and/or
reward them for their past contributions.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Eligible Persons include (i)
any executive director of, manager of, or other employee holding
an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar position in any
member of our Group (“Executive”), any proposed employee, any
full-time or part-time employee, or a person for the time being
seconded to work full-time or part-time for any member of our
Group (“Employee”); (ii) a director or proposed director (including an
independent non-executive director) of any member of our Group;
(iii) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of our Group; (iv)
a supplier of goods or services to any member of our Group; (v) a
customer, consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee,
contractor, agent or representative of any member of our Group;
(vi) a person or entity that provides design, research, development
or other support or any advisory, consultancy, professional or other
services to any member of our Group; (vii) an associate of any of
the persons referred to in paragraphs (i) to (vi) above; and (viii) any
person involved in the business affairs of the Company whom our
Board determines to be appropriate to participate in the Share
Option Scheme.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other scheme of our Group shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as the Listing Date (such
10% limit representing 100,000,000 Shares) (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”). The Board may think fit seek approval from our
Shareholders to refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit, save that the
maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes of our Company shall not exceed 10% of our Shares
in issue as of the date of the Shareholders’ approval.

We may seek separate Shareholders’ approval for granting Options
beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit, provided that the Options in
excess of the Scheme Mandate Limit are granted only to the Eligible
Person specified by our Company before such approval is obtained.
We shall issue a circular to the Shareholders containing the details
and information required under the Listing Rules.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Share Option
Scheme, the maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of our
Group shall not exceed 30% of our Company’s issued share capital
from time to time. No Options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of our Company
if this will result in such limit being exceeded.

No Option may be granted to any one person such that the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of Options
granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period
exceeds 1% of our Company’s issued share capital from time to
time.

An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain open for acceptance
by the Eligible Person concerned for a period of 28 days from
the offer date. An Option have been granted and accepted by the
Eligible Person when the duplicate offer letter is duly signed by the
grantee together with a remittance of HK$1.00 is received by our
Company on or before the date upon which an offer of an Option
must be accepted by the relevant Eligible Person.

The subscription price in respect of any particular Option shall be
such price as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine
at the time of grant of the relevant Option. The subscription price
shall be at least the highest of (i) the nominal value of a Share; (ii)
the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the offer date; and (iii) the average closing
price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five Business Days immediately preceding the offer
date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from the date on which it becomes unconditional on the
Listing Date, i.e. 23 October 2020, after which no further options
will be granted or offered but the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme shall remain in force and effect in all other respects. All
options granted prior to such expiry and not then exercised shall
continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme.

No share options had been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme. As at the date of this annual report, the
total number of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme was 100,000,000, representing 10% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company.

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed above and
the Scheme disclosed below, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or its fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Besides the Share Option Scheme discussed in the above
paragraphs and the Scheme disclosed below, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into during the year or subsisting at the
Reporting Period.
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The Company adopted the 2022 Share Award Scheme (the “2022
Share Award Scheme”) on 28 September 2022 (the “Adoption
Date”). The terms of the 2022 Share Award Scheme are in
compliance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
effective as of the Adoption Date.

The purposes of the 2022 Share Award Scheme are to recognize
the contributions of certain directors and employees of the Group,
certain directors and employees of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company, certain
service providers or other eligible participant(s) and to retain and
motivate them to strive for the future development and expansion of
the Group by providing them with the opportunity to acquire equity
interests in the Company.

Under the rules constituting the 2022 Share Award Scheme, the
individuals eligible for participation in the 2022 Share Award
Scheme (the “Eligible Participants”) include any director and
employee of the Group; any director and employee of the holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of
the Company; or any person who provides services (“Service
Providers”) to the Group on a continuing or recurring basis in the
Group’s ordinary and usual course of business which are in the
interests of the long term growth of the Group whom the Board
believes and in its sole discretion, determines that have contributed
or will contribute to the Group but excluding the following persons:
(i) any seconded employee, part-time employee or non-full time
employee of the Group; (i) any employee of the Group who at
the relevant time has given or been given notice terminating his
employment, office or directorship as the case may be; and (i) any
other person that the Board may determine from time to time.

For the avoidance of doubt, Service Providers should exclude (i)
placing agents or financial advisers providing advisory services for
fundraising, mergers or acquisitions; and (ii) professional service
providers such as auditors or valuers who provide assurance, or are
required to perform their services with impartiality and objectivity.

The Board shall not make any further award of Share(s) (“Awarded
Shares”) provisionally granted to a grantee (“Grantee”) who is an
Eligible Participant as selected by the Board pursuant to the 2022
Share Award Scheme which will result in the number of Shares
awarded by the Board under the 2022 Share Award Scheme
exceeding ten per cent (10%) of the issued Shares as at the
Adoption Date.
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As of the date of this annual report, the total number of Shares
available for granting under the 2022 Share Award Scheme was
100,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the entire issued share
capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date. The maximum
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all awards
and options to be granted under the 2022 Share Award Scheme
and any other scheme of our Group shall not in aggregate exceed
10% of the Shares in issue as the Listing date (such 10% limit
representing 100,000,000 Shares).

Pursuant to the 2022 Share Award Scheme, no award may be
granted to (i) any one person such that the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of award granted and to
be granted to that person in any 12-month period exceeds 1%
of our Company’s issued share capital from time to time; and (ii)
any independent non-executive Director of the Company whose
aggregate interest in the Company reaches 1% or above of the
Shares in issue.

Awarded shares may be acquired by the trustee by way of purchase
of Shares on the Stock Exchange at the prevailing market price
(subject to such maximum price as may be from time to time
prescribed by the Board). No Shares shall be purchased by the
trustee during the black-out period.

Such awarded shares shall then be held by the trustee for the
Eligible Participants in accordance with the provisions of the 2022
Share Award Scheme prior to vesting. The trustee (and its nominee)
shall not exercise any voting rights in respect of any Shares held
by it as nominee or under the trust constituted by the trust deed
(including but not limited to any Awarded Shares, the returned
Shares, any bonus Shares and scrip Shares). The Grantees shall not
have any right to receive any Awarded Shares set aside for them
unless and until the trustee has transferred and vested the legal
and beneficial ownership of such Awarded Shares to and in the
Grantees. The Board may from time to time, during the granting of
award, or at its discretion, determine the earliest vesting date and
other subsequent date(s), if any, in relation to the vesting period.

The 2022 Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years commencing from the Adoption Date but
may be terminated earlier as determined by the Board provided
that such termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any
Grantee hereunder. The remaining life of the 2022 Share Award
Scheme is around eight years and five months.

Details of the 2022 Share Award Scheme are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 28 September 2022. As of the
date of this annual report, no awards or Shares had been granted,
exercised, cancelled, lapsed or subject to any vesting conditions
under the 2022 Share Award Scheme since the Adoption Date.
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Based on the information that is publicly available and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained the minimum public float as required
under the Listing Rules.

The Company has arranged appropriate liabilities insurance to
indemnify the Directors from any liabilities and costs arising from
the business of the Group and the permitted indemnity provision (as
defined in section 469 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for
the benefit of the Directors of the Company is currently in force.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur
or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty.

Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 26 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements. Save for the related party
transactions, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to which the Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an
entity connected with a Director had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the Reporting Period.

Save as disclosed in the chapter headed “Board of Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report, there was no change to
any of the information required to be disclosed in relation to any
Director pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) of
the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Particulars of bank and other loans of the Group as at 31 December
2023 are set out in note 18 to the financial statements.

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 184 of the annual
report.

Particulars of the major properties and property interests of the
Group are shown in the note 11 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Details of the retirement schemes are set out in note 6 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, there was no contract of significance entered into
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, nor there was any contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2023 or subsisted
as at 31 December 2023.

The remuneration paid to and/or entitled by each of the Directors
and the five highest paid individuals for the Reporting Period is set
out in notes 8 and 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Save as Mr. Qin Shaobo waived his remuneration, no other
Director has waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments and
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office during the Reporting
Period.

No contract, other than appointment contracts and employment
contracts, concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the Company’s business was
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, none
of the Directors had any interest in a business other than the Group,
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group, and required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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The net proceeds from the global offering of the Company were
approximately HK$206.4 million (equivalent to approximately
RMB173.7 million), after deducting the underwriting fees and
commission and other related listing expenses paid and payable
by us, which was intended to be applied in the manner as set out
in the section headed “Future Plan and Use of Proceeds” of the
Prospectus. An analysis of the utilization of the net proceeds from
the Listing Date up to 31 December 2023 is set out below:

Revised
Revised allocation of
percentage net proceeds

BNBREPEFREMHEHEERANESRE
AR LTS E  REAATEHRBEWH
BREFEHEANE206.45EEBT (HERHNAR
WA73.7TEHEBE L)  MIRBARERIRRFER
FIBRERAR]|-HFEAEHHA-8LHAH
HR#EE2023F 12831 B IEWFAEREFEEEFR
BRAMAT :

Expected
timeline
for full

Utilized  Unutilized Utiized  Unutilized  utilization"

FiesE
FEH 48R
&3 OS] EEE HABH EEE HREA SEM
Al PEEH 8 8 8 8 BEEERY
At 31 December 2022 At 31 December 2023
20225127318 20235127318

RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
AREEEL AREBET ARKEEnT AREEET AREEER

To construct of our branch line ~ BREREI IXENZE - -

connecting the Northern
Shandong Industrial Park
To construct of our branch line  BRERGFAEZEENZE 405% 704 - 704 19 68.5 2025
connecting the Comprehensive
Industrial Park
Toupgrade and renovating AR BIEBSNERRE 36.5% 63.4 232 40.2 63.4 - -
infrastructure for our Canggang
Railway Line
To purchase one new locomotive B —H#i#e 5.0% 8.6 - 8.6 - 8.6 2026°
To upgrade our communications, H4EH  EXEBIELR 2.5% 44 44 - 44 - -
signal automation, and remote  BEERAS
monitoring systems
To repay of our bank loan BERTER 3.2% 55 55 - 55 - -
To settle amounts payable in ~~ XTBE L #FRENEBEN 12.3% 214 214 - 214 - -
connection with our purchase U8
of land use rights
Total @it 100% 173.7 54.5 119.2 96.6 1.1
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Notes:

1.

The expected timeline for the application of the unutilized net proceeds
is based on the best estimation of the future market conditions
made by the Group. It is subject to uncertainties brought by the
international macro-environment and future market conditions and
business developments and in need. In particular, the schedule of
obtaining the necessary administrative approval from the government
for construction of our branch line connecting the Comprehensive
Industrial Park is still remained unclear as at the date of this annual
report and beyond the control of the Company. In view of the
significant effects to the economy and business environment, we shall
update and re-visit our plan continuously. If there is any further change
to the proposed usage of the net proceeds and/or expected timelines,
the Company will make a further announcement in full compliance with
the Listing Rules as and when appropriate.

We continue to innovate and actively improve our company’s
responsibility to the society. After we compared the classic diesel
locomotive with the new energy locomotive and in view of the
environmental impact of the classic diesel locomotives, in 2022, our
management re-evaluated our plans to purchase a new locomotive
using new energy to ensure that we can improve our operational
efficiency while also making a greater contribution to society. We are
currently in the market research phase, and we plan to order the new
locomotive by the end of 2024. However, due to the long manufacturing
cycle of locomotives (about one year), the use of net proceeds from the
Listing for the purchase of locomotive equipment will be fully utilized in
2026.
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As at the end of the Reporting Period, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and the chief executives in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong, the “SFQ”)), which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or (b) as recorded in the register kept by the Company, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO or (c) otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers were as follows:

Interest in the Company (long position)

RBEHPR  ESRESTHRABRAAFH
HEMBBEEZE (ERRBRBIEHENER
ZREERM (T2 5 RBEERG ) FXVER) B
B HEROREEED  BHEQRERS
RBEMRGIEXVEETR E8D MAHME AR LD
AIRBRXNEERAR (BERERSRS
BERAIBEBHRIXEFIREADFEENERL K
2) Wb BERA QB REFFRHERA
IR FEMNBLMANERRXA » H(c)
BRELTBRTAESETESZRZNRETH
HEARARBIANEERABNT !

RADBRWES (FR)

Number
Name of Director/ Capacity/ of Shares  Percentage of
Chief Executive Nature of interest interested shareholding
R L E
ES BRiTRABRSA a5 EEME R A BFRED
Mr. Liu Yongliang Interest in a controlled corporation™ 657,975,000 65.80%
QIk=EE NEELENER
Mr. Yi Weiming Interest in a controlled corporation® 18,000,000 1.80%
RAEREE NEEEENERO

™ Mr. Liu Yongliang is the sole shareholder of Jinghai BVI and he is
therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Jinghai BVI.

@ Mr. Yi Weiming is the sole shareholder of Greenport BVI and he is
therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Greenport BVI.

102 Canggang Railway Limited e Annual Report 2023

0 BKREEERFUSBVIFME —RE » E KR
BREUBBVIHENRO D ERER -

@  RAEBASELE BGreenport BVIRIIE—RER » Bt
@?ﬁ%ﬁé‘(ﬁreenport BVIFEMRMD P HEEE

= °
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As at the end of the Reporting Period, so far as is known to any
Directors or chief executives of the Company, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company has any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Set out below is the name of the party whose interests and short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
(pursuant to part XV of the SFO) as at the end of the Reporting
Period as recorded in the register kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO:

Interest in the Company (long position)

EEGHRE

REBEEHR  BENESHIELAESTHA
BffA BEEEHUAQNAKRSTHABRE
RAHEEBREE (EXRBSZRBEMRME
XVED) B0 ~ 1B IR S EREEF - HEB(a)
RIS S REEIRGIEXVEPE TR E8 0 H A
ERRARBIANERR AR (BEREE
ZRAERPIBEKRIXEFRWRD TR NE
BmRAR) - R(0)RIEE R HE R 56352
IRZAZAE R0 IR 2R P is B9 2 5C i 70 A9 4 2 30K
B ROBRBEEEFAAS AR A RERA
MEmRAR -

TXHIIRBEHRERD B RO REERG
(RIEEF RPAERGIEXVE) & - EHRHER
RRABREBEF SR BERGIEIBIREAFEDN
BRMANEERARNEREME

RADTRWES (FR)

Number of Approximate %

Name Nature of interest Shares of shareholding
wE LB EEME RGOBA BRBEN %
Jinghai BVI Beneficial owner 657,975,000 65.80%
FUEBVI BRBEBA
Mr. Liu Yongliang® Interest in a controlled corporation 657,975,000 65.80%
Bk HED REZELENER
China Life Insurance Interest in a controlled corporation

(Group) Company® 58,878,000 5.89%

TEASRE (£E) 27O REZZENEDS
™ Mr. Liu Yongliang is the sole shareholder of Jinghai BVI and he is
therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Jinghai BVI.

@ China Life Insurance (Group) Company exercises more than 50% of
voting right at the general meetings of China Life Insurance Asset
Management Company Limited, China Life Insurance Company
Limited and China Life AMP Asset Management Company Limited and
it is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by these
controlled entities.

O BKREEERTUSBVIFE — KRR » E KR
ARUEBVIEAENRO T EEER -

@ HEASRE(EE) DATEFEAASEEE
BARAAE PEAASREROERAIARE
EZRESEEBRARNRRAS LBBE50%
WIRERE ALK RARZSEHNERSAN
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Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the Reporting Period,
no other persons had any interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, or which would
fall to be disclosed under Part XV of the SFO.

At no time during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

The Group established the Remuneration Committee to review
and make recommendation to the Company’'s emolument policy;
review and approve performance based remuneration by reference
to corporate goals and objectives; and to determine the terms of
the specific remuneration package of each executive Director and
senior management. Details of the Directors’ emoluments and five
individuals with the highest emoluments are set out in notes 8 and 9
to the Consolidated Financial Statements respectively.

The Company has also adopted a share option scheme as incentive
to eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in the
section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” above. No share
options had been granted under the Share Option Scheme since the
adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

Details of material related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in note 26
to the Consolidated Financial Statements, none of which constitutes
a material connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction as required to be disclosed under Rule 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of Cayman lIslands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

The Controlling Shareholders have given written declarations and
have confirmed, to the Company that they have complied with the
non-competition undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition
during the Reporting Period. The Controlling Shareholders have
also confirmed in the declarations that they have no interest in any
business apart from the Company which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business during
the Reporting Period.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status
of compliance with the undertakings by the Controlling Shareholders
and confirmed that they were not aware of any non-compliance
of the non-competition undertakings under the Deed of Non-
Competition, and are satisfied that such undertakings had been duly
enforced and complied with during the Reporting Period.

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implication of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation to, the Share of the Company, they are advised to
consult an expert.

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the
Company.

The Shares were listed on Stock Exchange on 23 October 2020,
and there has been no change in auditors since the Listing Date.
KPMG will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at
AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Yongliang
Chairman
Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
18 M 2 B AR

KpME

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Canggang
Railway Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Canggang
Railway Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 112 to 183 which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended and notes, comprising material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on this matter.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B M % BLAT RS

Revenue recognition in respect of rail freight transportation services

FHEREERK W REER

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 138.

FEHGE S TBEIRAN TR BRE 138 HIE 5T BUE °

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RMNBTNMEERRSER

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of rail
freight transportation and related ancillary services by
operating freight railway and railway yards.
EEENTEXRAZRRCEEEERREEAESIEE
HEREEREBHBRY -

Revenue from provision of rail freight transportation
services amount to RMB244 million and account for
70% of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
December 2023. Revenue are recognised when the rail
freight transportation services are rendered and the
enforceable rights to payments are obtained.
RERMHBKREBERB K E AR ®244,000,000
T EEEEZE2023F12A31BEFERARFEN
70%) o W MR HHE K EERB LS AREIBITHN
HYRERI B HE SR ©

We have identified recognition of revenue for rail
freight transportation services as a key audit matter
as revenue is one of the key performance indicators of
the Group which give rise to an inherent risk that the
revenue for rail freight transportation services could be
recorded in the incorrect period or could be subject to
manipulation to meet financial targets or expectations.
EMEXSEREREERBNNEERER HERET
=215 REARWESA SEEET-BIZHWESR X
SEYEREGERBRBENRERBBARIZIRIZEE
% B ESBHENEE R o

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition in
respect of rail freight transportation services included the
following:
ﬁg%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ&%‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ@H&ﬁ?&ﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂ%%ﬁi%@?ﬁu
T&IE :

Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of the Group’s key internal controls over
recognition of revenue for rail freight transportation
services;

THRRFIE EEEARERIAEREERBTWENEG
BAMEFORT - BTREFEBEHRN

Inspecting service agreements signed with
key customers of the Group for rail freight
transportation services, and assessing the
revenue recognition criteria with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

BREMREREEREE SXEETFEXFEITNRYE
% - WS REA S ER MR E TR R

Comparing, on a sample basis, the revenue for
rail freight transportation services with underlying
documentation, which included service agreements
with the customers, sales invoices issued to the
customers, rail freight delivery notes confirmed by
the customers, to determine whether the related
revenue had been properly recognised;

MBS HEEEERBTVREABNY (BRERF
RIMHREHZE OEFHANEERE  URER
FEANEBREERNER)  UEBEEHBEVRERSE
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

FAEETEE ()

Revenue recognition in respect of rail freight transportation services

B RSN SRS A W R

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 138.

FRHGR S TBEIREN Z4R BRE138E KB 5T BUE °

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEEITER BEMNETNANEERRSEE

Obtaining audit confirmations, from the key
customers of the Group in relation to the revenue
of rail freight transportation services recognised
by the Group during the year. For unreturned
confirmations, performing alternative procedures by
comparing details of the transactions with relevant
underlying documentation;

B EEETFAEIEREERE RGN SKE
FTEEFNEEFTARRK RABEEBNHAERM
5 AT HARFHE RS HERE RN ERE

Assessing, on a sample basis, whether revenue
transactions for rail freight transportation services
recorded around the financial year end had been
recognised in the appropriate financial period
by comparing details of these transactions with
relevant underlying documentation; and
UBABER ZRHLERUBELEBNEARNE
REBRBRERZNFFEEENAE Y T
FRARGRERAEVBPBERR R

Inspecting underlying documentation for
journal entries relating to revenue of rail freight
transportation services which were considered to
meet specific risk-based criteria.

MR AR EEREWSEARL R RABFTSHERR
2RI A9 A BRAC SR O AR BA ST AF o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

B Z AR E

ESTUHAMEEAEE -HUFEERENER
FRANZBES  ETEBRERFSUHRERR
B WRBET RS -

EMUGAVBHBRNVBRLFREHMRE
B BAFTHZEEMEERREMEAN
EXRE® -
REMEGESUBHRRNESANS - RANE
ITRBEAEMES  LHELBRES  ZEHAM
EERREGAMBRRIFRMEETBESD
FRTBNBERFEEREBRELTFFEEX
SEER PR AL B BOR o

ERBEFMECSHTHINF  RRFAASZEM
EEFEEXNGERRIL  XAFTEREZS
E-HELE  BfIRBMEMKRSE -

BB mESTEREBQAKRONIKER
ERBEEREMT NS BIRE  AHHR
AREEEMBRENEBIFEARRTFR
HRM B MM ERERRAAMFENRIESE

& o

ERERSUBRBRRE ES8HFE &5
ESECENED  STEERBRTRERR
BREAENSE  UREABELERST
Bt BRIEZARE SEREFBIFLE
£ HHBHEMERNERTR -

ERZESWHESETEE SEENUB
REBENEE-
REHBERAT e 2023FEF%H 109



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheung Tsz Chung.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

27 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

z'_T_— 215 >4 43’%
e I2Hm

for the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”))

# 220235126316 1L F &
(UARM (AR FT)
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MiEE AR®T T ARET T
Revenue & 4 349,048 333,430
Operating expenses: RERX
Staff costs B IR 6(b) (57,106) (67,599)
Outsourcing service charges and other /MERIENE K
labor costs H{ih 25 &) A (56,207) (36,362)
Cargo logistics EEYR (26,080) (30,785)
Depreciation e 6(c) (36,494) (38,063)
Fuel used Fr AR (25,536) (32,832)
Repairs and maintenance HIERRE (11,586) (13,581)
General and administration expenses —BRITHEX (11,496) (11,698)
Impairment (loss)/reversal of trade B 5 R IBRE
receivables (FBE) &E 24(a) (292) 272
Other expenses Hp X (19,503) (8,297)
Total operating expenses RE AT (244,300) (238,945)
Other income HAb A 5 4,798 21,899
Operating profit wEER 109,546 116,384
Finance costs L& AR 6(a) (24,868) (24,407)
Share of loss of an associate FEfh —EEtE A RS 1E - (845)
Profit before taxation BR B A ER Al 6 84,678 91,132
Income tax PR %t 7(a) (26,112) (23,209)
Profit for the year FEBH 58,566 67,923
Attributable to: AT FEAg :
Equity shareholders of the Company AARERRKR 58,978 68,076
Non-controlling interests IR R (412) (153)
Profit for the year FERF 58,566 67,923
Earnings per share (RMB) BRERN (AR¥T)
- Basic and diluted —HARHE 10 0.06 0.07

The notes on pages 120 to 183 form part of these financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ek EMEZEKRER

for the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in RMB)

B F2023F 12531 H 1L FEF

(U B¥57)

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTT

Profit for the year FEER 58,566 67,923
Other comprehensive income for the year FEHM2EKE
(after tax): (BRBi1Z) :
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to HETWREEHFLES
profit or loss: BEWIER
- Exchange differences on translation into —“REATEEZINERRE
presentation currency of the Group EEWNEREZSE 524 (1,337)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZHKNZEE 59,090 66,586
Attributable to: BT FEAG
Equity shareholders of the Company RABERBRR 59,502 66,739
Non-controlling interests FERER (412) (153)
Total comprehensive income for the year FE>HEHWRELE 59,090 66,586

The notes on pages 120 to 183 form part of these financial £5120F183E MM sF# KX AR B R & A — 3P
statements. oo

REEKERAT o 2023EF%H 113



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI &R
wh 1 ~ /.

at 31 December 2023

(Expressed in RMB)

20235128318
(UAR#5F)
2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FT AR¥T T ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- MERZE 11 787,164 769,934
Right-of-use assets FEAEEE 12 184,204 188,534
Interests in an associate R—EBEQTNERS - 7,314
Deferred tax assets ELEMIEEE 22(b) 6,381 5,793
Prepayments and other receivables FERIE R H A EEWRIE 16 5,671 2,062
983,420 973,637
Current assets REEE
Inventories 7E 14 56,096 47,941
Trade and bills receivables EHEWNFER EWREE 15 71,356 83,345
Prepayments and other receivables FESFRIR R H R K18 16 102,719 20,240
Cash and cash equivalents BENIRESEEER 17 112,392 193,802
342,563 345,328
Current liabilities REAE
Bank and other loans RITREMER 18 202,073 184,773
Trade payables g 5 EARIE 19 19,498 27,589
Other payables Hth B FRIR 20 23,903 29,158
Contract liabilities BHEE 21 7,113 2,377
Current taxation B ERFR 18 22(a) 7,632 13,812
260,219 257,709
Netcurrentassets =~~~ #*B®E¥&E 82,344 87,619
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERRBERS 1,065,764 1,061,256
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Bank and other loans RITREMER 18 290,683 272,639
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 290,683 272,639
NET ASSETS EERE 775,081 788,617

The notes on pages 120 to 183 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BRI R

at 31 December 2023
(Expressed in RMB)

JR2023412531H

(U R¥5TF)

2023 2022

20234 2022%F

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

B ARBT T ARBTT

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#E 23

Share capital [N 8,607 8,607

Reserves i 737,344 750,468
Total equity attributable to equity RATEZREREN

shareholders of the Company REBERE 745,951 759,075
Non-controlling interests FEfE PR RS 29,130 29,542
TOTAL EQUITY M 775,081 788,617

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on 27 R2024F3F27AEHESSH AR IFRET -
March 2024.

Liu Yongliang Yi Weiming
2k 5= KA B
Chairman Director
EFETE EE

The notes on pages 120 to 183 form part of these financial 120X 183H M2 48 A 7~ B %5 3R = (9 — 2P
statements. D
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in RMB)

B Z2023F 12531 H IEFE
(UA R HBZ7F)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
KRAEERREL
Share held for Safety Non-
Share Share Other  share award Statutory  production  Exchange Retained controlling
capital premium reserve scheme reserve  fund reserve reserve profits Subtotal interests  Total equity
Rt mE 33
Ba  REEE  EfEE  FERE  iEER  EeRE  EXRE  RER Mt FERER fER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  AR¥TR ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR ARETn ARETR
Note3c) — Now2dd))  Mote23)i) — (Note23f)  Wote2didfii))  Note23efy) — Mote23(a))
(Wa2ge)  (WEaaey) (W) W) (WEeh)  (WEe) (WE0)
At1 January 2023 202351818 8,607 107,871 97,830 (49,916) 72,855 - (8,438) 530,266 759,075 29,542 788,617

Changes in equity for the year  EiZ2020512331 R L £
ended 31 December 2023 HERSE:

Profit for the year EERA - - - - - - - 58,078 58,078 (1) 56,566

Other comprehensive income~~ £f2EE - - - - - - 54 - 524 - 54
Total comprehensive income ~~ 2HUEAE - - - - - - 54 58,078 50,502 (12 50,000
Appropriation to reserves BAzfE - - - - 6,602 - - (6,602 - -
Safety production fund reserve ~ R24EESHE

- Appropriation - - - - - - 2,885 - (2885) - -

- Utilization -8A - - - - - 2,885) - 2,885 - -
Dividends approved inrespect 1L - EEHARE

of the previous year - - - - - - - (28,000 28,000) - 28,000
Purchase of own share EABSRA - - - (44,626) - - - - (44,626) - (44,626)
At 31 December 2023 1A2023E12R31 R 8,607 107,871 97,830 (94,542) 79,457 - (1914 554,642 745,951 29,130 775,081

The notes on pages 120 to 183 form part of these financial 25120F183E MM T HE R AT B HRE A — 3P
statements. 7 e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in RMB)

B F2023F 125310 IE FE
(AN E#S )
Atributable to equity shareholders of the Company
KLRRERREL
Share held for Safety Non-
Share share award Statutory ~ production Exchange Retained controlling Total
Share capital premium  Other reserve scheme reserve  fund reserve Teserve profits Subtotal interests equity
RitREHE RR4E

BE REGEE  RERE  FERE  tEBE  ESRE  ENRE  REW Mt FERER 9BE
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETRL  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  AR¥TR ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR ARETn ARETR
Note3c) — Now2dd))  Mote23)i) — (Note23f))  Wote2didfii))  Note23ly) — Mote231a))

(hazsp) (2o (Een)  (Ep)  (BEz)  (WEzom)  (BE2ad)

At 1 January 2022 H022F1A18 8,607 140,357 97,830 - 65,060 - (7,101) 469,085 74,738 29,695 804,433
Proft forthe year EEEA - - - - - - - ROE 6T 5 6w
Other comprehensive income ~ 62 Bl & - - - - - - (1,337) - (1337) - (1,337)
Total comprehensive income ~ 2EUELE - - - - - - (1,337) 68,076 66,739 (153) 6,586
Appropriation to resenves AR ERE - - - - 6,895 - - (6,8%) - -
Safety production fund reserve. %24 EESHRE

- Appropriation -BR - - - - - 2,880 - (2,880) - -

- Utilization -8f - - - - - 2,880) - 2,880 - -
Dividends approved i respect 3.t ~EEHERE

of the previous year - (32,486) - - - - - (32,486) - (32,486)
Pucaseotomnshe EAESER - - (w919 ; ; - - (gt - g
At 31 December 2022 120225127331 B 8,607 107,871 97,830 (49,916) 72,855 - (8.438) 530,266 759,075 2954 788,617

The notes on pages 120 to 183 form part of these financial 581202 183E WM FE#E R AN Bt F R 49 — 20

statements. ol
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

GEREeRER
malREn=E

for the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in RMB)

# 220235125316 1F FE
(UAR#5T)
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M AR T ARETT
Operating activities RESES
Profit before taxation BRER AT R A 84,678 91,132
Adjustments for: PMUT BIB/EFE
Depreciation e 6(c) 38,237 38,063
Impairment losses/(reversal) of trade Z 3 EWFIBRERE,
receivables (#mE) 24(a) 292 (272)
Impairment losses of inventories FERERE 3,000 -
Finance costs R E A 6(a) 24,868 24,407
Interest income FEUWA 5 (3,489) (2,673)
Net (gains)/losses on disposal of HEWE - BERKREBN
property, plant and equipment (k=) EBERFE 5 (902) 1,544
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of an HE—EEE QTN
associate Eia (W) F5 5 167 (75)
Share of loss of associates BiLEE RABINEE - 845
Changes in working capital: EEESEE
Increase in inventories FEEM (11,155) (42,356)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills BEZRWHREREWRERE
receivables, prepayments and other FEAREREMEWRRIE
receivables (gm) E D (41,709) 15,203
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables BRI RERHMEMNRK
and other payables H (R A) /18 (12,367) 3,308
Increase/(decrease) in contract aHNEE
liabilities #in, GH) 4,736 (124)
Cash generated from operations REFBEE 86,356 129,002
Income tax paid 2MEH 22(a) (32,880) (21,347)
Net cash generated from operating RETBHMERSFE
activities 53,476 107,655
Investing activities REEH
Payments for purchase of property, plant BEY% - MERRER
and equipment and right-of-use assets {# AEEENNTRK (56,011) (64,511)
Payment for a loan to a third party mE=HERNAR (29,000) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BMERRE
plant and equipment Fri8RE 4,094 5,435
Proceeds from liquidation of an associate — BB &  5);5 B A FTi5 FUE 3,862 -
Proceeds from disposal of an associate & — RBEtE A R FTEFUE 1,300 -
Interest received SISt 3,307 2,673
Net cash used in investing activities REZEHMARSFE (72,448) (56,403)

The notes on pages 120 to 183 form part of these financial

statements.

7]
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
GEEERER

for the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in RMB)

B F2023F 12531 1L FEF

(UAR¥55)

2023 2022

20234 2022%F

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Byt ARBTT ARBTT

Financing activities RESEE
Proceeds from new bank and FIBRITREMERD

other loans PR 508 17(b) 221,000 296,500
Repayments of bank and other loans BERTREMER 17(b) (186,663) (209,090)
Borrowing costs paid [SESREE/IDF 17(b) (24,861) (24,342)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of BAATERZBRERE

the Company (27,370) (31,755)
Payment for shares purchased in respect 7R {758 Bzt 2188 AR5 HY

of the share award scheme INEN (44,626) (49,916)
Net cash used in financing activites REZBIAREFR (625200 (18,603)
Net (decrease)/increase in cashand RERRELZEER

cash equivalents CR4) i (81,492) 32,649
Cash and cash equivalents at MB1ENEER

1 January Re&EEER 193,802 160,794
Effect of foreign exchange rate EREFHWE

changes 82 359
Cash and cash equivalents at R12A31ENEER

31 December B4 ZEEM 17(a) 112,392 193,802

The notes on pages 120 to 183 form part of these financial %120 183H& 19 MI £ #8 5 25 B 7% 2R % (9 — 2P
statements o

o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

Canggang Railway Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands on 19 October 2018 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands. The shares of the Company were listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 23 October 2020. The Company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision
of rail freight transportation and related ancillary services by
operating freight railway and railway yards in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”).

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable IFRS Accounting
Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term includes all
applicable individual International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “lIASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments
to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the
Group’s interest in associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis(see note

2(f).
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(b)

(c)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
IFRSs, issued by the IASB to these financial statements for
the current accounting period:

e |[FRS 17, Insurance Contracts

e Disclosure of Accounting Policies — Amendments to
IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

e Definition of Accounting Estimates — Amendments to
IAS 8

e  Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction — Amendments to IAS 12

e  International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules —
Amendments to IAS 12

None of these developments have had a material effect
on the Group’s financial performance and financial
position for current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

(b)

(c)

REBEBRARAR o
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date on which control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses (except for foreign currency
transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI”) either
at fair value or at the NCI’s proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in
the consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. NCI in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between NCI
and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of NCI and other contractual obligations towards
these holders are presented as financial liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position in accordance
with notes 2(n), or (o) depending on the nature of the
liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary is measured at
fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(i)(ii)), unless it is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group classified as held for
sale).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(e) Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant
influence, but not control or joint control, over the financial
and operating policies

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale(or
included in a disposal group classified as held for sale).
They are initially recognised at cost, which includes
transaction costs. Subsequently, the consolidated financial
statements include the Group’s share of the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income(“OCI”) of those
investees, until the date on which significant influence
ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method,
together with the Group’s long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate, after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable(see note 2(i)(i)).

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is no
evidence of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in an associate is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(i)), unless it is classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group classified as
held for sale).

(e)
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(Br 5 BEBHI  UARIEST)

(f)

Other investments in securities

The Group’s policies for investments in securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries and associates, are set
out below.

Investments in securities are recognized/derecognized
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs are recognized
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see
note 24(e). These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification.

(i)  Non-equity investments

Non-equity investments are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

- amortized cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Expected credit losses, interest income
calculated using the effective interest method
(see note 2(s)(ii)), foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain
or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit or
loss.

- FVOCI - recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognized in profit or loss
and computed in the same manner as if the
financial asset was measured at amortized
cost. The difference between the fair value and
the amortized cost is recognized in OCI. When
the investment is derecognized, the amount
accumulated in OCI is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

- FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortized cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognized in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Other investments in securities (continued)
(i) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL, unless the investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition the Group makes
an irrecoverable election to designate the investment
at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent
changes in fair value are recognized in OCI. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets
the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective.
If such election is made for a particular investment,
at the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings and not recycled through profit
or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognized in profit or loss as
other income.

(g) Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The following items of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are stated at cost, which
includes capitalized borrowing costs, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses (see note 2(i)(ii)):

- items of property, plant and equipment; and
- interests in leasehold land held for own use.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in profit or loss. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified to profit
or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment less their
estimated residual values, if any, using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally
recognised in profit or loss.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(g) Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

(h)

126 Canggang Railway Limited e

(continued)

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative
periods are as follows:

— Leasehold land is depreciated over the unexpired term
of lease.

- The Group’s interests in buildings and other
properties situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
the buildings and other properties’ estimated useful
lives, being no more than 50 years after the date of

completion.
—  Tracks, bridges and other railway 30 - 95 years
assets
—  Locomotives and rolling stock 16 years
- Motor vehicles 5 -8 years
—  Machinery and equipment 5-10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.

(i) As alessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component for all
leases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(h) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognizes a right-of-use asset (see note 2(g)) and a
lease liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-
value items, such as laptops and office furniture.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value item, the Group decides whether to
capitalize the lease on a lease- by-lease basis. If
not capitalized, the associated lease payments are
recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease liability is
initially recognized at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortized cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability, and are charged to
profit or loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognized when a lease
is capitalized is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying assets or the site on which it is located,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-
use assets is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
notes 2(g) and 2(i)(ii)), except for the following types of
right-of-use assets:

— right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are carried at fair value; and

— right-of-use assets related to leasehold land and
buildings where the Group is the registered owner
of the leasehold interest are carried at fair value;
and
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(h) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for
separately from the right-of-use assets in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to investments
in non-equity securities carried at amortised cost
(see notes 2(f)(i), 2(s)(ii) and 2(i)(i)). Any excess of the
nominal value over the initial fair value of the deposits
is accounted for as additional lease payments made
and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, if there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the
Group changes its assessment of whether it will
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is
a lease modification, which means a change in the
scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract, if
such modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case, the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term
using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification. The only exceptions are rent
concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions
set out in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 Leases. In such
cases, the Group has taken advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent concessions
are lease modifications, and recognised the change
in consideration as negative variable lease payments
in profit or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities
is determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(h) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property in “Right-
of-use-assets” and presents lease liabilities within
bank and other loans in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (ECLs) on the financial assets
measured at amortized cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, trade and bills receivables, other
receivables and amounts due from related parties) and
contract assets.

Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject
to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls between
the contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and bills
receivables, other receivables and contract
assets: effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(Br 5 BEBHI  UARIEST)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which

the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

12-month ECLs: these are these are the portion
of ECLs that result from default events that are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting
date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months); and

lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected lives
of the items to which the ECL model applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which
are measured at 12-months ECLs:

financial instruments that are determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date; and

other financial instruments for which credit
risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the
expected life of the financial instrument) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when measuring ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment,
that includes forward-looking information.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk is performed on either an individual basis or a
collective basis. When the assessment is performed
on a collective basis, the financial instruments are
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,
such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognized as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognizes an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognized in accordance with note
2(s)(ii) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on the amortized cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
such as a default or

- a breach of contract,
delinquency in payments;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;
or

— significant changes in the market, economic or
legal environment that have an adverse effect on
the debtor.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognized as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its non-financial assets (other than
property carried at revalued amounts, investment
property, inventories and other contract costs,
contract assets and deferred tax assets) to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
cash-generating units (“CGU” s). Goodwill arising
from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated
future cash flows, discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount.

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.
They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to
reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the
CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the resulting carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortization, if no impairment loss had been
recognized.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)
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Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held in the form of
materials or supplies to be consumed in the rendering of
services.

Inventories are stated at cost and are recognized as
expenses in the year in which the consumption occurs.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realizable value.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognized when the Group recognizes
revenue (see note 2(s)) before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under terms in the
contract. Contract assets for ECLs (see note 2(i)(i)) and
are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see note 2(l)).

A contract liability is recognized when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognizes
the related revenue (see Note 2(s)). A contract liability is
also recognized if the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration before the Group recognizes the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognized (see note 2(l)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see note 2(s)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, and only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a
significant financing component and other receivables are
initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. All
receivables are subsequently stated at amortized cost(see
note 2(i)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

(n)

(o)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, property pre-sale proceeds held by solicitors
that are held for meeting short-term cash commitments,
and other short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL(see note 2(i)(i))-

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortized cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense is recognized in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note 2(u)).

The Group entered into the arrangements with the
financial leasing institutions in which the Group sold
certain equipment to these institutions and then leased
back with scheduled lease payments. The Group has
an option to buy back these equipment at a token price
at the end of the lease term, i.e. the bargain purchase
option. Considering that the bargain purchase option is
set at a token price, it is almost certain that the Group
would exercise such option. Such arrangements do not, in
substance, involve a lease under IFRS 16. The substance
of these arrangements are interest-bearing borrowings,
secured by the underlying assets and repayable in
installments over the lease term. The information of the
underlying assets and the secured loans are disclosed in
notes 11 and 18.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(p)

(a)

136 Canggang Railway Limited e

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive
income.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect
of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected
to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax
also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised
for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the
extent that the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future;

- taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development.
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(a)

(r)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income tax (continued)

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which they can be used. Future
taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of
relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of
taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise
a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits,
adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences,
are considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability
of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognized when the
underlying products or services are sold, based on
historical warranty data and a weighting of possible
outcomes against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the expected net cost of
continuing with the contract, which is determined based on
the incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation under that
contract and an allocation of other costs directly related
to fulfilling that contract. Before a provision is established,
the Group recognizes any impairment loss on the assets
associated with that contract.

(a)

(r)
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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(s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognized for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognized for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the provision of services in the ordinary course
of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognized when control over a service is
transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer
for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognized under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient in IFRS 15
and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of financing is
12 months or less.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(s) Revenue and other income (continued)

Further details of the Company’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i)  Revenue from provision of rail freight transportation
and related ancillary services

Revenue from provision of rail freight transportation
and related ancillary services are recognized when
the services are rendered and the enforceable rights
to payments are obtained. If the services rendered
are a partial fulfilment of a contract covering other
services, then the amount of revenue recognized is an
appropriate proportion of the total transaction price
under the contract, allocated between all the services
promised under the contract on a relative stand-alone
selling prices basis.

(i) Interest income

Interest income is recognized as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial assets to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. For financial
assets measured at amortized cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate
is applied to the amortized cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note

2(i)(@)).-
(iii) Government grants

Government grants are recognized in the consolidated
statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognized as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and consequently are effectively recognized in profit
or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of
reduced depreciation expense.
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®

(u)

(v)

140 Canggang Railway Limited e

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based
on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign
currency differences are generally recognized in profit or
loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the reporting
date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognized in OCI and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the extent
that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiy is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.
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(v)

(w)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of services, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

Note 24 contains information about the assumptions and their
risk factors relating to fair value of financial instruments. Other
significant sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

142 Canggang Railway Limited e

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, after taking into account the
estimated residual values, if any. The Group reviews the
estimated useful lives and residual values, if any, of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
regularly in order to determine the amount of depreciation
expense to be recorded during any reporting period. The
determination of useful lives and residual values, if any,
are based on the historical experience with similar assets
and taking into account anticipated changes on how such
assets are to be deployed. The depreciation expense for
future periods is adjusted if there are significant changes
from previous estimates.

Expected credit losses for trade receivables

The credit loss allowance for trade receivables are based
on assumptions about the expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based
on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions
as well as forward looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Changes in these assumptions
and estimates could materially affect the result of the
assessment and it may be necessary to make additional
impairment charge to the profit or loss.

Net realizable value of inventories

Net realizable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs to completion and selling expenses. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of similar nature.
It could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer preferences and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. Management reassesses these
estimates at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of rail
freight transportation and related ancillary services by
operating freight railway and railway yards. All of the
revenue of the Group is recognized over time. Further
details regarding the Group’s principal activities are

disclosed in note 4(b).

(i

(i)
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Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i BREERBEEZEINKBEES
customers by major service lines is as follows: HzWRmIIFOT :
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®T T
Revenue from contracts with REEFEFEHNZWE
customers .
Disaggregated by major service REIERBRDHF
lines:
- Rail freight transportation - HREE 243,523 268,754
- Ancillary services — BN AR %
- Loading and unloading — 5l 25,748 41,098
- Road freight transportation —EREE ) 5,462 11,464
— Construction, maintenance —ER% RERHENE
and repair 70,209 9,343
- Others — Hits 4,106 2,771
Subtotal et 105,525 64,676
349,048 333,430
For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, (iy M EZE2023F K20225F12 A31

the Group’s customers with whom transactions
have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue in the

BLEEE  HEXZESEEERE
EAEFEWRZEI0O%MN AN E

respective years are set out below: BEEXEHIAOT :
2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥ETF T
Customer A ZFEA 90,828 92,625
Customer B =ZFB 45,030 41,552
Customer C =2FEC 62,385 *

*

Transactions with these customers did not exceed 10%

of the Group’s revenue in the respective years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(a)

Revenue (continued)

(iii)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

The aggregated amounts of the transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
under the Group’s existing contracts as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 are as follows, which
represent revenue expected to be recognised in the

(a) Wz ()

(iii)

BN B RERL B REE R
MEENEFENEENKE

A2023F [ 2022F12A31H * &
MEAEERESGHNBTENE
TR ZEREZENT (Hig78
AR BARERLREEFER
SEFTVHREREBSELHHW

future from maintenance and repair contracts entered =) e
into by the customers with the Group.

2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREBF T
Within 1 year —FR 1,709 1,709
Over 1 year —FB L 6,965 8,674
8,674 10,383

Details of concentration of credit risks of the Group
are set out in Note 24(a).

(b) Segment reporting

144 Canggang Railway Limited e

The Group manages its businesses by provision of
services. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following two reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the
following reportable segments.

Rail freight transportation: this segment provides rail
freight transportation in the PRC.

Ancillary services: this segment provides freight

loading and unloading services, road freight
transportation and other services in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(i)

Segment results

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s senior executive management monitors the
results attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated
by those segments and the expenses incurred by
those segments. The measure used for reporting
segment result is “adjusted operating profit”. To
arrive at adjusted operating profit, the Group’s
operating profit is adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments, such as general and
administration expenses and other income. No inter-
segment revenue has occurred during the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2022. Assistance provided by
one segment to another, including sharing of assets
and technical know-how, is not measured.

The Group’s other income, finance costs and assets
and liabilities are not measured under individual
segments. Accordingly, neither information on
segment assets and liabilities nor information
concerning capital expenditure, interest income and
interest expenses is presented.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable
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RANERAXBENESR -

REZE2023F K 2022F12831H

segments as provided to the Group’s most senior LEFE BoBERRT M
executive management for the purposes of resource KEMOAEBERSTHREEE
allocation and assessment of segment performance RBENEKEEB 2D BERE
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is FIET o
set out below.
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT
Revenue from external customers KRB NFEF NG
- Rail freight transportation —-#KREE 243,523 268,754
- Ancillary services —HB AR 105,525 64,676
349,048 333,430
Segment result DEFEE
- Rail freight transportation -HREE 105,679 116,597
— Ancillary services — B AR 10,857 (10,686)
116,536 105,911

ABEEERAT o 2023FFH
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(Br 5 BEBHI  UARIEST)

(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) &

okt

B

it

HE (H)

=
(i)  Reconciliation of segment results (i) ZEEFEELH R
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETT
Segment result DEEE 116,536 105,911
General and administration expenses — MR 1T (11,496) (11,698)
Impairment (loss)/reversal of trade B Z BWIARE
receivables (B51|) /#E (292) 272
Other income HADKA 4,798 21,899
Finance costs ELE= 7% _ (24,868) (24,407)
Share of loss an associate FEAE — R B E A RIS 18 - (845)
Consolidated profit before taxation #&& BR¥iADEF] 84,678 91,132
(i) Geographic information (iii) BB E

The Group’s revenue is substantially generated from
provision of rail freight transportation services and
related ancillary services in the PRC. The Group’s
operating assets are substantially situated in the
PRC. Accordingly, no segment analysis based on
geographical locations of the customers and assets is

AEENRSE T ERGRFEIRE
85 % & 38 IR 75 & 46 B8 & BY AR
PE - AUt EREHREZFRE
EFMEMETH D S04 o

provided.

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBT T
Net (loss)/income on trading business BZEBHN (BR) WA FE (3,807) 14,046
Government grants B FT 5 Bh 3,291 3,761
Interest income from bank deposits RITEMAEREWA 3,489 2,673
Interest income from a loan to a third party [ =7 &S FI B KA 299 -
Compensation income (Note (i) FEWN (BEG) 492 2,452

Net gains/(losses) on disposal of property, HE¥¥* - HEKRE
plant and equipment W (&) F58E 902 (1,544)

Net losses on liquidation of an associate/ — & RN TKEEERE

net gains on disposal of an associate B HE—EBE QAN
W 35 3 AR (167) 75
Others H ity 299 436
4,798 21,899
Note: Wit
(i)  This income was received from a third party to compensate the () HERBEATDWBRE—R|E=%H UWEEZR
Group’s loss incurred by the third party’s construction work. EEZHEHERTIREMBANEIE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: BRBIADER DRHBRUATREESE ¢
(a) Finance costs: (a) BMERA :
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETF T AR®T T
Total interest expense on bank and RITREMERH
other loans F BB 4458 24,868 24,407
(b) Staff costs: (b) BEIARA:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AR®T T
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER 49,264 59,605
Contributions to defined contribution o) FE B FGR RET I
retirement plans 7,842 7,994
57,106 67,599
The employees of the subsidiaries of the Group AEBEDE (BB KM
established in the PRC (excluding Hong Kong) participate BATINEESESHEB M H BTN E
in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan managed B EEMIBRKRBERGE - ZEH
by the local government authorities. Employees of these BARNWEENEINHEZERNER
subsidiaries are entitled to retirement benefits, calculated FEEZA LR EINERER
based on a percentage of the defined salaries level in the (BRHPE (BEBRIN AEHEKEN
PRC (other than Hong Kong), from the above mentioned E—BoHLEE) -
retirement plans at their normal retirement age.
The Group has no further material obligation for MREMMERI REEXEEEZA
payment of other retirement benefits beyond the above H 3R R 18 R A EL At B RIRIE
contributions.
(c) Other items: (c) EMER :
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR®T T
Depreciation e
— property, plant and equipment - BERERE
(Note 11) (rat11) 31,904 33,591
- right-of-use assets (Note 12) —EREERE (Kit12) 4,590 4,472
36,494 38,063
Short-term lease charges with remaining & T &R BiB 1218 A #Y
lease term of not more than 12 months EHiHEE 247 535
Auditors’ remuneration e S
— annual audit services — FEZERTE 1,300 1,300
Cost of inventories (Note 14(b)) BFERA (Kfaz14(b)) 31,673 35,648
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

REBRBERANFAER

(a) ZREBHERANBIEE

represents:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETT
Current tax (Note 22(a)) B HA B 18 (f1 £ 22(a))
Provision for the year FREE 26,700 23,486
Deferred tax (Note 22(b)) BT IE (K1aF22(b))
Origination and reversal of temporary  EREZHEELE RED
differences (588) (277)
26,112 23,209

(b) Reconciliations between tax expense and accounting
profit at applicable tax rates:

(b) BEMXEZEABRTENGE
MBI

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARBTT

Profit before taxation MRE AR R 84,678 91,132
Expected tax on profit before taxation, ZBHEEBEE EEEE AN ER

calculated at the rates applicable to #9 B R 5t B R BRFR A& F

profits in the jurisdictions concerned H 78 B 1R

(Notes (i), (ii) and (iii)) (Wi2() - ()R i) 21,660 22,956
Tax effect of share of loss of associates FE{LEEE A BB E (172) (228)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses Z‘ﬂ?ﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ%ﬂﬁ%g 114 441
Tax effect of unused tax losses not AERHELEHIEEEN

recognised as deferred tax assets ABAREBENRBELE 101 40
Withholding tax on the distributable and &2 7 A #2 kK &

distributed profits of subsidiaries 2RD IR Z

(Note (iv)) %E B (B ativ) 4,409 -
Actual tax expense BERBIERX 26,112 23,209
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(b) Reconciliations between tax expense and accounting
profit at applicable tax rates: (continued)

Notes:

U]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands(“BVI”), the Company and the
Group’s BVI subsidiaries are not subject to income tax in
those jurisdictions.

The Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are
subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022:16.5%). These companies
did not have assessable profits which are subject to Hong
Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: RMB Nil).

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries (excluding Hong Kong) are
subject to PRC Corporate Income Tax at a rate of 25%
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 25%).

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and its
implementation regulations, dividends receivable by non-
Mainland China corporate residents from Mainland China
enterprises are subject to withholding tax at a rate of 10%,
unless reduced by tax treaties or arrangements, for profits
earned since 1 January 2008.

Dividends withholding tax represents tax charged by
tax authority on dividends distributed by the Group’s
subsidiaries in the Mainland China during the reporting
period.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BrZ BEBI  UARKEST)

(b) BEMXERREAREFENSEFN

Bk (8

wzE -

U]

(ii)

(iii)

BEFRSHESRABELES (R
BRELZES)WROIKER K4
ARAEENRBELESHEL
ARZE R EREBEBMTER

ARABREBTMRILBME R T

NEE2023F 128318 L FEAER

16.5% (20224 : 16.5% ) KU R4
MEBFBH - REE2023F128
B1BLLEE 2SR ANLEABN
BEBTESHWERBER (20224F :
ARBER) -

AEENTE (FTEEEB) HBELQ
AANBE20235F12831H L FEE
1%25% (20224 : 25%) B R & WM
REEFBH -

REFBECEMEBREARELERGE
5 » FR B A 4t £ 2 40 R 3% 7A2008F
1A1B A BEEER T IEFBE R
ERLEN  BRIEEFBHEIIR
ERR  HERRKEBIZI0%HE
HamFEMEL

REFENHSBRBREHAREBR
TEAENHERARRBEHAD
IRER BB 2 B IR -
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) RIBEE B A BMEHIE3I83(1)ER A7 (3
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the BEEFRER) RAIE2BHEEBENESE
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of LWMT :

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

2023
20235
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in-kind bonuses contributions Total
¢ 2RK
EzHd BNEF MERA  BAGTEER @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  AREBTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETX

Executive directors 47ES
Mr. Liu Yongliang AxRRE 60 91 - - 151
Mr. Yi Weiming REERLE 60 49 20 - 129
Non-executive directors FymE=s
Mr. Xu Zhihua HEERL 50 9 - - 59
Mr. Qin Shaobo ROBRE - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHITES
Mr. Liu Changchun AREFLE 100 - - - 100
Mr. Zhao Changsong BRMEE 100 - - - 100
Ms. Lyu Qinghua BEERL 100 - - - 100
470 149 20 - 639
2022
2020
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Directors’ fees . in-kind bonuses  contributions Total
w2 FER s .
EEhe EYEMN MERA  BIGHEES h

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  AREBTR  AREBTRT  ARETR  ARETR

Executive directors 47ES

Mr. Liu Yongliang AxFxE 60 91 - - 151

Mr. Yi Weiming TERLE 60 48 22 - 130

Non-executive directors FymE=s

Mr. Xu Zhihua BEELE 50 3 22 - 75

Mr. Qin Shaobo ROBRLE - - - - -

Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHITES

Mr. Liu Changchun ARFRLE 100 - - - 100

Mr. Zhao Changsong BRMEE 100 - - - 100

Ms. Lyu Qinghua BEERL 100 - - - 100
470 142 44 - 656
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Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2022:
two) are the director of the Company whose emoluments
are disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in
respect of the remaining three (2022: three) individuals are as
follows:

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

REBBRSFMA LY WA (2022F :
MB)AERRAES  Hf € MM FE8H
T AT =% (20225 : =8) A THIEEN
MWEENT -

2023 2022

20234 2022%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R AREFTT

Salaries and other emoluments HekEMEE 326 291
Discretionary bonuses B TEAL 74 80
Retirement scheme contributions BRARGFT IR 20 24
420 395

The emoluments of the individuals who are not directors and
who are amongst the five highest paid individuals of the Group
are within the following band:

BRASELEBSHFMALELEFR/E
ENATHHFEMN FUTEHE :

2023 2022
20234 20225
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AE
Hong Kong dollars (HK$) Nil to £t £1,000,000/ 7T
HK$1,000,000 3 3

(a) Basic earnings per share

The basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2023 is calculated based on the profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB58,978,000 (2022: RMB68,076,000) and the weighted
average of 967,668,648 ordinary shares in issue during the
year (2022: 995,686,597 ordinary shares in issue during the
year), calculated as follows:

(@ BEREXREF

BZ2023F12A31B L FEENERE
RBERDERRQ A EZRRESSR
FIA R #58,978,0007T (2022FF : AR
#%68,076,0007T) R FRE B ITEBER
N #EF 15 £1967,668,648% (20224 :
FRE BITEBRS5,686,5978%) 5
=311l

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January M1 B1HMNERITEER 977,200,000 1,000,000,000
Effect of shares purchased in TR MRETEBARGH
respect of the Share Award S8 (Mat23(1)
Scheme (Note 23(f) (9,531,352) (4,313,403)
Weighted average number of MR12A31HMEER
ordinary shares at 31 December InRESFE I 967,668,648 995,686,597

(b) Diluted earnings per share

There were no dilutive potential shares outstanding during
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

REBEBRARAR o

(b) ERBHERER

NE Z2023F 2022F 12331 B 1L F
ERERITENVEBERERRD -
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(Br 5 BEBHI  UARIEST)

152 Canggang Railway Limited e

Tracks,
bridges
and other Buildings Locomotives Machinery
railway ~ and other  and rolling Motor and Construction
assets  properties stock vehicles  equipment in progress Total
Ag EZR  #¥R  #ER &
HEfERER -3/ HEzH RE KERRE HRIE it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTR ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETn  ARETR

Cost: Ax:

At 1 January 2022 202251718 523,773 183,674 40,313 46,789 129,634 43,772 967,955
Additions wE - - - 264 7,025 16,034 23,323
Transfer in/(out) )/ (&) 31,633 2,039 2,494 - 6,243 (42,409) -
Disposals HE - - - (6,721) (3,282) (218) (10,221)
At 31 December 2022 R202212A31R 555,406 185,713 42,807 40,332 139,620 17,179 981,057
Additions HE - - - 3,553 8,160 41,710 53,423
Transfer in/(out) &)/ (&4) 25,897 2,482 - - 1,987 (30,366) -
Disposals HE - - (139) (2,335) (3,790) (2,041) (8,305)
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12831R 581,308 188,195 42,668 41,550 145,977 26,482 1,026,175
Accumulated depreciation and  Z:HFER

impairment losses: HEFE

At 1 January 2022 R2022%151H (42,799) (35,352) (19,589) (21,358) (65,249) - (184,317)
Charge for the year R (7,710) (6,056) (3,803) (5,394) (10,628) - (33,591)
Written back on disposals HERR - - - 3,694 3,001 - 6,785
At 31 December 2022 R202F1231R (50,509) (41,408) (23,362) (23,058) (72,786) - (211,123)
Charge for the year ERxit (8,362) (5,874) (4,146) (4,818) (10,448) - (33,648)
Written back on disposals HERE - - 3 2,178 3,579 - 5,760

_ M3 Decomber 2028 RoOsE2AsE pery)  (r2e)  (rses) 6% (9% OO 5 cadd)

Carrying amount: BEf:

At 31 December 2023 R2023E12331H 522,432 140,913 15,163 15,852 66,322 26,482 787,164
At 31 December 2022 R202F12A31R 504,897 144,305 19,445 17,274 66,834 17,179 769,934

Notes: Bz

()  The Group’s property, plant and equipment are all located in the iy AEBENOYE BEREEIURPE -
PRC.

(i) At 31 December 2023, property certificates of certain items of (i) R2023F12831H AEBEI AT
the Group’s properties with carrying amounts of RMB57,649,000 BEAHARMYS57,649,0007T (2022F : AR
(2022: RMB61,468,000), were not obtained. The directors of the #£61,468,0007T) WE TYXEE BEY
Company consider that there is no legal restriction for the Group EBE AR EERBEAEERETEAR
to access and use such properties and it should not lead to any FAHZEYEFEANZ(FMEERS - B
significant adverse impact on the operations of the Group. ErEHAEENEREEENTMEKR

TRIFE -
(i) At 31 December 2023, certain amount of the Group’s bank (i) F2023F12H31H » AEEHNE TR

loans (see Note 18) were secured by buildings of the Group with
carrying amount of RMB7,297,000(2022: RMB7,618,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZHZHI  UAREST)

11YWE - BEESKE (8)

Notes: (continued) et : (&)

(iv) At 31 December 2023, certain amount of the Group’s other (iv) M2023F12A31H  XEB@MHE T
loans were secured by other property, plant and equipment HtEHLEEU % EEEEAAR
of the Group with carrying amount of RMB127,860,000 (2022: #£127,860,0007T (20 22‘f|E AR
RMB177,593,000). 177,593,0007T) W E MY % - B E &R

EIEIEH -

(v) Certain amount of the Group’s other loans (see Note 18) were (v) AEBNETEHMER(RME18) I

secured by following assets of the Group: REE E’gL,LTﬁEﬂE?EHEF
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT

Carrying amount: BRIEIE :

Tracks, bridges and other railway assets BiE - BRREMEEEE 83,228 117,150
Buildings and other properties BFEREMYE 8,708 20,331
Locomotives and rolling stock %E&ﬁ& EER ] 9,325 -
Motor vehicles JRE 2,551 11,211
Machinery and equipment %%&aﬁﬁ 24,048 28,901
127,860 177,593
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TF T ARBTT
Cost: A :
At 1 January M1A1A 227,738 223,651
Additions nNE 260 4,087
At 31 December MW12H31H 227,998 227,738
Accumulated depreciation: Rt E :
At 1 January M1HE1H 39,204 34,732
Charge for the year FRLZH 4,590 4,472
__ At 31 December mi2Agt® 43,794 39,204
Carrying amount: BREE -
At 31 December M12A31H 184,204 188,534

Notes:

(U]

(i)

(iii)

154 Canggang Railway Limited e

Right-of-use assets represents lump sum considerations paid or
payable by the Group to acquire leasehold lands located in the
PRC. These leasehold lands are with lease periods of 48-50 years
and there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of
the land leases.

At 31 December 2023, certain amount of the Group’s bank
loans (see Note 18) were secured by the Group’s interests in
leasehold land with carrying amount of RMB112,385,000 (2022:
RMB114,926,000). At 31 December 2023, one of the Group’s
other loans was secured by the Group’s interests in leasehold land
with carrying amount of RMB Nil (2022: RMB6,803,000).

At 31 December 2023, land use right certificate of certain pieces
of land of the Group with carrying amount of RMB6,307,000
(2022: RMB35,253,000), were yet to be obtained. The directors
of the Company consider that there is no legal restriction for the
Group to access and use such land and it should not lead to any
significant adverse impact on the operations of the Group.

Annual Report 2023

(i)

(iii)

EREEEEANEEF W B LR P ERE
BELeAIHEMHN—RUERE - ZS5H
‘E:tiiﬂﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%%;zéwﬁ BERELHE
ERFBRFENSK -

-
T

72023128318 « REBEM % T 4
EXEHE(RME18 ) UAKER
%AE**11238500075(2022¢ AR
#5114,926,0007t) MFE & + i #E 5 1F 3K
# e EA2023¢12H31E| AEEHEH—
BEHMERUREEREABESAREET
(2022%F : A R¥6,803,0007) WIHE L
i FE S AR o

M2023F12A310 » AEE SR FERME
E%J\Eﬁze,sm,oooﬁ(zozﬁ ARYE
35,253,0007t) B3 F £ NS = 5 A
X - ANTESIALTEREEARE
Fﬁﬁ%ﬁiﬁt}?@?%&ﬂ&éﬁﬁ%ﬂ BrE

EUAEENEBLEERNEAEAT
ﬂﬂﬁii_ o

=
—
a3



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise

TREFILBAEBMAYES -

EEHAME

BEAZENMBRARAE KREEHA
Sh o FREFRMIIREBRESR

stated:
Percentage of ownership interest
RERREAY
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of  The Group’s
establishment registered/issued effective  Held by the  Held by the
Name of company and business and paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
i/ it/ BRIk AREN  @A0E  BRELE
RS RIREH B BRERHE BRER 2] KB IEXR
Puji Global Limited (‘Puji Global’) The BVI USS$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
(EEEYERLT)
EEERERAT ([HERR]) ARRLHE %70 REER
Canggang Railway Intemational The BVI USS$t 100% 100% - Investment holding
Company Limited
(REERERERAR)
RRERARERAA ABRAES 1%7 REER
Canggang Gompany Mainland China RMB347,884,681 100% - 100%  Provision of rail freight
(BN EAERERAR) transportation and related
ancillary services by
operating freight railway
and railway yards
BMRRERERAE hEA ARH347,884,6817C BRGESRARNERIES
H EREER BRI RS
Hebei Jinghai International Logistics Mainland China RMB60,000,000 51% - 51%  Provision of logistics agency
Development Company Limited services
(“Jinghai International’)
(/-Ht ?il@%uw E’L\J)*
Mt REERIRERAT hEnE AB%60,000,0007C RUMARERE
([REER]) *
Canggang Railway (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HKS$1 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited (£7BE% (& g BRAR)
BRER (BR) & FE'M Bh 187 REZRK
Puji Railway Global Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(EERRERERAT)
EERRERARAA 3 187 REER
Cangzhou Railway Logistics Services Mainland China HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited (“Cangzhou and HK$1,000,000
Logistics”) (EMEBNRERAF)
ENEBIRERAE hER 10,000,0008 7R REER
([RMIR] ) 1,000,000%7
Inner Mongolia Zhaohai Energy Mainland China RMB20,000,000 100% - 100%  Trading business
Company Limited (AZ % K SHR and RMB205,000
LT i .
REELBERERAA hER AER#20,000,0007K B55%
AE#8205,0007
RBEERARAT o 2023FF%K 155
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

Percentage of ownership interest

RERRRAIY
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of  The Group's
establishment registered/issued effective  Held by the  Held by the
Name of company and business and paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities
AL/ 8M/ERAR  ASEY  @AAY  AKENY
AR RUREHBLY HRERRHE BERER 52} BE  IEEER
Inner Mongolia Jizhe Energy Gompany Mainland China RMB50,000,000 51% - 51%  Trading business
Limited (W& 5 s RERAT) and RMB Ni /
RELERaRARAR" hEnE ARH50,0000007% 855K
AR®ZR
Inner Mongolia Jihai International Mainland China RMB20,000,000 100% - 100%  Trading business
Lo%shcs Company Limited (A5 & and RMB300,000
BHERLE) i )
hELEEERIRERA T hEE ARH20,0000007% 855%
AR®300,00070
Wenzhou Huahai Energy Company Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100% - 100%  Energy supply
Limited (BMEESERERAT) and RVB100,000
ENEEERERAT PEA ARH50,000,000 % BRME
AR%100,0007
Hebei Canggang International Mainland China RMB10,000,000 80% - 80%  Logistics
Logistics Company Limited (378 and RMB Nil
EERAEARLE) )
MR BERIRERL A hEIR AR#10,0000007% b
AREETR

Note: /]{#i—t}- ;

* The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The English * mEmEm TR ZEE R B RS
translations are for identification purpose only. These companies %é{ B> o ;/;(%Qa;%mgp B 3T
are limited liability companies established in the PRC. E’ﬂﬁfflﬁwﬁﬁﬂﬁ LT =

The following table lists out the information relating to Jinghai TEREHVEEZEERHNER Z 75

International, the subsidiary of the Group which has a material NEBEEE RIFIERERS ([FFIERE

non-controlling interest (NCI). The summarized financial HDHHBAR - THEBERBESE

information presented below represents the amounts before A ATIEEEZAINEEE -

any inter-company elimination.

2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTF T

NCI percentage FERERE ST 49% 49%

Non-current assets ERBEE 62,741 64,127

Current assets REEE 4,995 4,924

Current liabilities nBEaE (8,287) (8,762)

Net assets EEFE 59,449 60,289

Carrying amount of NCI FERERIREE 29,130 29,542
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13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZHZHI  UAREST)

13 RITB R RKNRE (&)

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARBT T

Revenue Yz 3,096 3,472

Loss for the year FEBE (841) (312)

Loss for the year attributable to NCI IR ERELFERSE (412) (153)

Cash flows from operating activities RETHFRBESRE 2,138 3,018

Cash flows from investing activities RETHFMERENE (60) (727)

Cash flows from financing activities RMETHAERERE (2,385) (285)

14 INVENTORIES 14 78
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial (a) FMEMBRRRANEERE
position comprise:

2023 2022

2023 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBT T

Fuel R 2,425 3,324

Coal held for trading BIEE S Eix 27,406 39,837

Gravel held for trading HIEESZ N AR 18,954 -

Materials and consumables VRS YSE =) 7,311 4,780

56,096 47,941

(b)

The analysis of the amounts of inventories recognized

(b) EEREHIVTAEZNEFEESE

as an expense and included in profit or loss is as ST :
follows:

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR®T T
Carrying amount of inventories used EFEAFENREE 31,673 35,648
Write down of inventories FEMR 3,000 -
34,673 35,648
ABERERAT o 2023F5%F 157
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®F R ARBTT

Trade receivables g Z EWRFIE 47,370 50,613
Bills receivables (Notes (ii)) EWRE (i) 23,986 32,732

71,356 83,345
Notes: WE

(i)  All of the trade and bills receivables, net of loss allowance, are
expected to be recovered within one year.

(i) At 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of the Group’s bills
receivables that have been endorsed to the Group’s suppliers and
other creditors for the settlement of the Group’s trade and other
payables but have not been derecognized in the consolidated
financial statements were RMB2,200,000 (2022: RMB3,828,000).

Aging analysis

At the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of
trade receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

() FIAESEEFEREWRRE GIREE
BB B R - FRRE -

(i) 2023F128310  AEMEAEF A
SEHESREMERAUGEREEMN
EoREMEMREEMARGES KR
RELBRINEREENRABEAARYE
2,200,0007T (2022%F : A R #3,828,000
JT) e

RR#R 7 T

RIBEMR - ERBE AN RENBRER
BEEANEZRUFRRERINAOT

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBF T ARBTT

Within 1 month 1@ A R 32,643 38,443
1-6 months 12618 11,270 11,276
6-12 months 6E1218 A 3,383 389
more than 12 months 128 B Lk 74 505

47,370 50,613

Trade receivables are mainly due within 30 days from the
date of billing. Bills receivables are with maturity of within 180
days. Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit
risk arising from trade and bills receivables are set out in Note
24(a).
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B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBT T
Receivables relating to disposal of EEEME - MERRZE
property, plant and equipment BN EWRIE 5,635 5,893
Receivables relating to liquidation of an E—EBEE AT EREHEMN
associate FE W g 3,281 =
Receivables relating to disposal of an HEHE—EEE ATHEMN
associate e W k18 1,139 2,439
A loan to a third party (Note(i)) mME=FER(BE0)) 29,000 -
Financial assets measured at amortized REER AT ENESHMEE
cost 39,055 8,332
Value-added tax recoverable ol Uk [E] 1B B 1,636 1,371
Prepayments for constructions ERFEARIE 3,780 -
Deposits for other purpose HitRiEmES 2,912 2,059
Prepayments for purchase of inventories B S 4 FERER T RIER
held for trading and prepaid expenses AT B X 61,007 10,540
108,390 22,302
Less: Non-current portion o FERNEAE
- Prepayments for constructions - ERFENRIE (B7aE))
(Note(ii) (3,780) -
- Receivables relating to —REHEYE - BEKR
disposal of property, plant w4 5 B R R R R
and equipment (Note(ij) (Btaz (i) (1,891) (2,062)
Current portion of prepayments and A FRIE K H At B U R IR
other receivables Y BN HR 28 102,719 20,240
Notes: Kt -
() On 19 December 2023, Canggang Company and Beijing Tianrun (i) H2023F12H19H - ié‘iﬁﬁﬁéﬁiitfii
Botian Investment Management Co., Ltd.(tZXBEXRKRE HEAXREEEERAGB T LERER
BEIE AR DF)*, entered into a short-term loan agreement of Tz’:izm EN& XA AKRY29,000,0007T

RMB29,000,000 with a loan period from 19 December 2023 to 22
January 2024 and an interest rate of 15% per annum. The loan
receivable and interest was fully settled on 22 January 2024.

*

The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The English

translation name is for identification purpose only.

(i) Except for the non-current portion of receivables relating to (i)
disposal of property, plant and equipment, which are expected
to be recovered in 2-3 years, and prepayments for constructions,
other prepayments and other receivables, net of loss allowance,
are expected to be recovered or recognized as expenses within

one year.

ABEEERAT o 2023FFH

B 2 8 $12023%F 12 519 B 48 22024 1
E22E| BRERIE15%:T 8 o RRERR
MEERN2024F1 B22H#5E °

ZEBNEREBEBPXER - &
BEMRBNZA -

Fﬁéﬁ.‘ﬂ%%% F%&&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁﬂﬁl
X IR 49 3F B S 2R (EHH;‘HEAZiSEW'MZ
B) SMA K 2R AT FUR - A FEA KR

&,H\{&FEH& IE(”“?DF?ESTE%N%)%EHH

ER-—FRREREABME

*
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(a)

(b)

(@ RERAESEEEBVE

Cash and cash equivalents comprise

2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Bank deposits IRITER 112,389 193,801
Cash on hand FHERE 3 1
Cash at bank and on hand in the %éﬁ#ﬁﬂﬁiﬂ?’%ﬁﬂﬂ@
consolidated statement of financial RITRFEESUR
position and cash and cash equivalents QTAIE%W;%EWB’S}
in the consolidated cash flow ReRBREEEEE
statement 112,392 193,802
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) MEFTBFREEEENEHEER
activities
The tables below detail changes in the Group’s liabilities TRHANMAEEERETHEENE

BENEE (BREESRFESEE) o
METBELENEERAHEESRED
RRBERENTEBHFERERE
RREDERBIEARERNETH
NEERENERE -

from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
statements as cash flows from financing activities.

Bank and
other loans
HBITR
HEX
RMB’000
AR T
(Note 18)
(K12F18)
At 1 January 2023 7202351810 457,412
Changes from financing cash flows: BMERSRELT .
Proceeds from new bank and other loans R ITR EMEFRWERIE 221,000
Repayments of bank and other loans EERTREMER (186,663)
Borrowing costs paid [SESREE D (24,861)
Total changes from financing cash flows RMEREREL IR 9,476
Other changes: /H\ﬂﬂ%@]
Interest expenses on bank and other loans TREMERFEMX
(Note 6(3)) (/I/fntz*s(a)) 24,868
Deposits for loans B RRE 1,000
Total otherchanges  HbeZs#s 000000 25,868
At 31 December 2023 7#2023%F12831H 492,756
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B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZHZHI  UAREST)

17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities (continued)

17 BERkREEEEE (H)

(b) MEFZBFRELEEGENHR (H)

Bank and
other loans
RITR
Hth &R
RMB’000
AR®T
(Note 18)
(K1a£18)
At 1 January 2022 H2022F1 811 373,612
Changes from financing cash flows: MERESRELE !
Proceeds from new bank and other loans FIBRITREMERWABRIE 296,500
Repayments of bank and other loans EERITREMER (209,090)
Borrowing costs paid 2B (24,342)
Total changes from financing cash flows AMERSRESBEEE 63,068
Other changes: Hith# 5 :
Interest expenses on bank and other loans  $RITREMERFERX
(Note 6(a)) (Btit6(a) 24,407
Deposits for loans BERRES (3,675)
Totalotherchanges  HAtw®®ss 0000 20,732
At 31 December 2022 120225128318 457,412

HERSRHAR

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c)

Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement

FAGREREREBRNEESHEERE

for leases comprise the following: AT &8 -
2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®TT
Within operating cash flows: EREREREA -
- Lease rental paid -2ffHEHES (247) (537)

ABEEERAT o 2023FFH
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

18 BANK AND OTHER L

OANS

(@) The Group’s bank and other loans comprise:

18 MITREMERK
() AEBHBITREMLERESE

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARET T

Bank loans: RITE -
— Secured —5iEH 383,526 331,516
- Unsecured — EIK R 47,071 49,074
430,597 380,590

Other loans: HMER :
- Secured —EiKHF 60,659 74,342
- Unsecured — KR 1,500 2,480
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 62,159 76,822
492,756 457,412

All of the bank and other
costs.

(b) The bank and other loans

loans are carried at amortized

were repayable as follows:

FBERITRAMERZHEKAET

(b) RTREMEREHEEBMNT :

2023 2022

2023 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AR®T T

Within 1 year or on demand —FERHZER 202,073 184,773
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERWER 128,266 141,616
After 2 years but within 5 years MERBBRAFER 162,417 131,023
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 290,683 272,639
492,756 457,412
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18 BANK AND OTHER LOANS (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s secured bank
loans of RMB383,526,000 (2022: RMB331,516,000)
were secured by the following assets and future rail
transportation revenue of the Group:

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZHZHI  UAREST)

18 RITRHEMER ()

(c)

A2023F12A8310 » AEEBHA
£ #5383,526,000 T (2022%F : AR
#%£331,516,00070) M EIKIFIRITE
R UAREBN T MEE KRR
B ERT

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBT T
Carrying amount: BREE :

Right-of-use assets (Note 12(ii) EREERE (Ba12(i) 112,385 114,926

Property, plant and equipment ME - - BERFE
(Note 11(iii) (BaE11(iii)) 7,297 7,618
119,682 122,544

Included in the Group’s secured bank loans as at 31
December 2023, RMB50,041,000 were also guaranteed by
Cangzhou Logistics, a subsidiary of the Company (2022:
RMB20,039,000).

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s secured other loans
of RMB60,659,000 (2022: RMB74,342,000) were secured
by the following assets of the Group:

(d)

REBERNR2023FE12831 AN EIKR
RITERF - BEAR50,041,000
TTHSERBEAEMNIR (RAE—H
MEB AT IRMER (2022F | AR
#£20,039,0007) °

M2023F12A318 ' Z"EBAH A
K %#60,659,0007T (20224F : AK¥
74,342,0007T) WEEBEMERT

DAREEN T REEERKS :
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Carrying amount: BREE :
Property, plant and equipment M- - BERZE
(Note 11(iv)) (BEE11(v)) 127,860 177,593
Right-of-use assets (Note 12(ii) EREERE (Kt120i) - 6,803
127,860 184,396

Included in the Group’s secured other loans as at 31
December 2023, RMB51,639,000(2022: RMB72,755,000)
were also guaranteed by Cangzhou Logistics and secured
by equity interests of Canggang Company held by
Cangzhou Logistics.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s unsecured
bank loans amounting to RMB47,071,000 (2022:
RMB49,074,000), guaranteed by Cangzhou Logistics,
are interest-bearing at 5.50% per annum.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s unsecured other
loans amounting to RMB1,500,000 (2022: RMB2,480,000)
are interest-bearing at 4.75% per annum.

(e)

RBEBRARDT -

AREEM2023F 12831 BN EIRBH
ERH - B A K¥S51,639,0007T
(20224 : AERE#72,755,0007T) &
BB AMYRIBHERRIUAMNY
TRIEERARB AT RS -

A2023F12H31H ' AE B EIE
HETERAE AR47,071,000T
(20224 : A R%:49,074,0007T) * B
ﬁgmmﬂi&%ﬁ » BRFERIE5.50%

A2023F128310  ZE BN EIK
HEMERA AR®1,500,0007T
(2022%F : AR #2,480,0007T) @ %
FERZELT5%5TE o
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

All of the trade payables are expected to be settled within one
year or are repayable on demand.

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of

FAESENRBEMER - FREER
AREREE -

RI|BEMR - AREEZEARERERE

the Group’s trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as ZEAHMERBRSTIT ¢
follows:

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥T T
Within 1 month 1{E A A 11,831 20,733
1 to 3 months 12318 B 2,906 3,382
3 to 6 months 3Z6{EA 3,515 1,421
6 to 12 months 6ZE121E B 349 1,463
Over 12 months 128 A Lk 897 590
19,498 27,589
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT

Payables for acquisitions of property, WY - BERRER

plant and equipment FEAFFRIR 7,449 9,878
Payables for acquisitions of right-of-use X B&{& f#EE & KB B

assets 5,530 3,701
Payables for staff costs and other labor B TKAR

costs HAh 22 8) R A EASFRIR 5,052 10,652
Dividends payable e E 2,380 1,735
Others Hith 3,492 3,192
Financial liabilities measured at BRBERATENEREE

amortized cost 23,903 29,158

All of the other payables are expected to be settled within one
year or are repayable on demand.
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B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)
2023 2022
20234 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Prepayments received from customers HEFWHRHNEKEER
for rail freight transportation and MBI B AR I TR TR IR
related ancillary services 4,084 2,377
Prepayments received from customers BEFWEKNE ZEKTBIFIE
for trading business 3,029 -
7,113 2,377

The Group receives prepayments from certain customers on

REZEMFTER  AEBE@EETEF R

acceptance of the orders. The prepayments are recognized ENFE ENFENEIBENERE
as contract liabilities until the Group recognized the related EZZIKEI’EE DRI A IE o
revenue.
Movements in contract liabilities SHEBEEE
2023 2022
20234 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTF T
Balance at 1 January A1 B1B e 2,377 2,501
Decrease in contract liabilities as a HFAEZNFATA
result of recognizing revenue during SHNEENREMER
the year that was included in the NENEBRD
contract liabilities at the beginning of
the year (2,377) (2,501)
Increase in contract liabilities as HERNRENAFHARSE
a result of billing in advance of FIBEMEHNa/EEMN
performance at the end of the year 7,113 2,377
Balance at 31 December M12 31 H &R 7,113 2,377

No contract liabilities are expected to be recognized as revenue
after more than one year.

(a) Movements of current taxation in the consolidated
statement of financial position are as follows:

%%é%‘]ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁi@—i?ﬁﬁ%%
ﬁ o

(a) #R&E BragAR R 3R A B EA B 18 AV & Eh 2o
T

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AR¥T T

Income tax payable at 1 January W1 A1 B EN SR 13,812 11,673
Provision for the year (Note 7(a)) FREE (BiE7(@) 26,700 23,486
Income tax paid [EERIZECE) (32,880) (21,347)
Income tax payable at 31 December R12A31 B ENFTER 7,632 13,812

REBEBRARAR o
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(b)

(c)

(d)

166 Canggang Railway Limited e

Deferred tax assets recognized (b) ERRBELHEAE
The deferred tax assets recognized in the consolidated F Wﬁéﬁgﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁﬁ
statement of financial position and the movements during HEEREBHOT
the year are as follows:
Depreciation Credit loss
of property,  Impairment of  Depreciation allowance Loss Dividend
ELfEgE plantand property, plant of ight-of-use ~ ontrade  allowanceon  withholding
Deferred tax assets arising from: AT &IEE4 ! equipment  and equipment assets  receivables  inventories fax Others Total
WEEER MEORRR EREMEE \
REFE  REHE RAREERE GEEERE FEGEME  REENM 4 it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB?000
ARRTR  ARRTR  ARBTR ARETz  ARRTR ARRTR ARETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2022 2020%1A1R 2,867 39 1115 965 - - 240 5516
(Charged)/credited to profitor loss  (HIBRE) /3t AB& 161 (100) 168 (68) - - 116 il
At 31 December 2022 and RNE12A31AR
1 January 2023 223E1A1H 3,028 29 1283 897 - - 356 5793
Credited/(charged) to profitor loss 5t A/ (IR E) B 109 ) 106 75 750 (1,000) 590 588
At 31 December 2023 12023 12331H 3137 187 1,389 I 750 (1,000 946 6,381
Deferred tax assets not recognized (c) RERWELRRAE

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note
2(q), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses of RMB5,180,000 at
31 December 2023 (2022: RMB4,722,000), as it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available to the relevant
subsidiaries. The tax losses expire within the next five
years from it incurred.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognized

At 31 December 2023, taxable temporary differences
relating to the undistributed profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC (excluding Hong Kong)
amounted to RMB553,174,000 (2022: RMB535,435,000),
where deferred tax liabilities in respect of the PRC
Withholding Tax that would be payable on the distribution
of these profits, have not been recognized as the Company
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it
has been determined that it is probable that such profits
will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

Annual Report 2023

(d)

RIEMF2Q)FEHNEFTEE K&
B i 2 5 7A2023F 12 831H £ 58 A
AR#5,180,0007T (2022%F : AR
4,722,0007T) W EFT B IEEEERIE
ERMIEEE  FE2EENBART
K AT BEH R R FERR B 5 F) LUIK 88 7] 4
BRACHIEEE HEFEREELER
FERNEHE -

AEANEEHEAAR

MA2023F12831H » EAREBE RS
(TEIEEB) R HKE D I/
ADTENEENERHERZES
A R #553,174,0007T (20224%F : A
R #535,435,0007T) ' HTREBRD
TREZEBA SR EFEINFRIE
EREEEERER  EERAQT
BHZEWBARNKRERE » e
BEERGFURETENRATRARRR
DK ©



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

(@) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balance of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity.

Details of the changes in the Company’s individual

(a) EHEAKIMINES

FAEBGREER AR D NFDE
FREHNHRANGAEDZED

éfzo

2> BB B #E 55 4R R D 0 T A ) B2 AR

components of equity between the beginning and the end RINBEEBTHRN T -
of the period are set out below.
Share held for
share award Exchange  Accumulated
Share capital Share premium scheme reserve losses Total
b0k B |
Bx RHEE ke EXGf 2T ER it
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AEEFT  AREFT  AREFr  AREFT  ARETr ARETZ
(Note 23(c)  (Note 23(d))i)) (Note 23(f)  (Note 25(a)v))
(W2236)  (Wiesep)  (WE23)  (WE23)
At 1 January 2022 #2022%141H 8,607 140,357 - (8,107) (7,558) 133,299
Changes in equity for the year ~ EZ2022F12A31H Lt
ended 31 December 2022: FEMEREE:
Loss for the year FERFE - - - - (660) (660)
Total comprehensive income FERXEURLH
for the year - - - - (660) (660)
Dividends approved in respect of 5 E—FEHERS
the previous year - (32,486) - - - (32,486)
Pucheseof wnstares  BARARH . o wee o L
At 31 December 2022 and 12022128310 K
1 January 2023 2023%1A1H 8,607 107,871 (49,916) (8,107) (8,218) 50,237
Changes in equity for the year & Z2023F12A31A Lt
ended 31 December 2023: FENERSE:
Profit for the year EERT - - - - 26,239 26,239
Total comprehensive income FE2ENRAE
for the year - - - - 26,239 26,239
Dividends approved in respect of 5 E—FEHERE
the previous year - - - - (28,000) (28,000)
Pucheseofounshares  BARSRSH S o mey S O
At 31 December 2023 42023%12H31A 8,607 107,871 (94,542) (8,107) (9,979) 3,850
ABEEERAT o 2023F5H 167
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

23 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS/
DISTRIBUTIONS (continued)

(b) Dividends

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the year

23 EL - RERRE DK

(&)
b) BE
() FRERHR RS RALLE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®T T
Final dividend proposed after the HEMAELEZHNARPRKRE
end of the reporting period of BREBRARYK0.62
RMBO0.6 cents per ordinary share (20224 : AR#2.80%)
(2022: RMB2.80 cents) 24,000 28,000
24,000 28,000

The final dividend proposed after the end of the
reporting period has not been recognised as a liability
at the end of the reporting period.

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous year, approved
and paid during the year

HERRREZH ARG R ER R
SRR ERID/EE -

(i) RAFEHERRN L —FEE
CEAATE: 5+ &) P

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Final dividend in respect of the REAFEEMERIKS E—FE
previous year, approved and paid MARHRESREZER
during the year, of RMB2.80 cents A R#2.80% (20224 :
per ordinary share (2022: HK3.80  3.807&1lll)
cents) 28,000 32,486
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B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BrZ BEBI  UARKEST)

(c) Share capital (c) B&
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
No. of shares No. of shares
RHEE R A
’000 HK$’000 000 HK$’000
TR THERT TR FET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 &}20.01;8 Tl EER
each (Note (i) (Kt a) 10,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000
2023 2022
2023 2022%F
No. of shares No. of shares
B8 E vy 4=
’000 RMB’000 ‘000 RMB’000
TR ARBT T TR AR¥T T
Ordinary shares, issued ERTRBEERR
and fully paid
At 1 January and 31 MW1A1ER12A31H
December 1,000,000 8,607 1,000,000 8,607
()  Authorised share capital () EERA
On 16 June 2020, the Company passed resolutions to 3420?052)3 168 > ZE’D;LEJ b
increase the authorized share capital of the Company i8R %%H#_Z"‘ ’/L}\ﬁ) TE BN
from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares 'gf%?f"%{g (3 555%35513,]0%;33?
of HK$0.01 each to HK$100,000,000 divided into %5 R E 50.0178 7 #Y B 7))
10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each 5 102100,000,0007%8 7 (2
’ ’ ’ ’ ’ £10,000,000,0008% &= IR E &

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(i)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands.

Other reserve
The balances of other reserve at 31 December 2023

and 2022 represent the capital reserve of Canggang
Company and Puji Global.

REBEBRARAR o

(d)
()

(ii)

0.01 B TR D)

WHEER AR
R GEE

RO EERNEASHERSE
NEEFE22F (1961F 5E355 5%
5l BIERERIER]) EE

JID.EO

Aol

A2023F 22022512431 AW E
B ERIE R B AR R ER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

170 Canggang Railway Limited e

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and
regulations, the Company’s subsidiaries established
and operated in Mainland China are required to
transfer 10% of their net profit to the statutory
reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of
the respective registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before distributions to
equity holders. This reserve can be utilized in setting
off accumulated losses or increase capital of the
subsidiaries and is non-distributable other than in
liquidation.

Safety production fund reserve

The Group is engaged in freight transportation
business. In accordance with the regulations issued
by Ministry of Finance and State Administration of
Work Safety of the PRC, the Group is required to
establish a special reserve namely safety production
fund reserve, which is calculated at 1% of the regular
freight transportation revenue and 1.5% of the
dangerous goods freight transportation revenue of the
previous year.

The safety production fund reserve is mainly used for
the acquisitions and maintenance of safety equipment
and facilities. For the purpose of financial statements,
such reserve is established through an appropriation
from retained earnings based on the aforementioned
method and is utilized when the related expenditures
are incurred.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
difference arising from the translation of the financial
statements of the companies comprising the Group
into the Group’s presentation currency. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies
set out in Note 2(t).

Annual Report 2023

(d) REHEERAR (E)

(ifi)

(iv)

v)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(e) Capital management

(f)

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Share award scheme

A share award scheme was adopted by the Company on
28 September 2022 (“the Share Award Scheme”). The
objective of the Share Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contributions of the eligible participants to
align the interests of the eligible participants with those of
the Company and strive for the future development and
expansion of the Group and to attract suitable personnel
for further development of the Group through the Share
Award Scheme to the selected participants.

The awarded shares will be subscribed for and/or
purchased by an independent trustee (“the Trustee”) from
the open market by utilising the funds to be allocated by
the directors and/or authorised person of the Company
out of the Company’s resources. The maximum number of
awarded shares to be subscribed for and/or purchased by
the Trustee for the purpose of the Share Award Scheme
shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued share
capital from time to time.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing from 28 September 2022
or may be terminated earlier as determined by the Board of
Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Trustee
has purchased 15,252,000 shares (2022: 22,800,000) of
the Company on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, with an
aggregate amount of approximately RMB44,626,000 (2022:
RMB49,916,000). No shares were granted to any person
under the share award scheme as at 31 December 2023.

(e)

(f)

REBEBRARAR o

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

EXEE

FEBEREANIEZERR/RESR
SEBEKEEBNED  FHAE
BEE R KRR H E B R REKF—
BN BEERAMEHME  LEES
BRBR R [ R R H A 54D & o

AEEEBRERRREREER
BB LERSKRRE® (TEHRE
e EENKF) BEBRNERMR R
TRONESREREZEREGVE - 1
R R A AR MY L B B AR B AR

B

AR B HE A E L DB EZEM
SNERFE BV E AR ERR o

f 10 8% By =1 &

RRATEMR2022F9 28 H AR 17
ZEErE (TR ERETE ] - BipiE
B EER TN HBEERSEHE
EHER > BRORESHEERMR
PMEREE > KEEKSHEHENRZ
HANRBRZAE > EMANEEFR
EEPRRBERERER  XKSIEE
ATSHEHEAEENE-—FBRE -

BUZEATZEADFAEQF
EEKk /IABRBEALEEARRER
FOBRNES  ROBHSRBR,
HEERBRG - B ERE A
= ERATRBR RBENRS
REROBETSEBTHERHTR
REHN10% °

R0 i€ B s &% B 202259828 #8
HTEHEBERREN  ETHRES
SRERELL -

B ZE2023F 128318 L FE » 5T
ABESE B FTE 15,252,000
BRARA TR (20224 : 22,800,000
BR) - BEEHNE ARY44,626,000
gt (2022%F : A K #49,916,000
Jt) ° A2023%F 128310 » T EIRIE
BRPEBHEREAMALETRG -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(f)

Share award scheme (continued)

The consideration paid for the purchase of the Company’s
shares is reflected as a debit in share held for share
award scheme of the Company. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant
of shares is recognised as staff costs in profit or loss
with a corresponding increase in capital reserve, which
is measured based on the grant date share price of the
Company.

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a)

172 Canggang Railway Limited e

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and bills
receivable is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned
by the management of the Group, for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate
and therefore significant concentrations of credit risk
primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting period,
5% (2022: 7%) of the total trade receivables was due from
the Group’s largest customer and 20% (2022: 20%) of
the total trade receivables was due from the five largest
customers.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(@) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within 30
days from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

(a) FERMR(H)

BEZREWNE (&)

FEBSUMEERBB-—ESHE
EmEFPETEBEEE - 2SS
HERREFBEXMNEIHRIENRT
BRBENNRED  YEREFR
HEEFEERMERNEEREARN
BEER - BEZRUGRERBREAH
EETB0ORAEH - REE—-RTEE
F W BUE 4R fm o

FEBREEERE2PRABEEHEN
SHABESRENERSNEER
BEHE - ARSI ABEREERT
BESH  HARAEEBEEEBIEL
BRI EBERTEAEF D MHBEERN
BEAREZR  FRAREBEHMRRET
EEARBRIEEARETEEF
HeBrFE-—SED -
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(@) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables at

(a) FERR(H)

BEZREWIE (&)

THREHBEAKERSHRESNRKE
HWEERRKE S REFERBRIE

the end of each reporting period: EFBENER:
2023
2023F
Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
BHEEE BEREE EBRES
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR®T AR%BTR
Current and less than 6 months ME R AT E6MEA

past due 0.48% 44,123 (211)
6 - 12 months past due BH6ZE 1218 B 7.72% 3,666 (283)
Over 12 months past due mEpRE12MEA 48.29% - 100.00% 3,465 (3,390)
51,254 (3,884)

2022

20225
Gross carrying Loss
Expected loss rate amount allowance
RHEEE BERHEE BERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARBTF T AR®T
Current and less than 6 months BE R AT 268 A

past due 1.27% 50,360 (641)
6 - 12 months past due A6 E 1218 A 18.88% 480 (91)
Over 12 months past due mEEE12MEA 28.14% - 100.00% 3,365 (2,860)
54,205 (3,592)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the year
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions

over the expected lives of the receivables.
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(a)

(b)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of
trade receivables are as follows:

(a)

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BrZ BEBI  UARKEST)

FERR (&)
EBEZREWNIE (&)

B RUGREEBRERERNED
mE

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT

At the beginning of the year REHA 3,592 3,864
Impairment loss recognised/(reversed) F AR,/ (@)K

during the year WEEE 292 (272)
At the end of the year RER 3,884 3,592
Liquidity risk (b) REE SRR

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of each reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the respective
reporting period) and the earliest dates the Group can be
required to pay:

FEBNBRRAEHERRDESE
REBFRHERZHNER - LEER
EEERTHNRESREREEIES
BMBIEEARAHERERE  UE
FHEPRRPRBESER -

TRERAEEFRITESHEENS
BERROREBSOHAMRR - T3
REBECTHRBBRRESRE (BER
R AR R E RS - Sfief LUF
B8 ARZFMEEREHRNED
MERHE) RAEEAX I REN &K
FHHEE
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

24 cRiEREEREMIA

D E (F)

(b) REEZER (&)

2023
2023F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHRERA LR
More than
Within1 More than1 2 years but
year or on year but less less than Carrying
demand than 2 years 5 years Total amount
—%R BE-F BBmEF
FREX  EORWE  BIREF @t RAEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTR AR%TR ARMTR AR%T:x
Bank and other loans BAIREMER 222,137 141,121 176,809 540,067 492,756
Trade payables measured at amortized ~ EEHHR A BH
cost ESEMATE 19,498 - - 19,498 19,498
Other payables measured at amortized A A EN
cost HitEARE 23,903 - - 23,903 23,903
265,538 141,121 176,809 583,468 536,157
2022
20226
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHAERRASR
More than
Morethan1 2 years but
Within 1 year  year but less less than Carrying
oron demand  than 2 years 5 years Total amount
—ER BE-F BEmE
FRER  EORWE  BIRDE At REE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARETR ARETT ARETx
Bank and other loans RITREMER 200,866 152,639 145,736 499,241 457,412
Trade payables measured at amortized  RESER AR
cost ESEMATE 27,589 - - 27,589 27,589
Other payables measured at amortized B #HHAEHN
cost Hit (T RIE 29,158 - - 29,158 29,158
257,613 152,639 145,736 555,988 514,159
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(c)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-
bearing borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates
and at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk, respectively.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(c) FEREMR

(BrZ BEBI  UARKEST)

AREBGFEEREBRET S ME
%o WETHAEREENERRNOM
RSALEDEH RS REREE
BRATERZRR -

() FIFEHE

TRIFAEEREHREHRD

the Group’s borrowings at the end of each reporting ERFREEFHE
period:
2023 2022
20235 20225
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
ECHIES BRAI=
% RMB’000 % RMB’000
% AR¥T R % ARETR
Fixed rate borrowings EEREER
Bank loans RITER 3.0% - 5.5% 430,597  5.0% - 5.50% 380,590
Other loans HtEX 4.0% - 4.75% 62,159  4.0% - 4.75% 75,235
492,756 455,825
Variable rate borrowings FHREER
Other loans HitER - - 5.29% 1,587
Total borrowings EEEE 492,756 457,412
Fixed rate borrowings as a B EFE M
percentage of total borrowings R Az
Bl 100% 99%

(i)  Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would
have decreased/increased the Group’s profit after tax
and retained profits by approximately RMB Nil (2022:

RMB12,000).

The sensitivity analyses above indicate the Group’s
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate non-derivative instruments held by
the Group at 31 December 2023. The impact on
the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) is
estimated as an impact on interest expense or income
of such a change in interest rates. The analysis is

performed on the same basis for 2022.

(ii)  BURE 7 HT

i SRESTBERNEERE
FA2023FE 124318 FrisF 8 3
FTETEMELENRESREANR
EkE o  BAEEBRREEF (K
REHER)
EERHANERALTRNMA N EME
it o b AT R BR2022F HE &

FA2023F12A318 » IR F =R
%ﬁ%tﬂ-/?ﬁ%moﬂﬁgiﬁﬁﬁi
BB A E BB RFIR AR
BRARD IO ARBES T
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(d) Currency risk

(d)

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
receivables, payables and cash balances that are
denominated in a foreign currency, a currency other than
the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily HKS.

The Group ensures that the net exposure is kept to an
acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign currencies
at spot rates where necessary to address short-term
imbalances.

(i)  Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB,

EXRER

AEEFEHSNEEREREERA N
S (BNERZHEEEBNEER
ASNE ) SHE R W EIE ~ B
RERREER - SIBULERARNE
WEERBIT-

REERREB N L 2L BIHIE R
BEAREHIINSUBREHREE
W fem SRR R TR A EZ AKX

7 o

(i)  FRS Y E R

TREIARERIREAARE
HERLEEERNEEEUINE
WHENCHIAEESEEM
EENEREAR - H2HE M
= THERERNEEUIRFS
ANEHERRENARES

translated using the spot rate at the year end date. R~ °
Exposure to foreign
currencies
(expressed in RMB)
SN [ B
(MARMESIR)
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT ARBETT
Cash and cash equivalents BeNESEEER 5,473 6,661
Prepayment and other receivables FEATFRIE R H 0 FE R IE 8 22
Other payables Hith I 5018 (2,380) (1,738)
Exposure arising from recognised BEeRRAEERERE
assets and liabilities EE R 3,101 4,945

178 Canggang Railway Limited e Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(d) Currency risk (continued)

(i)  Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained
profits) that would arise if foreign exchange rates to
which the Group has significant exposure at the end
of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

(d) E%WEE (&)
(i) BHERE DT

TREREBERREREN (R
REER) EAEERREHR
AZEXERIERNZARE
B (BRRAA A EERE
EEFTE)NBERTUEHER
BVBNBS 2 o

2023 2022

2023%F 2022%F
Increase/ Increase/
Increase/  (decrease) in Increase/ (decrease) in
(decrease) profit after tax (decrease)  profit after tax
in foreign and retained in foreign and retained
exchange rates profits  exchange rates profits
BB & ER BRB R
Ext#/ RRBET EXtH/ RERE&H
(FB) &/ (8) (TEB&) B/ (fD)
% RMB’000 % RMB’000
% ARBTR % AR¥TFR
HK$ BT 5% 155 5% 247
(5%) (155) (5%) (247)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ profit after tax and
retained profits measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to remeasure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the
end of the reporting period, including inter-company
payables and receivables within the Group which are
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the lender or the borrower. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2022.

(e) Fair value measurement

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortized cost are not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2022 and
2023.

EREFNDMERRERAEE
EEREZAYEERTENER
B 1808 R 2 4R B8 3 K 49 & 7T BN
FE URZIENMRBED
RWEHERBEDARYE -

BEE S FBRRBEBROIR
ALZEES DB RAEN
PR A SR EE A M,
BUSBIE SEEENA
A LB 77 o {2 75 T B B LA
5 0 £ 3O R FE MU
9 # 1 5220207 5 B i
5 o

(e) AFEFE
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

Capital commitments outstanding at the end of each reporting
period not provided for in the financial statements were as
follows:

REIREBAR & R AE RN E
SHRBEHNEARRENT

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTT

Commitments in respect of property, BB - MERZE
plant and equipment: HYHRIE -
- Contracted for —-B2FH

2,082 3,751

The material related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year and the balances with related parties at
the end of each reporting period are set out below.

(a) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
as disclosed in Note 8 and certain of the highest paid
employees as disclosed in Note 9, is as follows:

FEBRFRNTUNERBEL RS RR
BEREHRBEAES 2B AR5 0
—[: o

(@ FEEBASEHMH

AEBTIEEBASNHFMH (BFES
AR BESZH KA (WM TR
BIrENETHRSHFHESNTE
(NP EQFTIRER) ) T -

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®F ARBTT

Short-term employee benefits EHEEREA

808 656

Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” (see Note
6(b)).
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B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZHZHI  UAREST)

26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 26 EXBAEIRZ NG (E)
TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties during the year (b) FREBEEFETHRS
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARETT

Short-term lease charges EHREWE
Cangzhou Chengyu Railway Company AN %%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
Limited (“Chengyu Company”) AR ([EFAF]) 10 10
(c) Balances with related parties (c) BEEAER MR
The Group’s balances with related parties at the end of AEBRSRELRERFES 2B
each reporting period are as follows: EERIT
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT
Payables for short-term leases EHHERENRIE
- Chengyu Company —BF AT 3 4
(d) Other related party transactions (d HMBEEFRS
On 12 August 2019, Chengyu Company has granted the 201958812 » B A REAEH
Group a gratuitous right to use its leasehold land for BHEEEANLFERAEHE T &L
operating the Group’s railway and rail yards for a period of NEBEWNEKREERFSELE » 5820
20 years. No rental was charged during the year ended 31 F o REE2022%F K2023F12A31H
December 2022 and 2023. tEETREEEMES -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

B E ARBTT ARBTT

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries* KRB A BMRE" 13 - -
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables FEARIEREM
FE U FRIE 8 22
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE UL B A B R IE 936 51,822
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBE£EEEHR 12,022 6,410
12,966 58,254
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAS MY B 2 BIFRIE 6,361 5,865
Other payables Hth B FRIB 2,755 2,152
9,116 8,017
Netcurrentassets =~~~ hw#@#zE®&E = 380 50,237
NET ASSETS BEFE 3,850 50,237
Capital and reserves EXRRFHE 24
Share capital [N 8,607 8,607
Reserves e (4,757) 41,630
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 3,850 50,237
* Amounts less than RMB1,000 * ST E ARY1,000T
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on MR2024F3A2THRESEMERTET
27 March 2024. B o
Liu Yongliang Yi Weiming
B K= R 4B
Chairman Director
EEETE EE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Dividends
After the end of the reporting period the directors
proposed a final dividend. Further details are disclosed in
note 23(b).

The directors of the Company consider the immediate parent
and the ultimate controlling party of the Company at 31
December 2023 to be Jinghai Group Investment Limited
(“Jinghai Group”) and Mr. Liu, respectively. Jinghai Group does
not produce financial statements available for public use.

Up to the date of issue of the financial statements, the IASB
has issued a number of amendments, new standards and
interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2023 and which have not been adopted in these
consolidated financial statements.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

IR 2

EENHENERREBRBERGR
B o S HBRIEE23(b) F I E o

(a)

RKANBESZABN2023F12831H A
AEHEERQARARBRKRERS DR ATE
SEREAERLAT(REEE]) REE
o UBEEWRFERBARF AN K
S EL

BEUHBRERTIZERE  BRSsERLE
ESCEMZENE E2023F12A831H
LEFEMAER BT ERGEHMBHRERE
MEVEET ~ T EB KRR -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RELCH B 2 KB %

wETtHEER

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants — Amendments to IAS 1 1 January 2024
MERF R FEREB B E — EIREF2ERIE 19 AIIEET 2024%1A1H
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current — Amendments to IAS 1 1 January 2024
DEEERRBEIFERE — ERETERE1HEAIIEET 2024F181H
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback — Amendments to IFRS 16 1 January 2024
EREIHMHEEE — BRI 5 &R E 169 #9155 2024%1A1H
Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 1 January 2024
HREFHEZH — BB S5 2ERE 75 R EI B 73 & 2E R 75 1S ET 2024%F1A1H
Lack of exchangeability — Amendments to IAS 21 1 January 2025
RZ RN — ERE T ERIE21 KIS 2025%F181H
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of AEBIEEFTGHZEMEET - FEIEARR
what the impact of these amendments, new standards and *EFQEL?E;@?E;ELE?E%HH i%f%;iﬁiug;%
interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial LY JL Z=12E ~ HE a2
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of these *% FRAREE GRS M HRRIENEAY
amendments, new standards and interpretations are unlikely = °
to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EEYERE

For the year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

20234 20225 202145 20204 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARET ARETRT ARETT AR®TR

Revenue Uk &= 349,048 333,430 355,990 361,474 376,904

Operating profit LSRR 109,546 116,384 128,079 116,815 119,088

Profit before taxation R F54 A & F 84,678 91,132 104,769 89,729 94,251

Income tax expense FriSHiE < (26,112) (23,209) (27,011) (25,174) (24,755)
Profit and total FERANKREME

comprehensive W5
income for the year 58,566 67,923 77,758 64,555 69,496
As at 31 December
M12831H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

2023%F 20224 20215 20205 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREBTRT ARYTR ARBTRT AR®TT

Total assets BEE 1,325,983 1,318,965 1,281,912 1,318,926 1,195,892

Total liabilities wmaes 550,902 530,384 477,479 549,338 675,907

Total equity R 775,081 788,617 804,433 769,588 579,985

1. The results and assets and liabilities of the Group for 2018 are 1.

extracted from the Company’s Prospectus.

2. The summary above does not form part of the audited 2.
consolidated financial statements.
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